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STRATEGIC REPORT

6XUSOXV�JHQHUDWLRQ�LQFUHDVHG�E\������PLOOLRQ�WR������PLOOLRQ��������QHJDWLYH������PLOOLRQ��������EHQH¿WHG�IURP�WKH�
H[SHFWHG�UHOHDVH�RI�FDVK�IURP�WKH�LQ�IRUFH�ERRN�DQG�GHOLYHU\�RI�PDQDJHPHQW�DFWLRQV��7KH�H[SHFWHG�EHQH¿WV�IURP�
completing the Legal & General migration have been deferred to 2020 and ReAssure chose to self-fund the 
acquisition of Quilter plc’s UK Heritage Life & Pensions business. Adjusting for these two items, surplus generation 
would have exceeded our £450-550 million Listing Particulars guidance range.

The Solvency II Surplus on a shareholder basis increased by £0.4 billion to £1.6 billion at end 2019 (2018: £1.2 
billion) and the Solvency II Ratio on a shareholder basis was 155% at end 2019 compared to 145% at end 2018 
driven by the strong surplus generation.

Clear progress was made in 2019 in delivering our management actions to de-risk the Solvency II balance sheet and 
enhance value. We reduced our shareholder exposure to BBB bonds by 6 percentage points to 26% (2018: 32%) and 
increased private debt assets by £0.4 billion to £1.6 billion (2018: £1.2 billion). Private debt assets now account for 
9% of the shareholder asset portfolio at end 2019 compared to 7% at end 2018. We also increased our exposure to 
non-GBP denominated assets and expanded our equity and interest rate hedging programmes. This has resulted in 
a balance sheet which is relatively insensitive to market volatility and the market dislocation at the beginning of 2020 
had minimal impact on our capital position. 

,Q�OLQH�ZLWK�WKH�8.�LQVXUDQFH�LQGXVWU\��5H$VVXUH�XVHV�DQ�LQWHUQDO�PHWULF��RSHUDWLQJ�SUR¿W��WR�HYDOXDWH�WKH�SHUIRUPDQFH�
RI�WKH�*URXS�RQ�D�VHJPHQWDO�EDVLV��2SHUDWLQJ�SUR¿W�LV�D�QRQ�*$$3�PHDVXUH�RI�SHUIRUPDQFH��LQWHQGHG�WR�SURYLGH�
VWDNHKROGHUV�ZLWK�DQ�DSSURSULDWH�DVVHVVPHQW�RI�FRUH�ORQJ�WHUP�SHUIRUPDQFH��XQDႇHFWHG�E\�VKRUW�WHUP�HFRQRPLF�
YRODWLOLW\�DQG�RQH�Rႇ�LPSDFWV�WKDW�DFW�WR�GLVWRUW�WKH�XQGHUO\LQJ�SHUIRUPDQFH�RI�WKH�*URXS��2SHUDWLQJ�SUR¿W�IRU�WKH�\HDU�
HQGHG����'HFHPEHU������LQFUHDVHG�VLJQL¿FDQWO\�E\������PLOOLRQ�WR������PLOOLRQ�������������PLOOLRQ��GXH�WR�D�
decrease in annuity liabilities as a result of updated longevity assumptions coupled with management actions taken to 
improve the strategic asset allocation resulting in an increase in yields.

7KH�'LUHFWRUV�SUHVHQW�WKHLU�$QQXDO�5HSRUW�DQG�WKH�DXGLWHG�FRQVROLGDWHG�DQG�&RPSDQ\�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�IRU�
5H$VVXUH�*URXS�SOF��UHJLVWHUHG�QXPEHU�����������³5H$VVXUH´�RU�WKH�³*URXS´���7KH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DUH�
presented for the year ended 31 December 2019. Comparative information has been presented for the year ended 31 
December 2018.

5H$VVXUH�UHFRUGHG�D�VWURQJ�SHUIRUPDQFH�LQ������GHOLYHUHG�DJDLQVW�D�EDFNGURS�RI�VLJQL¿FDQW�FKDQJH��ZKLOVW�
maintaining great customer outcomes. Strategic growth was achieved through the acquisition of Quilter plc’s UK 
Heritage Life & Pensions business and work continued to integrate the Legal & General Group Plc mature savings 
EXVLQHVV��6LJQL¿FDQW�HႇRUW�ZHQW�LQWR�RXU�XQVXFFHVVIXO�,32�DQG�LQ�'HFHPEHU�DJUHHPHQW�ZDV�UHDFKHG�WR�VHOO�WKH�*URXS�
to our competitor, Phoenix Group Holdings plc. 

None of this would have been possible without our committed employees who have worked tirelessly to achieve so 
much in such a short period of time, whilst keeping our customers at the heart of the business. We thank all the 
ReAssure team for their continued energy and support.

BUSINESS REVIEW
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,)56�SUR¿W�EHIRUH�WD[�LV�D�*$$3�PHDVXUH�RI�SHUIRUPDQFH��)RU�WKH�\HDU�HQGHG����'HFHPEHU�������WKH�*URXS�
LQFUHDVHG�,)56�SUR¿W�EHIRUH�WD[�E\������PLOOLRQ�WR������PLOOLRQ�������������PLOOLRQ���7KLV�ZDV�SULPDULO\�GXH�WR�WKH�
LQFUHDVH�LQ�RSHUDWLQJ�SUR¿W�FRXSOHG�ZLWK�IDYRXUDEOH�HFRQRPLF�H[SHULHQFH�GXULQJ�������

In March 2019, the Continuous Mortality Investigation (“CMI”) Bureau released an updated model for future longevity 
improvements (“CMI 2018”). This new model implied a reduction in life expectancies relative to the previous version 
(“CMI 2017”) which was used by ReAssure for 2018 year-end reporting. In assessing the appropriateness of adopting 
CMI 2018, we also considered more recent developments in England and Wales population experience. This 
LQGLFDWHG�WKDW�PRUWDOLW\�LPSURYHG�VLJQL¿FDQWO\�LQ�WKH�ODWWHU�SDUW�RI������WKURXJK�LQWR�������&RQVHTXHQWO\��WKH�UHGXFWLRQ�
in life expectancy indicated by CMI 2018 may be, at least partially, reversed in the next model update. Accordingly, we 
have retained CMI 2017 for 2019 year-end reporting. 

Customers are integral to the success of ReAssure. Continued investment in training and system enhancements to 
improve customer journeys resulted in our customer satisfaction score improving by 5 percentage points to 91% in 
�����������������XQGHUOLQLQJ�RXU�VWURQJ�FOLHQW�IRFXV�DQG�DJDLQVW�D�EDFNGURS�RI�VLJQL¿FDQW�FRUSRUDWH�FKDQJH�DQG�
strategic growth. 

Customer satisfaction is central to the retention of ReAssure’s 3.2 million policies (2018: 3.3 million) and £52 billion of 
Assets under Administration (2018: £40 billion). Following the planned completion of the Legal & General mature 
savings integration expected in 2020, we look forward to serving a total of 4.1 million customers and administering 
their £81 billion of assets.

ACQUISITION OF LEGAL & GENERAL GROUP PLC MATURE SAVINGS 
BUSINESS

On 6 December 2017, ReAssure agreed to acquire the mature savings business of Legal & General Group Plc. This 
comprised 1.1 million policies and £33 billion of Assets under Administration for a consideration of £650 million. The 
acquisition was structured initially as a Risk Transfer Agreement (“RTA”) whereby all the risks and rewards associated 
with the business transfers to ReAssure. This RTA was fully operational throughout 2018 and 2019 and the business 
is expected to fully transfer to ReAssure by way of a Part VII in 2020. This is expected to crystallise a capital 
V\QHUJ\�EHQH¿W�RI�F����SHUFHQWDJH�SRLQWV�RQ�WKH�VROYHQF\�,,�UDWLR��$OO�SROLFLHV�ZLOO�VLPXOWDQHRXVO\�PLJUDWH�WR�RXU�
proprietary operating platform (ALPHA).

The delay in the Part VII transfer ensures a smooth customer transition and takes a more cautious approach to the 
approval process.

ACQUISITION OF QUILTER PLC’S UK HERITAGE LIFE & PENSIONS
BUSINESS

On 5 August 2019, ReAssure agreed with Quilter plc to acquire their UK Heritage Life & Pensions closed book of unit 
linked pensions, investment and savings and protection policies for a total cash consideration of £425 million. The 
underlying entities acquired were Old Mutual Wealth Life Assurance Limited and its subsidiary Old Mutual Wealth 
Pensions Trustees Limited (collectively referred to as “Old Mutual Wealth”) and is consolidated using the acquisition 
PHWKRG�DV�GHWDLOHG�LQ�QRWH�����RI�WKH�QRWHV�WR�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��7KH�WUDQVDFWLRQ�FRPSOHWHG�RQ����'HFHPEHU�
2019. We expect to achieve synergies of £200 million from the transaction largely as a result of cost and capital 
HႈFLHQFLHV�DQG�H[SHFW�WR�JHQHUDWH�VXUSOXV�JHQHUDWLRQ�RI�PRUH�WKDQ������PLOOLRQ��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�V\QHUJLHV���7KH�
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transaction was funded from existing ReAssure cash resources and generates attractive returns with an expected IRR 
of over 11%, and an expected payback period of 4 years.

The transaction will result in c. 200,000 UK policies transferring onto our proprietary platform, ALPHA, and add 
£10 billion to our Assets under Administration. Approximately 300 employees of Old Mutual Wealth Life Assurance 
Limited and Old Mutual Wealth Pensions Trustees Limited have transferred to ReAssure. Included in the transaction 
are c.10,000 policies in Sweden, Norway and Germany which will be administered through our Irish operations, paving 
the way for future integration of European businesses.

OTHER CORPORATE ACTIVITY

On 9 May 2019, Fitch assigned ReAssure Limited a ‘A+’ (Strong) Insurer Financial Strength rating with a stable 
RXWORRN��7KLV�UDWLQJ�ZDV�DႈUPHG�RQ���$XJXVW������IROORZLQJ�WKH�DQQRXQFHPHQW�WR�DFTXLUH�WKH�8.�+HULWDJH�/LIH�	�
Pensions business from Quilter plc and the outlook was strengthened to ‘Positive’ on 9 December 2019 following the 
agreement between Swiss Re and Phoenix Group Holdings Plc to sell the business.

On 13 June 2019, ReAssure Group plc issued £500m Tier 2 ten-year subordinated notes, £250m Fixed Rate Reset 
&DOODEOH�7LHU���WHQ�\HDU�VXERUGLQDWHG�QRWHV��¿UVW�RSWLRQDO�FDOO�GDWH�LQ�\HDU�¿YH��DQG�����P�7LHU���VHYHQ�\HDU�
subordinated notes.

On 19 June 2019, ReAssure completed a reorganisation of the business such that the Group now operates its 
day to day business separately from the Swiss Re Group as a standalone business with its own board of directors and 
management.

In July 2019, Swiss Re, the Group’s ultimate holding company, announced the suspension of a proposed Initial Public 
2ႇHULQJ��,32��RI�5H$VVXUH�GXH�WR�WKH�KHLJKWHQHG�FDXWLRQ�DQG�ZHDNHU�XQGHUO\LQJ�GHPDQG�LQ�WKH�8.�SULPDU\�PDUNHW�
from large institutional investors. 

On 6 December 2019, Swiss Re announced that it had reached agreement with Phoenix Group Holdings Plc 
(“Phoenix”) to sell ReAssure Group plc for £3.25 billion. The transaction was approved by the shareholders of 
Phoenix on 13 February 2020. The transaction is subject to regulatory and anti-trust authority approval and is 
expected to complete in mid-2020. 

The acquisition by Phoenix is a validation of our strategy, provides clarity on our future and highlights that ReAssure is 
a major player in the UK closed book life insurance market. It is proposed that Phoenix will retain the ALPHA platform 
and ReAssure brand as they set out the strategy for the future of the combined businesses. The new group will serve 
14.1 million policies and have £329 billion of Assets under Administration. Combining ReAssure and Phoenix, and the 
expertise of both companies, will create a business that is committed to great customer service, adds value to 
shareholders and is well positioned for future growth.

STRATEGY AND OUTLOOK

5H$VVXUH�RSHUDWHV�LQ�WKH�8.�/LIH�,QVXUDQFH�PDUNHW�ZKLFK�WKH�$VVRFLDWLRQ�RI�%ULWLVK�,QVXUHUV�KDV�LGHQWL¿HG�DV�WKH�
largest such market in Europe. ReAssure acquires individual closed books of in-force long term life, pensions and 
health business, either through reinsurance or by the purchase of an entire life insurance company and the 
subsequent transfer of its business to the Group under Part VII of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000. We 
administer the policies until they reach maturity, are surrendered, or an insured event occurs. The principal products 
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administered are long term life and pensions, permanent health and critical illness insurance and retirement annuities. 
5H$VVXUH�LV�SDUW�RI�WKH�6ZLVV�5H�*URXS��D�ZRUOGZLGH�UHLQVXUDQFH�DQG�¿QDQFLDO�VHUYLFHV�SURYLGHU�

As part of the service to our existing customers, we continue to write limited amounts of new business, principally 
responding to requests for simple drawdown products or pension annuities on retirement of existing policyholders or 
top-ups to existing contracts. 

ReAssure aims to optimise the allocation of capital across our business whilst maintaining control over costs. We 
UHWDLQ�EXVLQHVV�DQG�PDQDJH�SROLF\KROGHU�H[SHFWDWLRQV�E\�EXLOGLQJ�ÀH[LEOH�V\VWHPV�DUFKLWHFWXUH�WR�GHOLYHU�H[FHOOHQW�
policy administration, using experienced investment managers to deliver consistently competitive returns, and using a 
comprehensive risk mitigation framework to managing risks.

Our areas of strategic focus for 2020 are to:

• (QKDQFH�RXU�FXVWRPHU�VHUYLFH�RႇHULQJ�
• Migrate the c.1 million policies from Legal & General Group Plc’s mature savings business onto our proprietary 

$/3+$�SODWIRUP�DQG�LQWHJUDWH�HPSOR\HHV�
• ,QWHJUDWH�4XLOWHU�SOF¶V�8.�+HULWDJH�/LIH�	�3HQVLRQV�SROLFLHV�DQG�HPSOR\HHV�
• 3URJUHVV�ZLWK�RXU�SODQQHG�PDQDJHPHQW�DFWLRQV�WR�LQFUHDVH�VXUSOXV�JHQHUDWLRQ��DQG
• &RQWLQXH�WR�IRFXV�RQ�LPSURYLQJ�RSHUDWLQJ�HႈFLHQFLHV�DQG�FRVW�PDQDJHPHQW�DFURVV�WKH�EXVLQHVV�

We are focusing on delivering our business plan and strategic priorities, to best position a combined ReAssure and 
Phoenix business to add value to shareholders and customers alike. The sale to Phoenix is expected to complete in 
mid-2020 and parts of the strategy may change following completion.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The Board and management have adopted key performance indicators to provide a high-level indication of the 
Group’s aggregate performance. These key performance indicators include the impact of the acquisition of Quilter 
plc’s UK Heritage Life & Pensions book. Policy count and Assets under Administration includes the impact of the 
acquisition of Legal & General Group Plc’s mature savings book on a proforma basis.

1 2 31 2 3

1 2 3

1 2 31 2 3

Key

Assets Under
Administration 

(£ billion)

2017 2018 2019

46 40 42

28
10

29

46

69

81

2017 2018 2019

838

258

406

2017 2018 2019

85
86

91

2017 2018 2019

125

145
155

Surplus Generation
(£ million)

1 2 32017 2018 2019

0.7

1.2

1.6

Solvency II Ratio¹ ²
(%)

¹ On a shareholder capital basis

² 2018 includes the impact of the
recapitalisation

2017 2018

3.5 3.3 3.0

0.2

0.91.03.5

4.3 4.1

2019

2017 2018 2019

1,024

-186

290

Solvency II Surplus¹
(£ billion)

Legal & General Group Plc’s
mature savings business

Quilter plc’s UK Heritage
Life & Pensions Business

ReAssure - 2019

ReAssure - Prior Years

Policy Count
(million)

2SHUDWLQJ�3UR¿W�
(£ million)

Customer Satisfaction
(%)

,

POLICY COUNT

ReAssure acts as an insurer and a third-party administrator of insurance contracts. A key performance indicator that 
we monitor is policy count which is the number of policies held and administered.

On a proforma basis, including the Legal & General Group Plc’s mature savings book, policy count decreased by 0.2 
million to 4.1 million policies (2018: 4.3 million). Excluding Legal & General’s mature savings business, the number of 
policies held and administered decreased by 0.1 million to 3.2 million policies (2018: 3.3 million).

7KH�H[LVWLQJ�EXVLQHVV�LQ�IRUFH�DW�WKH�EHJLQQLQJ�RI������GHFUHDVHG�E\�����PLOOLRQ������UHÀHFWLQJ�WKH�FORVHG�ERRN��
UXQ�Rႇ�QDWXUH�RI�WKH�EXVLQHVV�DQG�DWWULWLRQ�SULPDULO\�IURP�GHDWKV��PDWXULWLHV�DQG�VXUUHQGHUV��7KLV�GHFUHDVH�ZDV�
SDUWLDOO\�RႇVHW�E\�WKH�DFTXLVLWLRQ�RI�4XLOWHU�SOF¶V�8.�+HULWDJH�/LIH�	�3HQVLRQV�ERRN�ZKLFK�UHVXOWHG�LQ�����PLOOLRQ�SROLFLHV�
being added in 2019.
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CUSTOMER SATISFACTION

The customer satisfaction (“CSAT”) score is generated by an external partner sending surveys to customers who have 
recently interacted with us. The score is calculated on a policy count weighted basis across ReAssure, as the 
SHUFHQWDJH�RI�WKRVH�FXVWRPHUV�WKDW�UDWH�WKHLU�H[SHULHQFH�VDWLVIDFWLRQ�OHYHO�DV�µ9HU\�6DWLV¿HG¶�RU�µ6DWLV¿HG¶��&6$7�
ratings are used to guide the business and help achieve our ongoing aspiration to Treat our Customers Fairly and to 
deliver in line with their expectations.

&XVWRPHU�VDWLVIDFWLRQ�LV�LQWHJUDO�WR�WKH�VXFFHVV�RI�RXU�EXVLQHVV�DQG�5H$VVXUH�KDV�FRQWLQXHG�WR�LQYHVW�LQ�VWDႇ�WUDLQLQJ�
WR�HQKDQFH�FRQYHUVDWLRQ�DQG�FDOO�KDQGOLQJ�VNLOOV�IRU�WKH�EHQH¿W�RI�RXU�H[LVWLQJ�FXVWRPHUV��

&XVWRPHU�MRXUQH\V�KDYH�FRQWLQXHG�WR�LPSURYH�YLD�FRQWLQXHG�LQYHVWPHQW�LQ�V\VWHPV�DQG�VLPSOL¿FDWLRQ�RI�SURFHVVHV�
including the roll out of our ReAssure Now customer portal. The result is that our customer satisfaction score improved 
E\���SHUFHQWDJH�SRLQWV�WR�����LQ������������������XQGHUO\LQJ�RXU�VWURQJ�FOLHQW�IRFXV�DQG�UHÀHFWLQJ�RXU�VWUDWHJ\�RI�
keeping the customer at the heart of everything we do.

ReAssure also monitors complaint numbers to ensure that policyholders are receiving a high standard of policy 
administration and so that issues arising can be investigated, and if appropriate, processes and procedures changed 
to ensure that similar complaints do not arise again.

OPERATING PROFIT

5H$VVXUH�XVHV�DQ�LQWHUQDO�PHWULF��RSHUDWLQJ�SUR¿W��WR�HYDOXDWH�WKH�SHUIRUPDQFH�RI�WKH�*URXS��2SHUDWLQJ�SUR¿W�LV�D�
non-GAAP measure of performance, intended to provide an appropriate assessment of core long-term performance, 
XQDႇHFWHG�E\�VKRUW�WHUP�HFRQRPLF�YRODWLOLW\�DQG�RQH�Rႇ�LPSDFWV�WKDW�FDQ�GLVWRUW�WKH�XQGHUO\LQJ�SHUIRUPDQFH�RI�WKH�
Group.

2SHUDWLQJ�SUR¿W�LQFUHDVHG�E\�����WR������PLOOLRQ�LQ�WKH�\HDU�HQGHG����'HFHPEHU������IURP������PLOOLRQ�LQ�������7KH�
increase was mainly driven by the performance of our core in-force book, changes to longevity assumptions reducing 
annuity liabilities and management actions taken in the year to optimise asset allocations to derive better investment 
UHWXUQV��7KLV�ZDV�SDUWLDOO\�RႇVHW�E\�PDQDJHPHQW�DFWLRQV�WR�LQFUHDVH�WKH�FUHGLW�TXDOLW\�RI�WKH�ERQG�SRUWIROLR�E\�UHGXFLQJ�
our exposure to BBB bonds by 6 ppts to 26% (2018:32%).

$�IXOO�UHFRQFLOLDWLRQ�IURP�,)56�SUR¿W�EHIRUH�WD[�WR�RSHUDWLQJ�SUR¿W�FDQ�EH�IRXQG�LQ�QRWH���RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�RQ�
page 80. 

2SHUDWLQJ�SUR¿W�LV�D�NH\�FRPSRQHQW�RI�,)56�SUR¿W�EHIRUH�WD[��,)56�SUR¿W�EHIRUH�WD[�LQFUHDVHG�E\������PLOOLRQ�WR������
PLOOLRQ�������������PLOOLRQ��GXH�WR�WKH�LQFUHDVH�LQ�RSHUDWLQJ�SUR¿W�FRXSOHG�ZLWK�IDYRXUDEOH�HFRQRPLF�H[SHULHQFH�LQ�
2019. 

ASSETS UNDER ADMINISTRATION (AuA)

ReAssure’s AuA represents assets administered by or on behalf of the Group, covering both policyholder fund and 
shareholder assets, as presented in the Group IFRS Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. This measure 
provides a helpful indicator of the scale of the business.

As at 31 December 2019, ReAssure had total AuA of £81 billion on a proforma basis including £29 billion of Legal & 
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General assets (2018: £69 billion including £28 billion of Legal & General assets).  This increase of £12 billion includes 
£10 billion of assets transferred as part of Quilter plc’s UK Heritage Life & Pensions acquisition and favourable market 
PRYHPHQWV�SDUWLDOO\�RႇVHW�E\�GHDWKV��PDWXULWLHV�DQG�VXUUHQGHUV���

Proforma AuA (including the Legal & General Group Plc’s mature savings business) at 31 December 2019 was split 
into £17 billion of shareholder assets and £64 billion of policyholder assets of which £50 billion are unit-linked assets 
DQG�����ELOOLRQ�DUH�DVVHWV�EDFNLQJ�WKH�ZLWK�SUR¿WV�EXVLQHVV�

SURPLUS GENERATION

Surplus generation represents the movement in the Group’s operating companies’ surplus in excess of the required 
FDSLWDO�DQG�EXႇHU�KHOG��7KLV�PHWULF�LV�D�PHDVXUH�RI�WKH�YDOXH�JHQHUDWHG�E\�5H$VVXUH¶V�XQGHUO\LQJ�LQ�IRUFH�ERRN��ZKLFK�
can fund dividend distributions, repay debt or fund capital investments.

6XUSOXV�JHQHUDWLRQ�LQFUHDVHG�E\������PLOOLRQ�WR������PLOOLRQ��������QHJDWLYH������PLOOLRQ��������EHQH¿WHG�IURP�WKH�
H[SHFWHG�UHOHDVH�RI�FDVK�IURP�WKH�LQ�IRUFH�ERRN�DQG�GHOLYHU\�RI�PDQDJHPHQW�DFWLRQV��7KH�H[SHFWHG�EHQH¿WV�IURP�
completing the Legal & General migration have been deferred to 2020 and ReAssure chose to self-fund the 
acquisition of Quilter plc’s UK Heritage Life & Pensions business. Adjusting for these two items, surplus generation 
would have exceeded our £450-550 million Listing Particulars guidance range.

6XUSOXV�JHQHUDWLRQ�RI��������PLOOLRQ�LQ������LQFOXGHG�D�RQH�Rႇ�EHQH¿W�IURP�WKH�5LVN�7UDQVIHU�$JUHHPHQW�HQWHUHG�LQWR�
for the Legal & General mature savings acquisition and favourable changes in longevity assumptions.

SOLVENCY II

The Solvency II coverage ratio (on a shareholder capital basis) is calculated as Own Funds divided by its Solvency 
Capital Requirement (“SCR”) excluding the contribution to the Solvency ll Own Funds and capital requirements of 
WKH�IXOO\�ULQJ�IHQFHG�:LWK�3UR¿W�)XQGV��,W�SUHVHQWV�D�PDUNHW�FRQVLVWHQW�PHWULF�IRU�FDSLWDO�VROYHQF\��GHPRQVWUDWLQJ�WKH�
Group’s ability to maintain a capital position in excess of that required under the Solvency II regime.

The Group’s Solvency II Surplus, on a shareholder capital basis, is calculated as Own Funds minus its SCR. This 
PHWULF�SURYLGHV�5H$VVXUH�ZLWK�VXႈFLHQW�EXႇHU�WR�DEVRUE�DQ\�¿QDQFLDO�VKRFNV�RYHU�DQG�DERYH�WKH�VROYHQF\�UHTXLUHG�
EXႇHU��,W�LV�D�PHDVXUH�RI�WKH�VXUSOXV�KHOG�E\�WKH�*URXS��ZKLFK�FDQ�IXQG�GLYLGHQG�GLVWULEXWLRQV��FDSLWDO�LQYHVWPHQWV�RU�
repay debt.

The Solvency II ratio as at 31 December 2019 increased to 155% from 145% as at 31 December 2018. The 2019 ratio 
is calculated after taking account of the impact of self-funding the Quilter acquisition of 2 ppt. The impact of the Legal 
& General transaction is anticipated to have a c.8 ppt positive impact on the Solvency II ratio when it completes in 
2020.

The Solvency II ratio of 155% at 31 December 2019 is comfortably within the Group’s current Board threshold range 
of 140%-180%. 

Own Funds, on a shareholder basis, as at 31 December 2019 increased to £4.65 billion from £3.94 billion at 31 
December 2018, while the SCR grew to £3.00 billion from £2.72 billion at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 
respectively.  
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Solvency Capital Requirement

Interest rates

Equity

Credit

Migration

Default

Other market

Longevity

Lapse

Operational risk

Other non-market

11%

9%

18%

7%
4%8%

20%

11%

5%
7%

£ billion 2019 2018
Own funds 4.65 3.94
Solvency Capital Requirement 3.00 2.72
Surplus 1.65 1.22

Solvency II ratio 155% 145%

2ZQ�)XQGV�LQFUHDVHG�E\�������PLOOLRQ�WR�������ELOOLRQ��������������ELOOLRQ��UHÀHFWLQJ�IDYRXUDEOH�HFRQRPLF�H[SHULHQFH�
coupled with the acquisition of Quilter plc’s UK Heritage Life & Pensions business. 

The SCR on a shareholder basis increased by £0.28 billion to £3.00 billion (2018: £2.72 billion) primarily due to lower 
interest rates, narrowing credit spreads and higher equity values coupled with the acquisition of Quilter plc’s UK 
+HULWDJH�/LIH�	�3HQVLRQV�EXVLQHVV��7KLV�LQFUHDVH�KDV�EHHQ�SDUWLDOO\�RႇVHW�E\�WKH�UXQ�Rႇ�RI�WKH�EXVLQHVV�DQG�WKH�
implementation of equity hedges.

Solvency II metrics are calculated using the Partial Internal Model, which was approved by the PRA in 2018. The SCR 
LV�DSSURSULDWHO\�GLYHUVL¿HG�E\�ULVN�FDWHJRU\�
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Value Coupon Maturity Rating
Tier 2 (10NC5) £250m 5.766% 2029 BBB
Tier 2 (Bullet) £500m 5.867% 2029 BBB
Tier 3 (Bullet) £250m 4.016% 2026 BBB

DEBT
On 9 May 2019, Fitch assigned ReAssure Limited a ‘A+’ (Strong) Insurer Financial Strength rating with a stable 
outlook. Fitch simultaneously assigned ReAssure Group plc, the parent, an ‘A’ Long-Term Issuer Default Rating (IDR) 
ZLWK�D�VWDEOH�RXWORRN��%RWK�UDWLQJV�ZHUH�DႈUPHG�RQ���$XJXVW������IROORZLQJ�WKH�DQQRXQFHPHQW�WR�DFTXLUH�WKH�8.�
Heritage Life & Pensions business from Quilter plc and the outlook was strengthened to ‘Positive’ on 9 December 
2019 following the announcement that Swiss Re had reached an agreement to sell the Group to Phoenix Group 
Holdings Plc.

On 6 June 2019, the Group agreed terms on a multicurrency revolving credit facility (“RCF”) of £350 million for general 
FRUSRUDWH�DQG�ZRUNLQJ�FDSLWDO�SXUSRVHV��7KH�5&)�IDFLOLW\�FDPH�LQWR�HႇHFW�RQ����$XJXVW������EXW�KDV�QRW�EHHQ�XWLOLVHG�
to date.

On 13 June 2019 ReAssure Group plc issued £500m Tier 2 ten-year subordinated notes, £250m Fixed Rate Reset 
&DOODEOH�7LHU���WHQ�\HDU�VXERUGLQDWHG�QRWHV��¿UVW�RSWLRQDO�FDOO�GDWH�LQ�\HDU�¿YH��DQG�����P�7LHU���VHYHQ�\HDU�
subordinated notes to ReAssure’s intermediate parent company Swiss Re Finance (Jersey) Limited (formerly Swiss 
Re ReAssure Ltd). During Q3 2019 the Group successfully completed the listing, private remarketing and external 
placement of all three tranches of subordinated debt.

A summary of the terms for the subordinated debt are detailed below:

The total amortised cost of the debt at 31 December 2019 (as disclosed on the Group balance sheet) was £975 
million, while the fair value of the debt at 31 December 2019 was £986 million. The fair value of the subordinated debt 
LV�HVWLPDWHG�XVLQJ�D�GLVFRXQWHG�FDVK�ÀRZ�PRGHO�ZKLOH�HVWLPDWHG�IXWXUH�FDVK�ÀRZV�DUH�EDVHG�RQ�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�EHVW�
estimates and the discount rate used is a market-related rate for a similar instrument.

FINANCE COSTS
Finance costs during 2019 amounted to £42 million compared to £7 million in the comparative period.  The increase of 
£35 million is driven by the £1 billion subordinated debt that was issued by ReAssure Group plc on 13 June 2019.  We 
H[SHFW�WKH�¿QDQFH�FRVW�SHU�DQQXP�WR�EH�DSSUR[LPDWHO\�����PLOOLRQ�

LEVERAGE
7KH�*URXS�PRQLWRUV�LWV�)LQDQFLDO�/HYHUDJH�XVLQJ�WKH�)LWFK�5DWLQJV�GH¿QLWLRQ�RI�WKH�/HYHUDJH�5DWLR��ZKLFK�LV�
calculated as total debt divided by the sum of total debt and equity.  Debt used in the calculation represents the IFRS 
FDUU\LQJ�YDOXH�RI�ERUURZLQJV�ZKLOH�HTXLW\�LV�GH¿QHG�DV�VKDUHKROGHU�HTXLW\�DQG�UHVWULFWHG�7LHU���GHEW�

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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17

Shareholder

Unit linked

:LWK�SUR¿WV

17

31

4

£52bn

Asset Portfolio
£ billion

Shareholder

Unit linked

:LWK�SUR¿WV

Proforma basis Asset Portfolio
£ billion

17

50

14

£81bn

Our Fitch leverage ratio at 31 December 2019 was 22%.

7KH�*URXS¶V�OLTXLGLW\�FRYHUDJH�UDWLR��FDOFXODWHG�DV�VRXUFHV�RI�OLTXLGLW\�XQGHU�VWUHVV�RYHU�D�GH¿QHG�IRUZDUG�ORRNLQJ�WLPH�
KRUL]RQ�GLYLGHG�E\�XVHV�RI�OLTXLGLW\�XQGHU�VWUHVV�RYHU�D�GH¿QHG�IRUZDUG�ORRNLQJ�WLPH�KRUL]RQ��UHPDLQHG�LQ�H[FHVV�RI�
the 100% risk appetite throughout 2019.

ASSET PORTFOLIO
 
ReAssure’s asset portfolio of £52 billion comprises £17 billion of shareholder assets and £35 billion of policyholder 
DVVHWV������ELOOLRQ�XQLW�OLQNHG�DQG����ELOOLRQ�ZLWK�SUR¿WV���2Q�D�SURIRUPD�EDVLV��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�/HJDO�	�*HQHUDO�PDWXUH�
savings acquisition) total assets were £81 billion comprising £17 billion of shareholder assets and £64 billion of 
policyholder assets.

The breakdown of the asset portfolio is as follows:
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Credit Rating¹ Sector Geography - Country of risk

1 Based on public and internal ratings

SHAREHOLDER ASSET PORTFOLIO 
The credit quality of the shareholder asset portfolio remains high with 100% of rated bonds being investment grade. 
7KH�SRUWIROLR�LV�DOVR�ZHOO�GLYHUVL¿HG�E\�JHRJUDSK\�DQG�VHFWRU��([SRVXUH�WR�ERQGV�UDWHG�%%%�KDV�GHFUHDVHG�WR�����RI�
the portfolio (2018: 32%), due to a move into higher rated corporate bonds and private debt investments. Of the total 
portfolio only 4% is rated BBB- or below. At end 2019, 4% of the portfolio is non-GBP denominated compared to less 
than 1% in 2018 following management actions to diversify the portfolio. 

During the year, private debt investments increased by £0.4 billion to £1.6 billion (2018: £1.2 billion) primarily through 
new loan origination. The portfolio comprises infrastructure loans of (53%), commercial mortgage loans (34%) and 
local authority loans (13%). Loan origination in 2019 has focused on core UK infrastructure (airports, trains, sea ports 
& utilities), social housing projects and commercial real estate. Environmental, social and governance (ESG) and 
long-term sustainable investing remain central themes in the continued ramp-up of the private debt portfolios. 

ESG considerations are also incorporated into ReAssure’s investment process and the Group utilises its asset scale in 
voting and engagement with companies on ESG matters via its external asset managers, see “Corporate and Social 
Responsibility” below for more information.

An analysis of the £17 billion shareholder exposure to the bond portfolio is below:

31%

9%

34%

26%

65%

5%

17%

13%

20%

34%

11%

5%

9%

4%

3%
3%

7%
2%

1%

AAA

AA

A

BBB

BB or below

Other

UK

EU

USA

Rest of World

Financials

Sovereign

Utilities

Cyclical Services

Non-Cyclical Services

Resources

Agency

Non-Cyclical Consumer Goods

General Industrials

Basic Industries

Other
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BALANCE SHEET
The Group’s investments are tailored to match the nature and term of its liabilities and capital (where the average 
duration of our best estimate liabilities is approximately ten years). ReAssure conducts frequent asset liability 
PDWFKLQJ�H[HUFLVHV�WR�PDQDJH�WKH�SRWHQWLDO�PLVPDWFKHV�LQ�FDVK�ÀRZ�WLPLQJ��GXUDWLRQ�DQG�RWKHU�¿QDQFLDO�
characteristics between assets and liabilities due to market movements and sensitivities. We also employ a range of 
hedging strategies to manage such market risk exposures. See the “Risk Management” section on page 16. The use 
of derivative instruments in furtherance of our hedging strategies is conducted by external parties upon instruction 
by ReAssure’s asset management team. Our investment guidelines and strategic asset allocation are reviewed and 
FRQ¿UPHG�DW�OHDVW�DQQXDOO\�E\�WKH�,QYHVWPHQW�&RPPLWWHHV��
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NON-FINANCIAL INFORMATION
5H$VVXUH�FRQVLGHUV�QRQ�¿QDQFLDO�LQIRUPDWLRQ�LQ�DGGLWLRQ�WR�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�LQIRUPDWLRQ�GHVFULEHG�DERYH��)XUWKHU�
information in respect of social and environmental matters can be found below, information in respect of 
customers on page 23 and in respect of employees on page 24. More information can be also be found in the section 
172 statement on pages 21-26. 

CORPORATE AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
ReAssure recognises that we have a responsibility to ensure that our business is conducted in a socially responsible 
manner, resulting in a high standard of social and environmental behaviour. 

SOCIAL 
We have a long-standing commitment to corporate responsibility and comply with the United Nations Guiding 
Principles on Business and Human Rights. ReAssure is committed to the creation of a diverse and inclusive 
workplace and has pledged support to the ‘Women in Finance’ charter policy to embrace diverse views and 
perspectives on a Board and board committee level. Although the Group is still working to redress the gender pay 
gap, the percentage of female senior management was 33% in 2019 (2018: 30%) compared to a goal of 36% by 2020 
DQG�����E\�������,Q�DGGLWLRQ��5H$VVXUH�VXSSRUWV�ÀH[LEOH�ZRUNLQJ�DUUDQJHPHQWV�DQG�RXU�JHQGHU�SD\�JDS�DW�����LQ�
�����LV�EHORZ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VHUYLFHV�VHFWRU�DYHUDJH��:H�HPSKDVLVH�D�FXOWXUH�RI�EHLQJ�LQYROYHG�LQ�FKDULW\�DQG�JLYLQJ�
back and a focus on health and wellbeing. We have partnered with Age UK since 2017 and our employees are given 
the opportunity to take up to 15 volunteer hours a year to volunteer at Age UK or another charity of their choice during 
working hours. 

ReAssure is focused on strong corporate citizenship. We have an open and collaborative relationship with the tax 
authorities, are a responsible tax payer and our tax activities are regularly reviewed and updated by ReAssure’s 
*URXS¶V�&KLHI�)LQDQFLDO�2ႈFHU��

ENVIRONMENT 
ReAssure is committed to achieving good environmental practice and we strive to reduce our environmental footprint. 
.H\�LQLWLDWLYHV�LQFOXGH�UHGXFLQJ�HQHUJ\��SULQW�DQG�SDSHU�FRQVXPSWLRQ�DFURVV�WKH�*URXS¶V�RႈFHV�DQG�UHGXFLQJ�RXU�
carbon footprint, including the use of technology, such as virtual meetings, to reduce travel. ReAssure’s employees 
can also engage with environmental issues through volunteering activities.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
The ReAssure Group Risk Management function is an integral, yet independent part of the Group’s business 
management functions. Risk management is a fundamental part of the daily operations and ongoing performance 
management of the Group and is embedded in the principles conveyed to its employees through training and incentive 
VWUXFWXUHV��5H$VVXUH¶V�ULVN�PDQDJHPHQW�SULQFLSOHV�EHQH¿W�IURP�LWV�6ZLVV�5H�*URXS�KHULWDJH�DQG�XQGHUSLQ�WKH�*URXS¶V�
risk culture. 

The Group faces several key risks and has a robust Risk Management Framework (“RMF”) that is able to identify, 
report and actively manage enterprise-wide risks exposed in the business. The RMF aims to align with the Solvency 
II EU directive and system of governance guidelines set out by the UK insurance supervisors and applies to both the 
Group and its standalone operating entities. 

The major elements of the RMF are:

• 5LVN�VWUDWHJ\��IRU�H[LVWLQJ�EXVLQHVVHV�DQG�VWUDWHJLF�WUDQVDFWLRQV�
• 5LVN�FXOWXUH�
• 5LVN�JRYHUQDQFH�
• 5LVN�DSSHWLWH�IUDPHZRUN��DQG
• Risk measurement & reporting.

RISK STRATEGY
5H$VVXUH�KDV�D�GH¿QHG�ULVN�VWUDWHJ\�WKDW�LW�KDV�DGRSWHG�WR�HQVXUH�LW�PHHWV�WKH�QHHGV�RI�VWDNHKROGHUV�ZKLOVW�HQVXULQJ�
risk taking is controlled, transparent and understood. Our risk strategy supports the wider business strategy and 
regulatory requirements at all times.

RISK CULTURE
Our risk culture is based on transparency and its ability to respond to change, which are integral to the risk and control 
processes, facilitating risk management knowledge sharing at all levels. The central goal of risk transparency is to 
create a culture of mutual trust, and to reduce the likelihood of surprises regarding the source and potential magnitude 
of losses. ReAssure’s Control Related Behaviour process further provides guidance on expected behaviours 
throughout the organisation.

RISK GOVERNANCE 
The ReAssure Group Risk Policy articulates our approach to managing the principal risks associated with pursuing its 
strategic objectives and is owned by the ReAssure Group Board.

The ReAssure Group and operating companies Boards (“the Boards”) exercise management authority and control 
over the Group and its Legal Entities following the three lines of defence framework. This includes responsibilities 
VSHFL¿FDOO\�UHODWLQJ�WR�ULVN�PDQDJHPHQW��LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�DQG�FDSLWDO�PDQDJHPHQW���

The ReAssure Board has overall responsibility for the risk and control environment in the Group, including setting 
the risk appetite, risk strategy, and risk management and internal control systems. The Boards are supported by the 
Group’s Risk Committee as well as the risk management (and compliance) function headed by the ReAssure Group 
&KLHI�5LVN�2ႈFHU��³&52´���7KH�&52�LV�VXSSRUWHG�E\�ULVN�SURIHVVLRQDO�H[SHUWV�LQ�2SHUDWLRQDO�ULVN��)LQDQFLDO�DQG�
Insurance risk, Information Security risk, Investment Oversight and risk assessment of Mergers & Acquisitions, who 
oversee all the Group’s risk-taking.
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RISK APPETITE FRAMEWORK
The Risk Appetite Framework (“RAF”) establishes our preference and practices in terms of controlled risk taking. At its 
highest level this is expressed as a series of risk appetite statements, which in accordance with the Group’s risk 
strategy, expresses the types of risk that ReAssure wishes to pursue, or avoid. ReAssure’s risk limits outline the 
PD[LPXP�H[WHQW�WR�ZKLFK�WKH�%RDUGV�KDYH�DXWKRULVHG�VHQLRU�PDQDJHPHQW�WR�DVVXPH�ULVN��JLYHQ�LWV�¿QDQFLDO�
resources. 

A three tiered approach is adopted for the RAF where risk appetite statements and metrics are set. At the highest level 
(Tier 1), the risk management statements express the overall Group and Operating entities’ target level of resilience 
against key risks faced by ReAssure.  

In 2019, the Tier 1 risk appetite statements for the Group are as follows: 

Risk Outcome Risk Appetite Statements 

Solvency ReAssure has no appetite for the Group Solvency II Solvency Coverage 
5DWLR��H[FOXGLQJ�:LWK�3UR¿WV�)XQGV��WR�IDOO�EHORZ������

Liquidity 5H$VVXUH�KDV�QR�DSSHWLWH�IRU�IDLOXUH�WR�PDLQWDLQ�VXႈFLHQW�VRXUFHV�RI�OLTXLGLW\�
to meet expected short and long term funding liquidity requirements as they 
fall due.

Credit Rating ReAssure aims to maintain its ability to fund future acquisitions and so has a 
low appetite for a credit rating below an investment grade rating from Fitch or 
External Credit Assessment Institution. 

Conduct ReAssure has no appetite for actions that lead to negative customer 
outcomes. ReAssure has no appetite for any events that lead to 
non-compliance with regulatory legislation and relevant laws.

Operational (including Cyber) ReAssure accepts operational risks inherent in its activities, provided they 
UHPDLQ�ZLWKLQ�WKH�GH¿QHG�ULVN�WROHUDQFH�OLPLW�LQ�WKH�RSHUDWLRQDO�ULVN�PDWUL[�

Reputational ReAssure has a low appetite for any events that lead to an adverse impact 
on its reputation with investors, retail customers, employees, regulators and 
other stakeholders.

Key Project Risks ReAssure has a low appetite for key projects to fail to meet their objectives.

Risk appetite metrics and limits are reviewed and updated when new acquisitions are undertaken or there is a 
PDWHULDO�FKDQJH�LQ�WKH�EXVLQHVV�ULVN�SUR¿OH��$VSHFWV�RI�WKHVH�ULVN�OLPLWV�DUH�PRQLWRUHG�E\�WKH�5LVN�0DQDJHPHQW�
function and are intended to help the Group control its risk exposure and manage its residual risks. 

RISK MEASUREMENT & REPORTING
The Group uses a Partial Internal Model (“PIM”), which was approved by the PRA in December 2018, to calculate the 
SCR. The PIM is used in a wide range of analyses and business decision making such as in capital management, 
acquisitions, Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (“ORSA”), illiquid asset exposure and the determination of risk 
appetite limits.  Strategic risk considerations are managed through mitigation actions and additional provision 
add-ons, these risks are not included in the scope of ReAssure’s Group PIM.
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The principal goal of risk reporting is to create internal risk transparency in order to make informed risk decisions and 
meet external disclosure requirements. The Group performs monthly risk and solvency reporting, quarterly ORSA 
reporting, assurance and deep dives for material risks and transactions as well as the annual ORSA and regulatory 
reporting assessment of the Group’s capital and enterprise-wide risk exposures. These reports provide line of sight for 
the governing bodies. 

CHANGES TO THE GROUP’S RISK PROFILE AND EMERGING RISKS
In 2019, ReAssure successfully completed the Quilter plc UK Heritage Life & Pensions business transaction and 
expects a full integration of it and Legal & General Group Plc’s mature savings acquisition in 2021 and 2020 
UHVSHFWLYHO\���7KHVH�GHDOV�VLJQL¿FDQWO\�LQFUHDVH�WKH�QXPEHU�RI�FXVWRPHUV�DQG�$VVHWV�XQGHU�$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ��ZKLFK�LQ�
WXUQ�FKDQJHV�WKH�ULVN�SUR¿OH�DQG�RXU�ULVN�GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�RYHU�WKH�QH[W�IHZ�\HDUV�

5H$VVXUH�KDV�DOVR�LGHQWL¿HG�VHYHUDO�HPHUJLQJ�ULVNV��GH¿QHG�DV�SRWHQWLDO�WUHQGV�RU�VXGGHQ�HYHQWV�WKDW�DUH�
FKDUDFWHULVHG�E\�D�KLJK�GHJUHH�RI�XQFHUWDLQW\�LQ�WHUPV�RI�RFFXUUHQFH�SUREDELOLW\�WKDW�KDV�SRVVLEOH�HႇHFWV�WR�WKH�
business. The following were some of the key risk themes emerging over 2019: 

• Brexit
ReAssure’s primary business activity is in the UK, with a comparatively small exposure to business sold in the
EU27 via ownership of Ark Life and business lines from Quilter Plc’s UK Heritage Life & Pensions book.
ReAssure has a small number of ex-pat policyholders based outside the UK within the EU. As such, ReAssure
has a low exposure to risks arising from Brexit. We maintain a well hedged balance sheet to mitigate against
market volatility.

• Climate change and Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
Climate change impact and sustainable driven investing are areas of increased regulatory and reputational
focus. ReAssure currently operates under an Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) investment policy
DQG�LV�IXUWKHU�GHYHORSLQJ�LWV�EURDGHU�(6*�VWUDWHJ\��5H$VVXUH�KDV�KLVWRULFDOO\�EHQH¿WHG�IURP�EHLQJ�SDUW�RI�WKH
Swiss Re Group, which is an industry leader in responsible investing and pursuing a climate focused agenda.
Because of this, ReAssure has a strong investment portfolio with respect to ESG and fared well in the Bank of
England’s Climate Change stress tests conducted over 2019.

• Cyber Risk and Operational resilience
Operational resilience remains high on ReAssure’s agenda in how we conduct our business during the year.
An Operational Resilience Steering Group and Project have been initiated to develop and deploy the
2SHUDWLRQDO�5HVLOLHQFH�)UDPHZRUN�LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�LGHQWL¿FDWLRQ�RI�LPSRUWDQW�EXVLQHVV�VHUYLFHV�DQG�WKHLU�RZQHUV
including tolerances limits in line with the regulatory / consultation guidelines. Cyber risk continues to be an
ever increasing threat, and the Group’s Cyber Risk strategy ensures continuing improvements in developing
and testing our defences.

OVER 2020
We anticipate the key risk themes of 2019 described above will continue to be a focus in 2020, but in addition would 
highlight:

• Coronavirus (COVID-19)
7KH�ILQDQFLDO�DQG�RSHUDWLRQDO�LPSDFWV�RI�WKH�&RURQDYLUXV�RXWEUHDN�DUH�HPHUJLQJ�DW�SDFH��5H$VVXUH�KDV�VWURQJ�
business continuity plans to accommodate operational impacts. In line with other organisations, these are�
being invoked to meet the requirements of government guidance. We took action in 2019 to reduce our�
H[SRVXUH�WR�ILQDQFLDO�PDUNHW�PRYHPHQWV��DQG�KDYH�FRQWLQXHG�WKLV�SURJUDPPH�GXULQJ�������:H�DUH�FORVHO\�
monitoring key exposures as markets continue WR�move, and have further actions available should this be�
required.



PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
An overview of the Group’s principal risks, including an outline of how each were mitigated is provided in the table 
below.  
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Risk Trend and outlook Mitigation

Strategic risk The integration of existing acquisitions namely 
Legal & General Group Plc’s mature savings 
business and Quilter plc’s UK Heritage Life 
& Pensions business are underway. There 
were some integration delays with the Legal & 
General Group Plc’s mature savings acquisition 
during the year whilst Quilter plc’s UK Heritage 
Life & Pensions completion process has gone 
as planned. 

We expect the Part VII and migration of these 
acquisitions will be as planned in 2020 – 2021.

As part of the acquisition transaction and 
execution, key subject matter experts identify 
the risks the business could be exposed to 
during the due diligence, transaction and 
integration phases of an acquisition 
transaction.   

Second line control functions providing risk 
oversight and assurance are in place to 
oversee acquisition risks (including pricing) and 
operational integration readiness for all 
acquisitions. This is to ensure any threats to 
business model sustainability, customer harm 
and reputation is mitigated and/or managed.

Market risk 2019 economic risks were dominated by the 
result of the UK’s decision to leave the EU and 
further Brexit related disruption is possible as 
the 30 June 2020 deadline to request an 
extension of the transition period beyond 2020 
and the 31 December 2020 deadline draws 
nearer.

Further market disruption from potential 
spreading of coronavirus, evolving attitudes to 
climate change risk and political and monetary 
policy will remain a focus through 2020.

$OO�¿QDQFLDO�ULVNV�DUH�PRQLWRUHG�DV�SDUW�RI�WKH�
Group’s investment committee and risk 
committee meetings.

ReAssure aims to hedge out market risks 
where the exposure is beyond appetite. Over 
2019, we increased hedging of our equity risk 
exposure and matched the interest rate 
duration of our liabilities to minimise sensitivity 
to interest rate movements. 

The Group also extended its use of the 
Solvency II Matching Adjustment to mitigate 
excess credit spread movements on its balance 
sheet during the year. 

Insurance risk ReAssure is predominately exposed to 
longevity risk through its large portfolio of 
deferred and in-payment lifetime annuity 
policies. 

The Group has a stable book of business and 
the outlook for longevity risk is stable. The 
Legal & General Group Plc’s mature savings 
and Quilter plc’s UK Heritage Life & Pensions 
acquisitions are expected to increase 
ReAssure’s exposure to lapse risk.

Longevity risk is managed using a variety of 
techniques including monitoring the Group’s 
H[SRVXUH�DJDLQVW�SUH�GH¿QHG�DSSHWLWH��WUHQG�
analysis, appropriate modelling and 
reinsurance. 

Lapse risk is primarily controlled via a key 
business focus on positive customer 
outcomes and customer satisfaction. 
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Risk Trend and outlook Mitigation

Credit risk Outlook of credit risk exposure for the Group is 
stable.

ReAssure aims to invest in highly rated and 
stable counterparties. Risk limits are put in 
place to mitigate credit default and 
concentration risk exposures. We aim to invest 
in high quality, investment grade credit and 
have strong ESG investment controls in place, 
in particular for our shareholders’ assets.

The groups Strategic Asset Allocation for 2020 
ORRNV�WR�LPSURYH�WKH�RYHUDOO�GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�RI�
the portfolio, therein further reducing risk 
concentration. 

Liquidity risk All liquidity pools (not including investment 
assets) remained within appetite over 2019.  

Anticipated additional usage of cleared 
derivative strategies will increase the 
contingent liquidity risk of the Group. 

ReAssure has a comprehensive liquidity 
PDQDJHPHQW�IUDPHZRUN�WKDW�HQVXUHV�VXႈFLHQW�
liquidity is held to meet short term and long 
WHUP�SURMHFWHG�QHW�FDVKÀRZV��ERWK�RQ�EHVW�
estimate and stressed conditions. 

Contingent liquidity solutions are being 
evaluated to support clear derivative 
strategies.

Operational risk We expect to complete the Part VII legal 
transfer of the block of mature savings 
business from Legal & General Group Plc in 
2020.

We continue to invest in operational 
improvements and cyber security to protect 
ReAssure and its customers.

We have robust business continuity plans in 
place to accommodate any operational impact 
should the Coronavirus cause 
disruption to our sites.  

7KH�%RDUG�DV�WKH�XOWLPDWH�ULVN�RZQHU�GH¿QHV�
the risk appetite for all risk categories. 
ReAssure expects management to implement 
risk mitigation actions to be implemented for all 
risks approaching or exceeding risk tolerance 
limits.

The operational Risk and Control 
Self-Assessment (RCSA) framework is well 
embedded by the 1st line with line of sight and 
appropriate escalation through executive 
management committees to the Board to 
provide oversight and control.

Conduct risk There continues to be regulatory focus on 
conduct to protect policyholders and industry 
stability. ReAssure is embracing the 
challenges of change from strategic and 
operational perspectives on an ongoing 
basis.  

ReAssure’s Conduct Strategy is central to our 
business model and culture and is delivered 
through four foundations: 

1. Governance to deliver Treating
&XVWRPHUV�)DLUO\�RXWFRPHV�

2. Compensation and Incentivisation to
encourage behaviours that create a
VWURQJ�FXVWRPHU�FHQWULF�FXOWXUH�

3. Strategy and proposition to support fair
FXVWRPHU�RXWFRPHV��DQG

4. Internal controls and control function
oversight to support fair customer
outcomes and business resilience.
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STATEMENT IN RESPECT OF
SECTION 172 COMPANIES ACT 2006
INTRODUCTION
The Directors of the Group, as those of all UK companies, must act in accordance with a set of general duties, which 
are set out in the UK Companies Act 2006 (the Act). 

Section 172(1) of that Act is summarised as follows:

A director of a company must act in a way he/she considers, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the 
VXFFHVV�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\�IRU�WKH�EHQH¿W�RI�LWV�PHPEHUV�DV�D�ZKROH��DQG�LQ�GRLQJ�VR�KDYH�UHJDUG��DPRQJVW�RWKHU�
matters) to:

�D��WKH�OLNHO\�FRQVHTXHQFHV�RI�DQ\�GHFLVLRQ�LQ�WKH�ORQJ�WHUP�
�E��WKH�LQWHUHVWV�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�HPSOR\HHV�
�F��WKH�QHHG�WR�IRVWHU�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�EXVLQHVV�UHODWLRQVKLSV�ZLWK�VXSSOLHUV��FXVWRPHUV�DQG�RWKHUV�
�G��WKH�LPSDFW�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�RSHUDWLRQV�RQ�WKH�FRPPXQLW\�DQG�WKH�HQYLURQPHQW�
�H��WKH�GHVLUDELOLW\�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\�PDLQWDLQLQJ�D�UHSXWDWLRQ�IRU�KLJK�VWDQGDUGV�RI�EXVLQHVV�FRQGXFW��DQG
(f) the need to act fairly as between members of the company. 

THE REASSURE GROUP
ReAssure focuses exclusively on the acquisition and management of UK life insurance closed books with a mission to 
VHFXUH�DQG�LPSURYH�FXVWRPHU�RXWFRPHV��:H�GR�QRW�ZULWH�QHZ�EXVLQHVV��RWKHU�WKDQ�RႇHULQJ�LQFUHPHQWV�RQ�FXUUHQW�
policies to existing customers on a passive basis. We have a proven record of growth and value creation, which has 
been delivered under an experienced senior management team and we continue to operate in attractive markets 
which provide substantial opportunities for growth. For many years, ReAssure has progressively built greater scale, 
reach and specialism in its operations, markets and brands. We constantly seek to achieve synergies from 
DFTXLVLWLRQV�RI�FORVHG�ERRNV�SULPDULO\�WKURXJK�FRVW�HႈFLHQFLHV��FDSLWDO�V\QHUJLHV�DQG�DVVHW�UHDOORFDWLRQ�DQG�ZH�DUH�
focused on achieving strong customer outcomes on our acquired policies, including via the use of our unique in-house 
operating platform, which houses the majority of our policies. 

(YHU\�LQVXUDQFH�FRPSDQ\�WKDW�LV�UHJXODWHG�XQGHU�6ROYHQF\�,,�PXVW�KDYH�DQ�HႇHFWLYH�V\VWHP�RI�JRYHUQDQFH�LQ�SODFH�WR�
provide for the sound and prudent management of the business. This must include an adequate transparent 
organisational structure with a clear allocation and appropriate segregation of responsibilities. 

THE REASSURE BOARD 
The Board’s primary goal is to encourage and promote ReAssure’s long-term success, the creation of value for 
VKDUHKROGHUV�DQG�WKH�ZLGHU�EHQH¿WV�IRU�RWKHU�VWDNHKROGHUV��LQFOXGLQJ�FROOHDJXHV�DQG�FXVWRPHUV��0RUH�EURDGO\��WKH�
%RDUG�DOVR�FRQWLQXHG�WR�VFUXWLQLVH�DQG�PRQLWRU�SURJUHVV�RQ�RWKHU�VLJQL¿FDQW�RSHUDWLRQDO�PDWWHUV��IURP�F\EHU�VHFXULW\�
and risk appetite to culture, engagement and talent development across ReAssure. In the same way as the 
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operating structure and management team have evolved with the Group through this period, the Board’s composition 
has also been continually reviewed and updated to make sure it has the necessary expertise, capacity and 
H[SHULHQFH�WR�SHUIRUP�LWV�GXWLHV�DQG�JRYHUQ�HႇHFWLYHO\��$V�5H$VVXUH�SUHSDUHG�IRU�,32�LQ������D�QHZ�ERDUG�RI�
directors was formed comprising a mix of Non-executive Directors (both shareholder-nominated and independent) and 
Executive Directors compliant with the UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the Code).  

OVERVIEW OF HOW THE BOARD DISCHARGED ITS DUTIES
UNDER SECTION 172
In October 2019,  the Board undertook an in-depth review of ReAssure’s strategy, including the business plan for 
WKH�IROORZLQJ�WKUHH�\HDUV��2QFH�DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�%RDUG��WKH�SODQ�DQG�VWUDWHJ\�IRUPHG�WKH�EDVLV�IRU�¿QDQFLDO�EXGJHWV��
resource plans and investment decisions, and also the future strategic direction of the Group. In making decisions 
concerning the business plan and future strategy, the Board has regard to a variety of matters including the interests 
of various stakeholders, the consequences of its decisions in the long term and its long-term reputation. The Chief 
([HFXWLYH�2ႈFHU��³&(2´��LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�GHOLYHULQJ�WKH�SODQV�DQG�VWUDWHJ\�DJUHHG�E\�WKH�%RDUG��ZLWK�DXWKRULW\�
delegated to executive directors but subject to all decisions being made based on ReAssure’s articulated values and 
standards through its Code of Business Conduct and its underlying governance policies, underpinned by the culture 
set by the Board. In 2019, the Board’s review of strategy included presentations from the CEO and Chief Financial 
2ႈFHU��³&)2´��DV�ZHOO�DV�PHPEHUV�RI�5H$VVXUH¶V�*URXS�([HFXWLYH�&RPPLWWHH��,Q������WKH�%RDUG�DGRSWHG�D�%RDUG�
Operating Manual incorporating governance principles that are aligned with the requirements of the Code. Revised 
terms of reference were also adopted by the Board’s principal committees in recognition of the changes to the Code.

7KH�IROORZLQJ�H[DPSOHV�SURYLGH�IXUWKHU�LQVLJKW�RQ�KRZ�WKH�%RDUG�KDV�GLVFKDUJHG�LWV�GXWLHV�LQ�WKLV�¿QDQFLDO�\HDU��
Through the papers and presentations received and discussed at Board and Committee meetings, in the practices it 
has employed through the year and in its interactions with employees across the Group and other external 
VWDNHKROGHUV��WKH�%RDUG�EHOLHYHV�WKDW�LW�KDV�EHHQ�DEOH�WR�HႇHFWLYHO\�SURPRWH�WKH�VXFFHVV�RI�5H$VVXUH�IRU�WKH�EHQH¿W�
of its members as a whole, discharging its duties set out in section 172(1) of the Act.

DECISION-MAKING OVER THE LONGER TERM
• The Board continuously keeps the strategy under review at each Board meeting and sets aside one full day 

meeting each year dedicated to a thorough strategic review. The Board also sets an annual budget and a rolling 
WKUHH�\HDU�EXVLQHVV�SODQ�DQG�SURYLGHV�RYHUVLJKW�RI�VRXQG�¿QDQFLDO�DQG�LQWHUQDO�FRQWUROV�DFURVV�5H$VVXUH��7KH�
Board, supported by the work of its Audit, Remuneration and Risk Committees has developed and embedded a 
UREXVW�ULVN�FXOWXUH�XQGHU�ZKLFK�ULVNV�DUH�LGHQWL¿HG��PLWLJDWHG�DQG�PRQLWRUHG�DJDLQVW�D�SUH�GHWHUPLQHG�ULVN�DSSHWLWH�
in respect of each principal risk category.  

• The Board and members of the senior leadership team in ReAssure regularly interact. Members of ReAssure’s 
Group Executive Committee attend Board meetings as well as other senior management and subject matter 
H[SHUWV��WR�SUHVHQW�DQG�DQVZHU�TXHVWLRQV�RQ�VSHFL¿F�EXVLQHVV�PDWWHUV�DW�%RDUG��&RPPLWWHH�DQG�WKH�DQQXDO�
6WUDWHJ\�PHHWLQJV��5HJXODU�%RDUG�SDSHUV�IURP�WKH�&(2��&)2��&KLHI�5LVN�2ႈFHU��³&52´��DQG�&KLHI�,QYHVWPHQW�
2ႈFHU��³&,2´��DOVR�SURYLGH�LQVLJKW�DQG�UHÀHFWLRQV�RQ�GD\�WR�GD\�DFWLYLWLHV�DFURVV�WKH�*URXS�DQG�LQFOXGH�LQWHUQDO�
communications circulated to the wider business. The Chairman works particularly closely with the CEO, having 
ZHHNO\�GLVFXVVLRQV�DQG�SODQQLQJ�DJHQGDV�FROODERUDWLYHO\��9LVLWV�WR�RWKHU�5H$VVXUH�RႈFHV�SURYLGH�IXUWKHU�
RSSRUWXQLWLHV�WR�PHHW�GLႇHUHQW�FRPPXQLWLHV�RI�HPSOR\HHV��7KH�%RDUG¶V�DLP�LV�WR�HQFRXUDJH��VXSSRUW�DQG�
challenge ReAssure’s management teams by adopting an open, collaborative and engaged approach. There is a 
FOHDU�JRYHUQDQFH�VWUXFWXUH�IRU�GHFLVLRQ�PDNLQJ��7KH�&KDLUPDQ�HQVXUHV�VXႈFLHQW�WLPH�LV�DOORZHG�IRU�D�WKRURXJK�
discussion of key matters at formal Board meetings and during informal exchanges, and to ensure each Director 
FDQ�FRQWULEXWH�HႇHFWLYHO\��%RDUG�GHFLVLRQV�DUH�PDGH�FROOHFWLYHO\��ZLWK�LQSXW�IURP�HDFK�'LUHFWRU��DQG�LW�LV�LQWHQGHG�
WKDW�WKH�%RDUG¶V�FXOWXUH�UHÀHFWV�WKDW�RI�WKH�5H$VVXUH�*URXS�DV�D�ZKROH��HQJDJHG��G\QDPLF�DQG�FROODERUDWLYH��
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During 2019, the Board was established to comply with the responsibilities set out in the Code but following the 
IPO suspension and the appointment of Swiss Re nominated directors it was not able to fully comply with the 
independence criteria. Each Director is aware of their duties and discharges them with due care and attention.

• In promoting the long-term success of ReAssure and a commitment to maintaining the highest standards of 
integrity and corporate governance practices, the Board places emphasis on ensuring appropriate conduct 
policies are in place across the organisation and that these are applied. During 2019, the Board reviewed each 
of the key Group policies and processes, including the terms of reference of its standing Committees. As part of 
this exercise, the Board approved a suite of Group-wide conduct policies including the Code of Conduct, Modern 
Slavery, Whistleblowing and Corporate Social Responsibility, incorporating business ethics and transparency. 

• $OO�'LUHFWRUV�UHFHLYH�D�IRUPDO�LQGXFWLRQ�WR�5H$VVXUH�RQ�¿UVW�MRLQLQJ�WKH�%RDUG��7KH�SURJUDPPH�LV�GHVLJQHG�WR�
provide new Directors with a good understanding of our business structure, operating companies and markets. 
7KH\�YLVLW�YDULRXV�5H$VVXUH�RႈFHV�WR�PHHW�FROOHDJXHV�DQG�PDQDJHPHQW�WHDP�PHPEHUV��7KH\�DUH�JLYHQ�
demonstrations of the systems we use and given opportunities to listen to live customer calls. Together with 
meetings with the Executive Directors and members of ReAssure’s Group Executive Committee, the 
SURJUDPPH�HTXLSV�QHZ�'LUHFWRUV�WR�EHFRPH�HႇHFWLYH�%RDUG�PHPEHUV�IURP�WKH�RXWVHW��(DFK�FRPSOHWHG�D�IRUPDO�
induction during 2019 when they attended meetings and received presentations from Group businesses. They 
also held private meetings with members of ReAssure’s Group Executive Committee, including the General 
Counsel and the Group Company Secretary, to gain an insight into the Group’s investor relations, legal and 
¿QDQFLDO�IXQFWLRQV��DQG�RWKHU�RSHUDWLRQDO�DVSHFWV��,Q�WKLV�JURZLQJ�DQG�HYROYLQJ�EXVLQHVV��WKH�&KDLUPDQ�DQG�*URXS�
Company Secretary regularly review the need for further training and take into consideration any areas of 
GHYHORSPHQW�LGHQWL¿HG�GXULQJ�WKH�DQQXDO�%RDUG�HYDOXDWLRQ�

• A performance evaluation of the Board, its Committees and its individual members is carried out annually to 
HQVXUH�WKDW�HDFK�UHPDLQV�HႇHFWLYH��'XULQJ�������DQ�LQWHUQDO�HYDOXDWLRQ�ZDV�OHG�E\�WKH�&KDLUPDQ��$UFKLH�.DQH��
The Chairman met with each of the Board members individually to obtain their views on the Board and its 
HႇHFWLYHQHVV�ZLWK�GLVFXVVLRQV�IRFXVLQJ�RQ�%RDUG�VWUXFWXUH��PHHWLQJ�FRQWHQW�DQG�SUHSDUHGQHVV��LQIRUPDO�PHHWLQJV�
DQG�%RDUG�&RPPLWWHHV��1R�DUHDV�RI�PDMRU�FRQFHUQ�ZHUH�UDLVHG�GXULQJ�WKH�HYDOXDWLRQ�DQG�LWV�¿QGLQJV�ZHUH�
presented to the Nomination and Governance Committee and actions agreed against the key themes. The 
evaluation concluded that the Board continued to work well, with a good quality of challenge and debate. The 
Board agreed areas of focus for 2019, which included: 
 ƕ continual assessment of the structure of the Board. Its relatively large size should be kept under review to 

HQVXUH�WKDW�PHHWLQJV�FRQWLQXH�WR�EH�UXQ�HႇHFWLYHO\��
 ƕ further increasing the Directors’ contact with divisional colleagues to enhance their understanding of the   

EXVLQHVV�DQG�DVVHVV�WDOHQW��
 ƕ LQFUHDVLQJ�WKH�IUHTXHQF\�RI�1RQ�([HFXWLYH�'LUHFWRU�RQO\�PHHWLQJV�DQG�GLVFXVVLRQV��
 ƕ stakeholder engagement, and in particular, how to enhance the work already being done on colleague        

HQJDJHPHQW��DQG�
 ƕ giving greater consideration to succession planning for the Board and Senior Management by the Nomination 

Committee.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS
• 7KH�%RDUG�SODFHV�VLJQL¿FDQW�IRFXV�RQ�5H$VVXUH¶V�FXVWRPHUV��2XU�EXVLQHVV�SODQ�GH¿QHV�D�VHW�RI�FRPPRQ�

objectives which places the customer at the heart of what we do and seeks to ensure delivery of fair, timely, 
compliant, meaningful and measurable customer outcomes which supports the corporate vision. The Board 
receives regular management information on how the organisation is performing against its objectives to make 
payments on time, to ensure claims are paid as quickly as possible and to ensure investments perform in line with 
targets over the long term and products are covered by a value for money framework. The governance framework 
ensures that there is strong oversight of customer outcomes through a set of dedicated customer-focused 
committees right up to Board level. In addition, all functional and corporate committees have an obligation to 
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consider customers in all of the decisions they make. Customer outcomes are measured and monitored through a 
suite of management information and via our Treating Customers Fairly and Corporate scorecards.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES
• One of the strengths of ReAssure is our engaged and collaborative culture, with minimal hierarchy and an 

RSHQQHVV�WR�LGHDV�DQG�LQSXW�IURP�DOO�DUHDV�RI�WKH�RUJDQLVDWLRQ��5HÀHFWLQJ�WKLV��WKH�%RDUG�DOVR�VHHNV�WR�HQJDJH�
with a wide range of employees throughout the year, both formally and informally. This helps to get beneath the 
surface of the Group and understand the business and employees’ interests more deeply, whilst answering 
questions and contributing to the culture of the Group itself. 

• We set great store by diversity and aim to attract and retain a talented workforce with a wide range of
backgrounds, skills and experiences. This breadth is both an essential business need and, we believe, the only 
DQG�ULJKW�ZD\�WR�RSHUDWH��7KH�%RDUG�UHFRJQLVHV�WKH�YDOXH�WKDW�GLႇHUHQFHV�EULQJ��LQFOXGLQJ�EXW�QRW�OLPLWHG�WR�
GLႇHUHQFH�RI�JHQGHU��DJH��UDFH��QDWLRQDOLW\��VRFLDO�EDFNJURXQG��SURIHVVLRQDO�DQG�SHUVRQDO�H[SHULHQFHV�DQG�
preferences and undertakes an annual deep dive into People and Culture, led by the Group HR Director. The 
Board also receives regular management information on employee matters and supporting statistics as part of 
the CEO’s Update at each Board meeting. ReAssure complies fully with all national equal opportunities legislation 
and make’s recruitment and promotion decisions based solely on the ability to perform each role. Employees, and 
potential employees, receive the same treatment regardless of age, gender, sexual orientation, disability, ethnicity 
or religion.  

• The Board is supporting the CEO in embedding a culture that will help deliver long-term success. To assist with 
this work, each year ReAssure undertakes an employee engagement survey. The results of this will be reviewed 
with the Directors, together with the subsequent actions the CEO will be taking to reinforce the our values and to 
ensure that the right culture exists across the organisation to meet the strategic needs of the business. In 
RYHUVHHLQJ�WKH�HႇHFWLYHQHVV�RI�RXU�SURFHVVHV�IRU�GHDOLQJ�ZLWK�HPSOR\HHV�ZKRVH�EHKDYLRXU�IDOOV�VKRUW�RI�UHTXLUHG�
standards, the Audit Committee will monitor the nature of issues reported through the ReAssure’s Speak Up 
Helpline and will review the processes in place for investigating complaints concerning inappropriate behaviour by 
employees. The integrity of these processes is an important part of ReAssure’s governance arrangements and the 
%RDUG�ZLOO�UHYLHZ�WKHVH�SURFHVVHV�DJDLQ�LQ������WR�HQVXUH�WKH\�UHPDLQ�HႇHFWLYH�

• The Board considers its employees to be its most valuable asset and it believes that broad experience is the key 
to the successful operation of its business and integration of acquired closed books. We are guided by a core set 
of people principles pertaining to our culture to ensure the best work environment: customer centricity, integrity, 
passion to perform, agility and team spirit. ReAssure has strong teams throughout the business and emphasises 
LPSURYLQJ�HPSOR\HH�HQJDJHPHQW�WKURXJK�FRQWLQXHG�LQYHVWPHQW�LQ�DQG�GLYHUVL¿FDWLRQ�RI�LWV�HPSOR\HH�EDVH�ZLWK�
training and development and ongoing initiatives, such as various apprenticeships, support for those studying 
for the Chartered Insurance Institute and other professional exams and its diversity and inclusion network. The 
Board is also committed to upholding our social responsibility and, in promoting initiatives designed to contribute 
to the holistic development of employees such as volunteering, partnering with local schools as well as leadership 
training and wellbeing programmes, contributing to the community. ReAssure has experienced steady growth 
in employee engagement and is focused on continuous improvement and has several programmes in place to 
develop our colleagues. For example, the  “Career Pathways” programme is designed to help retain and develop 
employees for the long term and its resourcing model seeks to rotate its employees across departments over the 
medium term and retain key talents. In addition, we also have a graduate programme, actuarial student scheme, 
apprenticeships and ALPHA Academy, which are designed to nurture and train university graduates, actuarial 
analysts and programme developers.

• The Board believes there is a good level of engagement across and within ReAssure, and the Board has good 
access and regular interaction at all levels of the organisation. As structured engagement with employees 
EHFRPHV�D�PRUH�VLJQL¿FDQW�PDWWHU�XQGHU�WKH�&RGH��WKH�&KDLUPDQ�KDG�DVNHG�%ULDQ�'XQQH�WR�OHDG�WKH�%RDUG¶V�
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thinking on the formal and informal mechanisms by which the Board receives the views and feedback of the 
workforce. However, in light of the IPO suspension and Mr Dunne’s subsequent retirement from the Board, this 
workforce engagement responsibility has been absorbed within the Board as a whole, who will continue to monitor 
the current approach and activities that already took place through 2019 and will assess whether additional 
PHFKDQLVPV�RU�WRROV�ZRXOG�EH�EHQH¿FLDO�WR�5H$VVXUH���

• The Board recognises that it has a responsibility to ensure that its business is conducted in a socially responsible 
manner, resulting in a high standard of social and environmental behaviour. ReAssure has a long-standing 
commitment to corporate responsibility and complies with the United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and 
Human Rights. We are committed to the creation of a diverse and inclusive workplace and have pledged support 
to the Women in Finance charter policy to embrace diverse views and perspectives at a Board and Committee 
level. 

• The Remuneration Committee is cognisant that the CEO to employees pay ratio and gender pay gap are key 
lenses when considering the appropriateness of executive pay outcomes. The Remuneration Committee also 
ensures that wider colleagues pay and policies and cultural context are intertwined with its remit and activities. 
5H$VVXUH�LV�VXSSRUWLYH�RI�ÀH[LEOH�ZRUNLQJ�DUUDQJHPHQWV�DQG�LWV�JHQGHU�SD\�JDS�DW�����LQ������LV�EHORZ�WKH�
¿QDQFLDO�VHUYLFHV�VHFWRU�DYHUDJH��:H�FRQWLQXH�WR�WU\�DQG�FORVH�WKH�JHQGHU�SD\�JDS�DQG�WKH�UDWLR�RI�PDOH�WR�IHPDOH�
senior managers by removing any gender bias in job descriptions before the recruitment process begins, by 
implementing ‘blind CV’s’ removing names and dates of birth to prevent any unconscious bias and by conducting 
equal pay and gender audits throughout the year. 

RELATIONSHIPS WITH SHAREHOLDERS, REGULATORS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS
• 7KH�%RDUG�SODFHV�VLJQL¿FDQW�YDOXH�RQ�UHJXODU��WZR�ZD\�HQJDJHPHQW�ZLWK�VKDUHKROGHUV�DQG�LQYHVWRUV��DQG�WKURXJK�

2019, in a year of busy corporate activity, both the Group’s Directors and its senior leadership team were very 
active in this respect. The Board appreciates the strong support given by ReAssure’s shareholders in preparing 
for the IPO and remains committed to engaging with them on a regular basis. In preparing for the IPO, many  
prospective shareholders met with the Directors and members of the senior executive team during the connected 
analysts’ presentation and subsequent roadshow meetings leading up to the IPO.

• Shareholders are one of ReAssure’s most important stakeholders. The support of equity and debt holders 
SURYLGHV�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�FDSLWDO�WKDW�HQDEOHV�XV�WR�IXQG�RQJRLQJ�RSHUDWLRQV��UHLQYHVW�LQ�SHRSOH��SURGXFWV�DQG�
platforms and add new businesses that extend the ReAssure’s scale, reach and specialism. The Board aims to 
SURYLGH�FOHDU��WLPHO\�DQG�EDODQFHG�FRUSRUDWH�DQG�¿QDQFLDO�LQIRUPDWLRQ��LQ�SHUVRQ�DQG�WKURXJK�GLJLWDO�FKDQQHOV��
enabling shareholders to engage with senior leadership while meeting all necessary standards for public company 
disclosure. The shareholder-nominated directors are active participants at Board and Committee meetings and 
provide good insight to the remaining Directors on the views of the shareholders.

• The regulators (The Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulatory Authority) are also important 
stakeholders. The Chairman, Senior Independent Director (“SID”) and Chairs of the Board Committees together 
with the CEO, CFO and CRO together with other members of the senior leadership team participate in a proactive 
engagement programme designed to maintain positive and constructive relations with the regulators.  

• As part of its forward agenda of topics, the Board will meet in 2020 with management to better understand 
how they are developing deeper relationships with companies in ReAssure’s supply chain and how strategic              
relationships are being built with key suppliers. 

COMMUNITY AND ENVIRONMENT
• The Board promotes a culture of being involved in charity and giving back as well as a focus on health and 

wellbeing. ReAssure has partnered with Age UK since 2017 and our employees are given the opportunity to take 
up to 15 volunteer hours a year to volunteer at Age UK or another charity of their choice during working hours. 
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• The Board wishes to maintain an open and collaborative relationship with the tax authorities and as such 
stipulates that the Group must be a responsible tax payer and that its tax activities are regularly reviewed and 
updated by the CFO and reported to the Board.

• The Board is committed to achieving good environmental practice and that the organisation should strive to 
reduce its environmental footprint. Key initiatives include reducing print and paper consumption across the 
*URXS¶V�RႈFHV�DQG�UHGXFLQJ�LWV�FDUERQ�IRRWSULQW��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�XVH�RI�WHFKQRORJ\��VXFK�DV�YLUWXDO�PHHWLQJV��WR�
reduce travel. The Board is also encouraging of employee’s engagement with environmental issues through 
volunteering activities.

APPROVAL
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2020 and signed by order of the Board:

Mark Peters
Company Secretary
25 March 2020



7KH�GLUHFWRUV�SUHVHQW�WKHLU�DQQXDO�UHSRUW�WRJHWKHU�ZLWK�WKH�DXGLWHG�JURXS�FRQVROLGDWHG�DQG�FRPSDQ\�¿QDQFLDO�
statements of ReAssure Group plc, company registration number 11597179, for the period ended 31 December 2019.

REGISTERED OFFICE
5H$VVXUH�*URXS�SOF�LV�LQFRUSRUDWHG�LQ�(QJODQG�DQG�:DOHV��7KH�UHJLVWHUHG�RႈFH�LV�:LQGVRU�+RXVH��7HOIRUG�&HQWUH��
Telford, Shropshire TF3 4NB.

DIRECTORS
In preparing for the IPO, a new Board of Directors was appointed during 2019 to meet the requirements of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code. On the suspension of the IPO in July 2019, the composition of the Board was changed 
in discussion with the Group’s shareholders resulting in the retirement of two independent Non-executive Directors in 
favour of three additional shareholder-nominated Non-executive Directors.

The directors of the Group are:

CURRENT DIRECTORS POSITION APPOINTED RESIGNED

Archie Kane Chairman 21 January 2019
Mark Hodges &KLHI�([HFXWLYH�2ႈFHU 19 March 2019
Ian Patrick &KLHI�)LQDQFLDO�2ႈFHU 12 October 2018
Andrea Blance Senior Independent Director 25 April 2019
Guido Fürer Non-Executive Director 24 October 2019
Hiroyuki Iioka Non-Executive Director 25 April 2019
Lesley Jones Independent Non-Executive Director 11 April 2019
Thierry Leger Non-Executive Director 21 January 2019
3DWULFN�5DDÀDXE Non-Executive Director 24 October 2019
Michael Yardley Independent Non-Executive Director 12 October 2018
Larry Zimpleman Non-Executive Director 24 October 2019

FORMER DIRECTORS
Rejean Besner 12 October 2018 21 January 2019
Matthew Cuhls 12 October 2018 19 March 2019
Brian Dunne 12 October 2018 24 October 2019
James Gallagher 12 October 2018 21 January 2019
Denise Lardner 12 October 2018 11 April 2019
Adrian Levy 1 October 2018 12 October 2018
David Pudge 1 October 2018 12 October 2018
Cathryn Riley 11 April 2019 24 October 2019
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COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary of the Group is:

APPOINTED RESIGNED

Mark Peters 25 April 2019
Paul Shakespeare 1 October 2018 25 April 2019

ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019

DIVIDENDS
The Group paid a dividend of £519 million following the £1 billion subordinated debt issue and the Group 
UHRUJDQLVDWLRQ�LQ������������������PLOOLRQ��DQG�WKH�GLUHFWRUV�DUH�QRW�SURSRVLQJ�D�¿QDO�GLYLGHQG��

SHARE CAPITAL
The Group is a public company and is limited by shares. On 9 May 2019, the Group’s share capital of 1 ordinary share 
of £1.00 was subdivided into 10 ordinary shares of £0.10 each. 

On 9 May 2019, the Group issued 999,999,990 ordinary shares of £0.10 to Swiss Re Finance Midco (Jersey) Limited 
(formerly Swiss Re ReAssure Midco Limited), the Group’s immediate parent company, in consideration for the 
acquisition of ReAssure Midco Limited at a premium of £4.26 each.

FUTURE OUTLOOK
The Group will continue to service its existing policyholders. For more information, please refer to the Strategic Report.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3ULQFLSDO�ULVNV�DQG�XQFHUWDLQWLHV�DႇHFWLQJ�WKH�*URXS��LQFOXGLQJ�¿QDQFLDO�ULVNV��DUH�H[SODLQHG�LQ�WKH�VWUDWHJLF�UHSRUW�DQG�
LQ�QRWH����WR�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�

DISABILITY
The Group gives full and fair consideration to applications for employment made by disabled people and our policies 
support the employment, promotion and career development of disabled persons, as well as supporting employees 
who become disabled during the course of their employment.

28
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EMPLOYEE AND OTHER STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
ReAssure considers the impact on employees and all other stakeholders in making long-term decisions. Further 
information can be found in “Relationships with employees” on page 24 and “Relationships with shareholders, 
regulators and other stakeholders” on page 25. 

DIRECTORS’ CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
7KH�*URXS�KDV�HVWDEOLVKHG�SURFHGXUHV�IRU�KDQGOLQJ�FRQÀLFWV�RI�LQWHUHVW�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�&RPSDQLHV�$FW������
and the Group’s Articles of Association.

QUALIFYING THIRD PARTY INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
The Group’s directors are covered by the Swiss Re Limited indemnity provision policy, which was in force during the 
¿QDQFLDO�\HDU�DQG�DW�WKH�GDWH�RI�DSSURYDO�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��7KLV�LQGHPQL¿HV�GLUHFWRUV�LQ�UHVSHFW�RI�
payments, as well as any costs associated with legal proceedings brought by third parties. Any director who serves 
RU�VHUYHG�IRU�WKH�*URXS�LV�FRYHUHG�WR�WKH�IXOOHVW�H[WHQW�SHUPLWWHG�E\�ODZ�DQG�VWDWHG�LQ�WKH�FHUWL¿FDWH�RI�LQFRUSRUDWLRQ��
articles of association, by-laws and other similar constituent documents of the Group. Swiss Re Limited 
unconditionally guarantees payment of such sums by the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
7KH�GLUHFWRUV�DUH�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�SUHSDULQJ�WKH�$QQXDO�5HSRUW�DQG�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�
applicable law and regulation.

&RPSDQ\�ODZ�UHTXLUHV�WKH�GLUHFWRUV�WR�SUHSDUH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�IRU�HDFK�¿QDQFLDO�\HDU��8QGHU�WKDW�ODZ�WKH�
GLUHFWRUV�KDYH�SUHSDUHG�WKH�JURXS�DQG�FRPSDQ\�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�,QWHUQDWLRQDO�)LQDQFLDO�
Reporting Standards (IFRS’s) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve 
WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�XQOHVV�WKH\�DUH�VDWLV¿HG�WKDW�WKH\�JLYH�D�WUXH�DQG�IDLU�YLHZ�RI�WKH�VWDWH�RI�DႇDLUV�RI�WKH�JURXS�
DQG�FRPSDQ\�DQG�RI�WKH�SUR¿W�RU�ORVV�RI�WKH�JURXS�DQG�FRPSDQ\�IRU�WKDW�SHULRG��,Q�SUHSDULQJ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��
the directors are required to:

• VHOHFW�VXLWDEOH�DFFRXQWLQJ�SROLFLHV�DQG�WKHQ�DSSO\�WKHP�FRQVLVWHQWO\�
• state whether applicable IFRS’s as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material 

GHSDUWXUHV�GLVFORVHG�DQG�H[SODLQHG�LQ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�
• PDNH�MXGJHPHQWV�DQG�DFFRXQWLQJ�HVWLPDWHV�WKDW�DUH�UHDVRQDEOH�DQG�SUXGHQW��DQG
• SUHSDUH�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�RQ�WKH�JRLQJ�FRQFHUQ�EDVLV�XQOHVV�LW�LV�LQDSSURSULDWH�WR�SUHVXPH�WKDW�WKH�JURXS�

and company will continue in business.

The directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

7KH�GLUHFWRUV�DUH�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�NHHSLQJ�DGHTXDWH�DFFRXQWLQJ�UHFRUGV�WKDW�DUH�VXႈFLHQW�WR�VKRZ�DQG�H[SODLQ�WKH�
JURXS�DQG�FRPSDQ\¶V�WUDQVDFWLRQV�DQG�GLVFORVH�ZLWK�UHDVRQDEOH�DFFXUDF\�DW�DQ\�WLPH�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ�RI�WKH�
JURXS�DQG�FRPSDQ\�DQG�HQDEOH�WKHP�WR�HQVXUH�WKDW�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�FRPSO\�ZLWK�WKH�&RPSDQLHV�$FW������



The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Group’s website. Legislation in the United 
.LQJGRP�JRYHUQLQJ�WKH�SUHSDUDWLRQ�DQG�GLVVHPLQDWLRQ�RI�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�PD\�GLႇHU�IURP�OHJLVODWLRQ�LQ�RWKHU�
jurisdictions.

DIRECTORS’ CONFIRMATIONS
,Q�WKH�FDVH�RI�HDFK�GLUHFWRU�LQ�RႈFH�DW�WKH�GDWH�WKH�'LUHFWRUV¶�5HSRUW�LV�DSSURYHG�

• so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the group and company’s auditors 
DUH�XQDZDUH��DQG

• they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the group and company’s auditors are aware of that information.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
,Q�WKH�FDVH�RI�HDFK�GLUHFWRU�LQ�RႈFH�DW�WKH�GDWH�WKH�'LUHFWRUV¶�UHSRUW�LV�DSSURYHG�

• VR�IDU�DV�WKH�GLUHFWRU�LV�DZDUH��WKHUH�LV�QR�UHOHYDQW�DXGLW�LQIRUPDWLRQ�RI�ZKLFK�WKH�*URXS¶V�DXGLWRUV�DUH�XQDZDUH��
and

• they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are aware of that information.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have indicated their willingness to be reappointed for another term and appropriate 
arrangements have been put in place for them to be deemed reappointed as auditors in the absence of an Annual 
General Meeting.

WEBSITE POSTING
7KHVH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DUH�SXEOLVKHG�RQ�WKH�*URXS¶V�ZHEVLWH�ZZZ�UHDVVXUHJURXSSOF�FR�XN��$�SULQWHG�YHUVLRQ�RI�
WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�LV�DYDLODEOH�IURP�WKH�*URXS¶V�UHJLVWHUHG�RႈFH�

By order of the Board of Directors

Mark Peters
Company Secretary
25 March 2020
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OPINION
,Q�RXU�RSLQLRQ��5H$VVXUH�*URXS�SOF¶V�*URXS�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DQG�3DUHQW�FRPSDQ\�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��WKH�
³¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV´��

• JLYH�D�WUXH�DQG�IDLU�YLHZ�RI�WKH�VWDWH�RI�WKH�*URXS¶V�DQG�RI�WKH�3DUHQW�FRPSDQ\¶V�DႇDLUV�DV�DW����'HFHPEHU������
DQG�RI�WKH�*URXS¶V�SUR¿W��WKH�3DUHQW�FRPSDQ\¶V�ORVV�DQG�WKH�*URXS¶V�DQG�WKH�3DUHQW�FRPSDQ\¶V�FDVK�ÀRZV�IRU�WKH�
\HDU�WKHQ�HQGHG�

• have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted 
E\�WKH�(XURSHDQ�8QLRQ��DQG

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

:H�KDYH�DXGLWHG�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��LQFOXGHG�ZLWKLQ�WKH�$QQXDO�5HSRUW�DQG�$FFRXQWV��WKH�³$QQXDO�5HSRUW´���
ZKLFK�FRPSULVH��WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�DQG�3DUHQW�FRPSDQ\�VWDWHPHQWV�RI�¿QDQFLDO�SRVLWLRQ�DV�DW����'HFHPEHU�������WKH�
&RQVROLGDWHG�DQG�3DUHQW�FRPSDQ\�LQFRPH�VWDWHPHQWV��WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�VWDWHPHQW�RI�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�LQFRPH��WKH�
&RQVROLGDWHG�DQG�3DUHQW�FRPSDQ\�VWDWHPHQWV�RI�FKDQJHV�LQ�HTXLW\��WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�DQG�3DUHQW�FRPSDQ\�FDVK�ÀRZ�
VWDWHPHQWV�IRU�WKH�\HDU�SHULRG�WKHQ�HQGHG��DQG�WKH�QRWHV�WR�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��ZKLFK�LQFOXGH�D�GHVFULSWLRQ�RI�
WKH�VLJQL¿FDQW�DFFRXQWLQJ�SROLFLHV�

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. 
2XU�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�XQGHU�,6$V��8.��DUH�IXUWKHU�GHVFULEHG�LQ�WKH�$XGLWRUV¶�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�IRU�WKH�DXGLW�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�
VWDWHPHQWV�VHFWLRQ�RI�RXU�UHSRUW��:H�EHOLHYH�WKDW�WKH�DXGLW�HYLGHQFH�ZH�KDYH�REWDLQHG�LV�VXႈFLHQW�DQG�DSSURSULDWH�WR�
provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE
We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�LQ�WKH�8.��ZKLFK�LQFOXGHV�WKH�)5&¶V�(WKLFDO�6WDQGDUG��DV�DSSOLFDEOH�WR�OLVWHG�SXEOLF�LQWHUHVW�
HQWLWLHV��DQG�ZH�KDYH�IXO¿OOHG�RXU�RWKHU�HWKLFDO�UHVSRQVLELOLWLHV�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�WKHVH�UHTXLUHPHQWV�

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard 
were not provided to the group or the parent company.

2WKHU�WKDQ�WKRVH�GLVFORVHG�LQ�QRWH����WR�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��ZH�KDYH�SURYLGHG�QR�QRQ�DXGLW�VHUYLFHV�WR�WKH�
Group in the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 or to the Parent company in the period from 1 October 
2018 to 31 December 2019.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF REASSURE 
GROUP PLC



OUR AUDIT APPROACH
OVERVIEW

THE SCOPE OF OUR AUDIT
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the 
¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��

CAPABILITY OF THE AUDIT IN DETECTING IRREGULARITIES, INCLUDING FRAUD
%DVHG�RQ�RXU�XQGHUVWDQGLQJ�RI�WKH�JURXS�DQG�LQGXVWU\��ZH�LGHQWL¿HG�WKDW�WKH�SULQFLSDO�ULVNV�RI�QRQ�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�
laws and regulations related to breaches to the Prudential Regulation Authority’s and Financial Conduct Authority’s 
regulations and unethical and prohibited business practices, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance 
PLJKW�KDYH�D�PDWHULDO�HႇHFW�RQ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��:H�DOVR�FRQVLGHUHG�WKRVH�ODZV�DQG�UHJXODWLRQV�WKDW�KDYH�D�
GLUHFW�LPSDFW�RQ�WKH�SUHSDUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�VXFK�DV�WKH�&RPSDQLHV�$FW������DQG�8.�WD[�OHJLVODWLRQ��
Solvency II Regulatory rules and the rules of the Financial Conduct Authority and Prudential Regulation Authority. We 
HYDOXDWHG�PDQDJHPHQW¶V�LQFHQWLYHV�DQG�RSSRUWXQLWLHV�IRU�IUDXGXOHQW�PDQLSXODWLRQ�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�
(including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting of 
LQDSSURSULDWH�MRXUQDO�HQWULHV�DQG�FKDQJHV�WR�DUHDV�RI�MXGJPHQW�RU�HVWLPDWLRQ��VSHFL¿FDOO\�WKH�VXEMHFWLYLW\�LQ�ORQJHYLW\�
DQG�H[SHQVHV�DVVXPSWLRQV���DQG�DQ\�QHZ�RU�VLJQL¿FDQW�WUDQVDFWLRQV�ZKHUH�PDQDJHPHQW�LV�LQ�WKH�SRVLWLRQ�WR�DGRSW�
policies to achieve desired results. The group engagement team shared this risk assessment with the component 
auditors so that they could include appropriate audit procedures in response to such risks in their work. Audit 
procedures performed by the group engagement team and/or component auditors included:

• $XGLW�RI�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQW�GLVFORVXUHV�WR�XQGHUO\LQJ�VXSSRUWLQJ�GRFXPHQWDWLRQ��
• 5HYLHZ�RI�FRUUHVSRQGHQFH�ZLWK�WKH�UHJXODWRUV��
• (QTXLULHV�RI�PDQDJHPHQW�DQG�UHYLHZ�RI�,QWHUQDO�$XGLW�UHSRUWV�LQ�VR�IDU�DV�WKH\�UHODWHG�WR�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�

DQG�QRQ�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�ODZV�DQG�UHJXODWLRQV��
• &KDOOHQJLQJ�DVVXPSWLRQV�DQG�MXGJHPHQWV�PDGH�E\�PDQDJHPHQW�LQ�WKHLU�VLJQL¿FDQW�DFFRXQWLQJ�HVWLPDWHV��LQ�

SDUWLFXODU�LQ�UHODWLRQ�WR�WKH�VXEMHFWLYLW\�LQ�ORQJHYLW\�DVVXPSWLRQV��DQG

ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019

MATERIALITY

AUDIT SCOPE

KEY AUDIT
MATTERS

• Overall group materiality: £45,400,000 (2018: £50,500,000), based on 2% of net 
assets.

• Overall parent company materiality: £39,800,000 (2018: N/A), based on 2% of net 
assets.

• We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be 
DEOH�WR�JLYH�DQ�RSLQLRQ�RQ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DV�D�ZKROH��WDNLQJ�LQWR�DFFRXQW�
the structure of the company, the accounting processes and controls, and the 
industry in which it operates. Overall, we concluded that our audit scope gave us 
WKH�HYLGHQFH�ZH�QHHGHG�IRU�RXU�RSLQLRQ�RQ�WKH�¿QDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�DV�D�ZKROH��
Based on our scoping calculation, we concluded the following subsidiaries to be 
full scope: 
 ƕ 5H$VVXUH�*URXS�SOF��
 ƕ 5H$VVXUH�0LGFR�/LPLWHG��
 ƕ 5H$VVXUH�/LPLWHG��DQG�
 ƕ ARK Life Assurance Co.

• 2XU�ULVN�DVVHVVPHQW�LGHQWL¿HG�WKH�IROORZLQJ�NH\�DXGLW�PDWWHUV�
 ƕ Subjectivity in annuitant mortality assumptions underlying the insurance 

FRQWUDFW�OLDELOLWLHV��*URXS��
 ƕ ([SHQVH�$VVXPSWLRQV��*URXS���DQG
 ƕ Valuation of investments, in particular hard to value assets (Group).

32



ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019

33

•	 Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations, 
unexpected users or backdated journals.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with 
laws and regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would 
become aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not 
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional 
misrepresentations, or through collusion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: 
the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. 
These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impact of COVID-19 subsequent event
As disclosed in note 47, subsequent to the balance sheet 
date and up to the point of reporting there has been a 
global pandemic of a new strain of Coronavirus 
(COVID-19) which has caused significant economic 
disruption. This outbreak and subsequent spread of the 
virus does not provide additional evidence about the 
situation that existed at 31 December 2019, and it is 
therefore a non-adjusting event.

Management have ensured that the measurement of 
assets and liabilities reflects only the conditions that 
existed at the reporting date. However, events after the 
reporting date can provide additional information about 
the uncertainties that existed at the reporting date. 

Subsequent to the year end management have 
performed procedures to assess the financial and 
operational impacts of COVID-19 which include:
•	 Operation of a risk management framework to 

ensure a sufficient capital surplus is maintained to 
meet liabilities, even under stress scenarios and 
having robust plans for certain management actions 
if the Group falls outside its approved risk appetite;

•	 Frequent monitoring of the Group’s solvency 
coverage ratio through regular crisis management 
meetings; and

•	 Actively managing the Group’s capital and liquidity 
position including monitoring of asset credit quality, 
and employing an active hedging strategy in relation 
to market and interest rate risks.

We assessed management’s approach to the impact of 
COVID-19 on the Group and the financial statements by 
performing the following procedures:

•	 Evaluated management’s stress and scenario testing 
and challenged management’s key assumptions. 
We reviewed the controls and governance over the 
production of solvency monitoring information and 
considered its consistency with other available 
information and our understanding of the business;

•	 Evaluated management’s assessment of the risks 
facing the Group including liquidity risk, asset credit 
risk and operational matters;

•	 Assessed the mitigating actions management have 
put in place and further plans they have if required 
due to further deterioration of the wider UK and 
Global economy;

•	 Attended the governance committee meeting which 
considered COVID-19 in advance of reporting; and

•	 Assessed the disclosures made by management in 
the financial statements and checked consistency 
of the disclosures with our knowledge of the Group 
based on our audit.

Based on the work performed and the evidence 
obtained, we consider the disclosure of the potential 
impact of COVID-19 in the financial statements to be 
appropriate.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Management have placed a particular focus on the level 
of capital surplus that has been maintained post year 
end and the risks associated with liquidity and the credit 
quality of assets and through this have concluded that 
the Group is in a stable solvency position, expects to 
continue to meet its capital requirements through this 
pandemic and continues to be a going concern.

This assessment requires management judgement and 
the consideration of a range of factors that may impact 
the Group.

Subjectivity in annuitant mortality assumptions
underlying the calculation of the insurance contract 
liabilities (Group)

Refer to note 1 to the financial statements for the 
directors’ disclosure of the basis of preparation, related 
accounting policies and further information on 
judgements and estimates related to insurance contract 
liabilities; note 2 for use of estimates; and note 26 for the 
relevant disclosure over the financial statement line item.

As part of our consideration of the entire set of 
assumptions we focused particularly on the assumptions 
which have a more significant effect on the Group’s 
result or those that require a higher level of judgement. 
As detailed below, we focused on annuitant mortality 
assumptions. These are assumptions about how long the 
policyholders receiving annuity payments are 
expected to live and therefore how long they will 
continue to receive these payments. The large volume of 
annuity business, combined with the subjectivity in 
setting an annuitant mortality basis, has a material 
impact on the valuation of the liabilities. Annuity liabilities 
are sensitive to the choice of annuitant mortality 
assumptions. The annuitant mortality assumption has 
two main components:

Mortality base assumption – This part of the 
assumption is mainly driven by internal experience
analyses, but judgement is also required. For example, 
in determining the most appropriate granularity at which
to carry out the analysis; the time window used for 
historic experience, or whether data should be excluded 
from the analysis; and in selecting an appropriate 
industry mortality table to which management overlays 
the results of the experience analysis.

Rate of mortality improvements – This part of the 
assumption is more subjective given the lack of data and 
the uncertainty over how life expectancy will change in 
the future.  The allowance for future mortality

In the course of our audit work, we have:
•	 Assessed the methodology for setting the annuitant 

mortality assumptions to ensure appropriateness 
against regulatory and reporting requirements;

•	 Tested the design and operating effectiveness of 
controls within the experience analysis process. 
Specifically, we assessed how the data had been 
extracted and aggregated; and the validity of 
management’s analysis of the data;

•	 Reviewed the fit of the Group’s internal experience 
against industry tables to assess the reasonableness 
of the choice of industry table;

•	 Assessed the appropriateness of key judgements 
applied in setting base mortality assumptions, 
including the appropriateness of adjustments made 
to allow for data issues identified over the period;

•	 Assessed the appropriateness of key judgements in 
the Group’s choice of standard industry 
Continuous Mortality Investigation (CMI) model for 
future improvements and choice of parameters used 
in the model;

•	 Challenged the validity of the analysis performed by 
management and their conclusions based on our 
understanding of the approaches used in the wider 
market and on the experience data that management 
had observed in previous time periods; 

•	 Assessed the validity of the disclosures in the 
financial statements; and

•	 Assessed the degree of rigour, challenge and 
oversight provided by the Regional Reserving 
Committee and the Board.

Based on the work performed and the evidence 
obtained, we consider the assumptions used for 
annuitant mortality to be appropriate.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

improvements is inherently subjective, as improvements 
develop over long timescales and cannot be captured 
by analysis of internal experience data. The Continuous 
Mortality Investigation Bureau (CMIB) provides 
mortality projection models which are widely used 
throughout industry and contain a standard core set of 
assumptions including initial rates of improvement, 
calculated by the CMIB based on the most recent 
available population data.

Expense Assumptions (Group)
Refer to note 1 to the financial statements for the 
directors’ disclosure of the basis of preparation, related 
accounting policies and further information on 
judgements and estimates related to contract liabilities; 
note 2 for use of estimates; and note 26 for the relevant 
disclosure over the financial statement line item. 

IFRS requires that the valuation of insurance contract 
liabilities to include an allowance for the costs 
––expected to be incurred in managing current book of in 
force contracts. 

There is a significant level of judgement required in 
determining appropriate assumptions for future 
expenses, in particular: 
•	 Determining the expected total level of expenses in 

future years, relative to the current level of 
expenditure, including estimating the impact of 
known future increases, or savings (where 
allowable). This is significant at year-end 2019, due 
to the uncertain impact of future changes associated 
with the ongoing costs associated with the Group 
plc, as well as those associated with the 
management of the Old Mutual Wealth Life 
Assurance (OMWLA) business, acquired in 
December 2019. 

•	 Determining the proportion of the expense base 
which is in relation to existing ‘in force’ contracts and 
that which relates to future acquisition activity.

•	 Allocating the ‘in-force’ expenses between 
product types, reflecting variations in the relative 
costs incurred in managing different products. 

The level of judgement is increased further given the 
nature of the Group’s business – the Group acquires new 
policies through irregular acquisitions of closed books 
of business, rather than through continually writing new 
policies directly to customers. This introduces additional
uncertainty over the timing of future new business and 
the extent to which fixed costs are allowed for between 
future acquisitions.

In the course of our work, we have:
•	 Assessed the appropriateness of management’s 

methodology, including the appropriateness of any 
key judgements and assumptions, and consistency 
with the former INSPRU regulations on which the 
accounting policy is based;  

•	 Challenged management on the key material 
judgements taken on application of the methodology, 
including the treatment of fixed costs, the allowance 
for new acquisitions (OMWLA) and the overall level 
of prudence within the provision;

•	 Tested the completeness and accuracy of the cost 
base used within the calculation of the provision, by 
reconciling to the audited trial balance;

•	 Assessed the appropriateness of any further 
adjustments applied to allow for known future 
changes, including the allowance for the costs 
associated with the PLC and the business acquired 
from OMWLA

•	 Tested the accuracy of management’s cost centres, 
ensuring that expenses are being allocated to the 
correct cost centre;

•	 Tested the allocations between in force and growth 
for each cost centre, including undertaking a number 
of walkthroughs with management to understand the 
judgements applied and assess the reasonableness 
of the allocations;

•	 Assessed management’s analysis of the movements 
in the IFRS expense provision over the year, and any 
validation carried out;  

•	 Performed independent testing to assess the 
appropriateness of the magnitude of the expense 
provision based on the methodology and 
assumptions we have reviewed; and

•	 Assessed the validity of the disclosures in the 
financial statements.

Based on the work performed and the evidence 
obtained, we consider the methodology and assumptions 
used to value the expense reserves to be appropriate.



ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019

36

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investments, in particular hard to value 
assets (Group)
Refer to note 1 to the financial statements for the 
directors’ disclosure of the basis of preparation and use 
of estimates, note 2 for related accounting policies and 
further information on judgements and estimates related 
to the investments; and note 20 for the relevant 
disclosure over the financial statement line item. 

The Group’s financial investments enable it to support its 
insurance liabilities and meet regulatory capital 
requirements, as well as providing returns for 
shareholders.

In the instances where financial investments are hard to 
value, some are priced by reference to market data and/
or valuation models and vary in complexity depending on 
the nature of the investments. Investments that are hard 
to value and require the use of significant judgement 
include:

•	 Infrastructure debt;
•	 Corporate mortgage loans; and
•	 Illiquid debt securities.

The key assumptions used in the valuation models 
reflect observable data such as forward interest rates, 
foreign exchange rates, forward inflation rates, risk free 
market yields and other unobservable inputs such as 
future cash flows.

In the course of our work, we have:

•	 Assessed both the methodology and assumptions 
used by management in the calculation of our 
selections for the year end values as well as testing 
the governance controls that the Group has in place 
to monitor these processes. We did not identify any 
control deficiencies.

•	 The Independent Pricing Verification (IPV) committee 
are responsible for reviewing the pricing of these 
investments. We have tested the review process and 
performed testing to ensure that decisions made by 
the IPV were reconciled to what is included within 
the financial statements.

•	 In addition, we have performed independent 
valuations over a sample to ensure that the 
models and methodologies used by management 
are appropriate. This includes specific testing over 
the inputs, judgements and assumptions that are 
used in the valuations to ensure that these are 
reasonable and appropriate. For example, we have 
compared investments to independent holdings 
reports for infrastructure debt and commercial 
mortgage loans and recalculated amortised cost 
where appropriate.

We did not identify any material exceptions in our testing 
of these investments or the comparison of different 
estimates of the prices.

HOW WE TAILORED THE AUDIT SCOPE
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the parent company, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the industry in which they operate.

We concluded that the following components required a full scope audit as a part of our scoping assessment: 
•	 ReAssure Group plc; 
•	 ReAssure Midco Limited; 
•	 ReAssure Limited; 
•	 ARK Life Assurance Co; and
•	 Consolidation Adjustments

In addition, specific financial statement line items for other subsidiaries were concluded to be material and required 
audit procedures. 

As the Group audit team, we determined the level of involvement required at those components to be able to conclude 
whether sufficient and appropriate audit evidence had been obtained as a basis for our opinion on the consolidated 
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financial statements as a whole. In our role as Group auditors, we exercised oversight of the work performed by 
auditors of the components including performing the following procedures: 

•	 Maintained an active dialogue with reporting component audit teams throughout the year; and 
•	 Visited all in-scope components and undertook a detailed review of audit working papers.

MATERIALITY
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and 
in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Parent company financial 
statements

Overall materiality £45,400,000 (2018: £50,500,000). £39,800,000 (2018: N/A).

How we determined it 2% of net assets. (2018: 1.8% of net 
assets).

2% of net assets.

Rationale for benchmark applied When analysing the facts and 
circumstances specific to ReAssure 
Group plc, we used our professional 
judgement, considering the 
reasonableness of the overall 
materiality in relation to the Key 
Performance Indicator metrics 
including total assets, net assets and 
profit over time. We believe that net 
assets is the primary measure used by 
both policyholders and shareholders in 
assessing the performance of the 
entity, and is a generally accepted 
auditing benchmarking.

When analysing the facts and 
circumstances specific to ReAssure 
Group plc (parent company only), 
we used our professional judgement, 
considering the reasonableness of the 
overall materiality in relation to the Key 
Performance Indicator metrics 
including total assets, net assets and 
profit over time. We believe that net 
assets is the primary measure used by 
both policyholders and shareholders in 
assessing the performance of the 
entity, and is a generally accepted 
auditing benchmarking.

For each component in the scope of our group audit, we allocated a materiality that is less than our overall group 
materiality. The range of materiality allocated across components was between £28,600,000 - £43,130,000. Certain 
components were audited to a local statutory audit materiality that was also less than our overall group materiality.
We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above 
£2,270,000 (Group audit) (2018: £2,525,000) and £1,900,000 (Parent company audit) (2018: N/A) as well as 
misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN
ISAs (UK) require us to report to you when: 
•	 the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 

appropriate; or 
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•	 the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for 
issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

REPORTING ON OTHER INFORMATION 
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our 
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the 
extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material 
inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material 
misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Report of the Directors, we also considered whether the disclosures required 
by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.  

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) require 
us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

STRATEGIC REPORT AND REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report 
and Report of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2019 is consistent with the financial statements and has 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and parent company and their environment obtained in the 
course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Report of the Directors.

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
THE AUDIT
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 29, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent 
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company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

USE OF THIS REPORT
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the parent company’s members as a body in 
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these 
opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or 
into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

OTHER REQUIRED REPORTING
COMPANIES ACT 2006 EXCEPTION REPORTING
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 

not been received from branches not visited by us; or
•	 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
•	 the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

APPOINTMENT
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the directors on 27 August 2019 to audit 
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total 
uninterrupted engagement is 1 year, covering the year ended 31 December 2019.

Philip Watson (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London
25 March 2020

pwatson022
Stamp
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
For the year ended 31 December 

Note 

2019 
£m 

2018 
(restated*) 

£m 
Revenue 
Gross premiums written 6 447.4 480.3 
Less: premiums ceded to reinsurers 6 (394.5) (403.1) 
Net premium revenue 52.9 77.2 

Revenue from other activities  7 210.4 211.4 
Investment income/(expense) 8 5,214.5 (1,199.4) 
Other Income 9 5.3 7.0 
Net income/(expense) 5,483.1 (903.8) 

Expenses 
Policyholder claims 10 (1,950.3) (2,101.3) 
Less: claims recovered from reinsurers 10 437.7 462.1 
Change in insurance contract liabilities (219.8) 2,089.7 
Change in investment contract liabilities without DPF (2,763.7) 825.8 
Change in investment contract liabilities with DPF (139.1) 254.8 
Change in reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 84.4 (131.3) 
Transfer to unallocated divisible surplus (14.0) 26.0 
Net policyholder claims and benefits incurred (4,564.8) 1,425.8 

Administration Expenses 11 (489.9) (410.0) 
Total (expense)/income (5,054.7) 1,015.8 

Profit before finance costs and tax 428.4 112.0 
Finance costs 12 (42.1) (7.0) 
Profit before Tax 386.3 105.0 

Tax credit attributable to policyholders’ returns 15 (55.5) 9.1 
Profit before tax attributable to the shareholders 330.8 114.1 

Tax charge on profit for the year 15 (117.3) (13.0) 
Less: tax attributable to policyholders’ returns 15 55.5 (9.1) 
Tax attributable to the shareholders (61.8) (22.1) 
Profit for the year 269.0 92.0 
Attributable to: 
Equity holders 269.0 92.0 

All results derive from continuing operations 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

Earnings per share 40 
From continuing operations: 
Basic and diluted (pence per share) 26.90 9.20 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 31 December 

Note 

2019 
£m 

2018 
(restated*) 

£m 

Profit for the year 269.0 92.0 

Other comprehensive (expense)/income: 

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (11.3) 2.4 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Actuarial (loss)/gain on defined benefit pension schemes 30 (16.0) 23.4 
Owner-occupied land & buildings revaluation 18 0.2 0.3 
Movement in related deferred tax  4.4 (11.7) 
Total other comprehensive (expense)/income (22.7) 14.4 
Total comprehensive income for the year 246.3 106.4 
Attributable to: 
Equity holders 246.3 106.4 

All results derive from continuing operations 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 December 

Assets 

Note 2019 
£m 

2018 
(restated*) 

£m 
Acquired value of in force business 16 556.6 435.7 
Goodwill 16 4.8 - 
Deferred acquisition costs 17 516.5 590.9 
Property, plant and equipment 18 17.4 17.8 
Investment property 19 715.4 858.7 
Financial investments: 20 

Debt securities 19,617.7 19,989.2 
Equity securities 14,578.3 13,195.8 
Loans 1,122.3 732.2 
Collective investment schemes 13,764.4 4,623.3 

Derivative assets 21 53.1 13.7 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 26 2,395.6 1,764.3 
Reinsurers’ share of investment contract liabilities 26 729.4 - 
Reinsurance receivables 103.6 86.8 
Insurance contract receivables 52.5 20.5 
Deferred tax asset 22 84.6 63.3 
Other financial assets  23 504.0 405.3 
Net pension surplus 30 0.7 15.1 
Other assets 24 95.3 104.7 
Current income tax receivable - 14.8
Cash and cash equivalents 25 1,976.9 1,347.9
Total assets 56,889.1 44,280.0 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued) 
As at 31 December 

Liabilities 
Insurance contract liabilities: 

Liabilities under insurance contracts 26 22,272.4 21,141.0 
Unallocated divisible surplus 160.6 146.6 

Investment contract liabilities: 27 
Liabilities without DPF 27,630.9 17,384.3 
Liabilities with DPF 2,307.5 2,168.4 

Borrowings  28 974.6 - 
Deposits received from reinsurers 99.9 103.9 
Provisions 29 38.9 20.4 
Derivative liabilities 21 122.0 113.0 
Reinsurance payables 56.2 49.2 
Payables related to direct insurance contracts 45.0 28.5 
Claims outstanding 345.2 254.9 
Deferred tax liability 22 96.7 5.9 
Current tax liability 55.8 49.5 
Other financial liabilities  31 407.8 302.3 
Net pension deficit 30 2.0 1.8 
Other liabilities  32 49.6 13.6 
Total liabilities 54,665.1 41,783.3 
Equity 
Share capital 33 100.0 73.1 
Share premium 34 - 83.9
Merger reserve 35 57.0 - 
Other reserves 36 1,363.3 1,364.7 
Retained Earnings 37 703.7 975.0 
Total equity 2,224.0 2,496.7 
Total liabilities and equity 56,889.1 44,280.0 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

The financial statements on pages 40 to 182 were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by: 

Ian Patrick 
Director 
25 March 2020 

Mobile User
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 

Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Merger 
reserve 

Owner-
occupied 
property 

revaluation 
reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Capital 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
As at 1 January 2019 73.1 83.9 - 0.7 3.2 1,360.8 975.0 2,496.7 

Profit for the financial 
year 

- - - - - - 269.0 269.0 

Other comprehensive 
income for the year 

- - - 0.2 (1.6) - (21.3) (22.7) 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year 

- - - 0.2 (1.6) - 247.7 246.3 

Capital reorganisation 26.9 (83.9) 57.0 - - - - - 
Dividends paid during 
the year 

- - - - - - (519.0) (519.0) 

As at 31 December 
2019 

100.0 - 57.0 0.9 1.6 1,360.8 703.7 2,224.0 

For the year ended 31 December 2018 (restated*) 

Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Merger 
reserve  

Owner-
occupied 
property 

revaluation 
reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Capital 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
As at 1 January 2018 as 
previously presented 

73.1 83.9 - 0.3 3.0 1,360.8 1,785.5 3,306.6 

Impact of prior year 
restatement* 

- - - 0.1 - - 4.6 4.7 

As at 1 January 2018 
(restated*) 

73.1 83.9 - 0.4 3.0 1,360.8 1,790.1 3,311.3 

Profit for the financial 
year 

- - - - - - 92.0 92.0 

Other comprehensive 
income for the year 

- - - 0.3 0.2 - 13.9 14.4 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year 

- - - 0.3 0.2 - 105.9 106.4 

Dividends paid during 
the year 

- - - - - - (921.0) (921.0) 

As at 31 December 
2018 (restated*) 

73.1 83.9 - 0.7 3.2 1,360.8 975.0 2,496.7 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
For the year ended 31 December 

Note 

2019 
£m 

2018 
(restated*) 

£m 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Cash from operating activities  41 475.8 404.1 
Interest paid (0.4) - 
Taxation paid (71.1) (188.7) 
Net cash from operating activities 404.3 215.4 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (0.4) (4.4) 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0.1 2.7 
Acquisition of subsidiary (187.8) - 
Net cash used in investing activities (188.1) (1.7) 

Net cash used in financing activities 
Dividends paid to company’s shareholders (519.0) (921.0) 
New borrowings drawn down 970.0 - 
Interest paid on subordinated debt (26.9) - 
Principle lease payments  (1.4) - 
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 422.7 (921.0) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 638.9 (707.3) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,347.9 2,052.5 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents (9.9) 2.7 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1,976.9 1,347.9 



48 

ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 

1. Accounting Policies

1.1 Basis of preparation 

Reassure Group plc (‘the Company’), a public company limited by shares incorporated and domiciled in the United 
Kingdom, together with its subsidiaries (collectively ‘the Group’) is a major life and pensions consolidator in the UK 
market.  

The Company is registered in England and Wales and its Company Registration Number is 11597179. The 
Company’s registered address is Windsor House, Telford Centre, Telford, Shropshire, England, TFϯ ϰNB. 

The Company was incorporated on 1 October 2018 as Challengecove Limited, with an issued and fully paid-up share 
capital of 1 ordinary share of £1. On 17 October 2018, the Company changed its name to ReAssure Group Holdings 
Limited. On 21 February 2019, the Company changed its name to ReAssure Group Limited. On 4 June 2019, the 
Company re-registered as a public company called ReAssure Group Plc. 

On ϵ May ϮϬϭϵ, the Company acquired the entire share capital of ReAssure Midco Limited (“RML”) from Swiss Re 
ReAssure Midco Limited (“SRRML”), settled by newly issued share capital of the Company given in exchange for 
the share capital of RML. 

This transaction has been accounted for as a capital reorganisation and in substance these Consolidated Financial 
Statements reflect the continuation of the pre-existing group headed by RML.  The comparatives presented in 
these financial statements are the consolidated results of RML and the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position in the prior year reflects the share capital structure of that group.  The current year Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position reflects the share capital structure of ReAssure Group plc.  Changes to the equity 
of the Group resulting from this capital reorganisation are presented in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in 
Equity. 

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by the European Union (EU), and those parts of the 
Companies Act 2006 applicable to those reporting under IFRS. The Consolidated Financial Statements also comply 
with interpretations by the IFRS Interpretations Committee as issued by the IASB and as adopted by the European 
Union. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared under the historic cost convention, as modified 
for certain properties, financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value; insurance and 
reinsurance contract assets and liabilities that are measured based on the present value of future cash flows; defined 
benefit assets and liabilities that are recognised as the fair value of plan assets, less the present value of the defined 
benefit obligations; and impaired non-financial assets that are measured at the higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair 
value of consideration given in exchange for goods and services. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account those characteristics of the asset or liability that market participants would take into account when 
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.   
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.2 Going concern 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. In assessing whether the Group is a going 
concern the directors have taken into account the guidance issued by the Financial Reporting Council in April 2016. 
The Group successfully delivered its growth focused business plan over the past 12 months. The directors have, at 
the time of approving the Consolidated Financial Statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and the 
Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. The accounting policies have been consistently 
applied to all years presented unless otherwise stated. 

1.3 New standards, amendments and policies 

1.3.1  Not yet adopted by the group 

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective and 
in some cases have not yet been adopted by the EU: IFRS ϵ ‘Financial Instruments’; and IFRS ϭϳ ‘Insurance 
Contracts’. 

IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments͛ 

IFRS ϵ 'Financial Instruments’ addresses the classification, measurement and recognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities. The Group applies the temporary exemption from IFRS 9, as defined in the amendment 
“Applying IFRS ϵ Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – IFRS ϰ amendments” issued by the IASB 
in September 2016. This amendment allows an entity to defer the implementation of IFRS 9 if its activities are 
predominantly connected with insurance. 

The Group qualifies for the temporary exemption from IFRS 9 because the carrying amount of its gross liabilities 
arising from contracts within the scope of IFRS ϰ is significant compared to its total liabilities, and the Group’s 
percentage of its gross liabilities from contracts connected with insurance relative to its total liabilities at 31 
December 2015, the date at which the assessment was required, was 98%, which is in excess of the 90% threshold 
required by IFRS 4. Liabilities connected with insurance comprised liabilities arising from contracts within the scope 
of IFRS 4 of £13,273.6 million; liabilities from non-derivative investment contracts measured as at Fair Value 
Through Profit or Loss (‘FVTPL’) of £ϭϰ,ϲϮϳ.ϴ million and other liabilities that arise as the insurer fulfils obligations 
arising from contracts within the scope of IFRS 4 and non-derivative investment contract liabilities measured at 
FVTPL (e.g. liabilities for other payables directly associated with those obligations) of £352.4 million. 

There has been no significant change in activities of the Group that requires reassessment of the use of the 
temporary exemption from IFRS 9 since 31 December 2015. During the period the company acquired Old Mutual 
Wealth Life Assurance Limited and indirectly its subsidiary, Old Mutual Wealth Pensions Trustees Limited 
(collectively referred to as “Old Mutual Wealth”), this did not result in a significant change in activity. Refer to note 
20a for the disclosures required when deferring IFRS 9. It is anticipated that the Group will continue to apply IAS 
ϯϵ ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ in its financial statements until the reporting period 
beginning on 1 January 2023. 
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1.3  New standards, amendments and policies (continued) 
 

IFRS ϭϳ  ͚IŶƐƵƌaŶce CŽŶƚƌacƚƐ͛ 

In May ϮϬϭϳ, the IASB issued IFRS ϭϳ ‘Insurance Contracts’ to replace IFRS ϰ ‘Insurance Contracts’. The standard 
has not yet been endorsed for use in the EU. In 2020 the IASB decided to defer the effective date of IFRS 17 by one 
year to reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. At the same time, the IASB also agreed an 
amendment to IFRS 4 to allow insurers qualifying for deferral of IFRS 9 one additional year of deferral. This would 
mean that qualifying insurers could apply both standards for the first time to reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2023.  IFRS 17 is expected to significantly change the way the Group measures and reports its 
insurance and reinsurance contracts, and investment contracts with discretionary participation features (“DPF”). 

The consequences of IFRS 17 are to bring in a single accounting approach to: 

x Provide up-to-date market consistent information of obligations including the value of options and
guarantees;

x Reflect the time value of money;
x Reflect the characteristics of the insurance contract rather than the risk related to investment activity;
x Treat services provided by underwriting activity as revenue and expenses in a comparable manner to

other non-insurance business; and
x Provide separate information about the investment and underwriting performance.

These changes will impact profit emergence patterns and add complexity to valuation processes, data 
requirements and assumption setting. As a consequence, during 2017 the Group commenced a project to define 
new accounting policies and to deliver the process and system changes necessary to enable the successful 
implementation of IFRS 17. Implementation activities will continue through to the expected effective date of 1 
January 2023. 

1.3.2  Adopted by the group 

IFRS 16 ͚Leases͛ 

IFRS ϭϲ ‘Leases’ addresses the definition of a lease, recognition and measurement of leases and establishes 
principles for reporting useful information to users of financial statements  about the leasing activities of both 
lessees and lessors. A key change arising from IFRS 16 is that most operating leases will be accounted for on the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position for lessees. The standard replaces IAS ϭϳ ‘Leases’ and related 
interpretations. The standard has been retrospectively adopted in full. 

The impact of adopting IFRS 16, on the financial statements  of the Group, is disclosed in notes 18 (Property, 
Plant and Equipment) and 46 (Leases). The standard was fully retrospectively adopted and as such there has 
been no IFRS 16 related adjustment made to opening retained earnings within the periods reported in these 
financial statements . Due to the limited impact of implementing the standard on the financial position of the 
group and company, no transition accounting has been deemed necessary. Full disclosure of right of use asset 
accounting has been included within note 46. 
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1.4 Basis of consolidation 

The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The Group controls an 
entity where the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date 
that control ceases. 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over the 
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the 
investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the 
Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 

x The size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other
vote holders;

x Potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties;
x Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
x Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Consolidated Income 
Statement from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Group and 
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to any non-controlling interests even if this results in any non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.  

Where the Group is considered to control an investment vehicle, such as a unit trust or a limited partnership, and 
it is therefore consolidated, the interests of parties other than the Group are assessed to determine whether they 
should be classed as liabilities or as non-controlling interests. The liabilities are recognised within Other Liabilities 
within the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and any movements are recognised in the Consolidated 
Income Statement. The liability is designated at fair value through profit or loss as it is directly linked to the market 
value of the underlying portfolio of assets. The interests of parties other than the Group is all other types of entities 
are recorded as non-controlling interests. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements  of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies 
used into line with the Group’s accounting policies. 

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the 
members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation. 
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1.5 Business combinations 
1.6

1.7

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration 
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of assets, liabilities and the equity interest issued in exchange for the control of the acquiree. 
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value 
at the acquisition date, except for deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee 
benefit arrangements which are recognised in accordance with IAS ϭϮ ‘Income Taxes’ and IAS ϭϵ ‘Employee 
Benefits’ respectively. 

Insurance and investment contracts, and any related intangible assets, are measured at fair value at the time of 
acquisition in accordance with the criteria at notes 1.24 and 1.25 below. 

1.6 Contract classifications 

The Group issues contracts that transfer insurance risk or financial risk or both. Contracts are classified as insurance 
contracts where the Group accepts significant insurance risk from the policyholder. As a general guideline, the 
Group defines significant insurance risk when at least one scenario with commercial substance can be identified in 
which the Group has to pay significant additional benefits to the policyholder. 

Contracts held by the Group under which it transfers significant insurance risk, related to insurance contracts that 
it issues, are classified as outward reinsurance contracts. Note 1.26 details the Group’s accounting policy in relation 
to reinsurance contracts. 

Contracts that transfer financial risk only or under which the transfer of insurance risk to the Group from the 
policyholder is not significant are classified as investment contracts. 

The majority of the investment contracts issued by the Group are unit linked investment contracts. Unit linked 
investment contracts are separated into two components, a financial liability (investment contract without DPF) 
and an investment management service contract. All fees charged to policyholders and costs incurred in originating 
and managing these contracts are attributed to the investment management services contract. Refer to note 1.25 
for the Group’s accounting policy in relation to investment contracts. 

With-profits contracts issued by the Group are insurance contracts or investment contracts that contain a 
discretionary participation feature (“DPF”). This feature entitles the policyholder to additional discretionary 
benefits as a supplement to guaranteed benefits. Investment contracts with DPF are recognised and measured as 
insurance contracts in accordance with IFRS ϰ ‘Insurance Contracts’. The Group has opted to present Investment 
Contracts with DPF together with other investment contracts on the SOFP. However, these contracts are accounted 
for in accordance with the insurance contract accounting policies of the Group as detailed at note 1.24 below.  

The Group's long-term business is divided into six sub-funds: the National Mutual With Profit Fund (“NMWPF”), 
the Windsor Life With Profit Fund (“WLWPF”), the Guardian With Profit Fund (“GAWPF”), the ReAssure Limited 
(“RAL”) non-profit fund (“NPF”),the Ark non-profit fund ("Ark NPF") and the Old Mutual Wealth non-profit fund 
(“OMW NPF”). The NMWPF, WLWPF and GAWPF contain with-profits business but also hold a small amount of 
non-profit business. The GAWPF also contains some unit-linked business. The RAL, Ark and OMW NPFs comprise 
unit-linked insurance and investment contracts as well as non-linked insurance (primarily annuities and income 
protection claims in payment) and investment contracts. All funds are closed to new business, with the exception 
of a small number of increases to existing policies. 
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1.7 Premiums 

Regular premiums for insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF are accounted for when due for 
payment. Single premiums, including consideration for pensions vested into annuity contracts, are recognised from 
the date from which the policy is effective. Amounts are presented before deductions for commission. 

1.8 Revenue from other activities 

The amount of revenue recognised depends on whether the Group acts as an agent or as a principal. The Group acts 
as principal when the Group controls the specified good or service prior to transfer, in all other circumstances the 
Group acts as an agent. Revenue where the Group acts as a principal is recognised gross, and net where the Group 
acts as an agent. 

The Group does not tend to incur any costs that are relevant for capitalisation. 

 

1.8.1  Other investment contract fee revenue 

Investment contract policyholders are charged fees for policy administration, investment management, surrenders 
or other contract services. Fees for policy administration and investment management are calculated and 
recognised on a daily basis as the services are provided, based on a percentage of the fund value. Fees related to 
investment management services and for other fees are recognised as revenue over time, as performance 
obligations are satisfied.   

Performance fees or any other variable considerations are not recognised as revenue until it is reasonably certain 
that no reversal of amounts would occur.  

For unit linked investment contracts subject to actuarial funding, the difference between the gross value of the 
units notionally allocated to policyholders and the funded value (i.e. the amount included in the measurement of 
the investment contract) is treated as a non-refundable up-front fee giving material rights for future administration 
and investment management services and are recognised as revenue over the period that the policyholder is 
expected to receive those services.  All fees are deducted from the policyholders’ account balances. 

Other investment contract fee revenue is recognised gross of investment management expenses as the Group 
controls the investment funds received from policyholders, determines investment strategies and are responsible 
to policyholders for the satisfactory provision of the service in line with contract terms. 

1.8.2  Third party administration revenue 

The Group earns third party income principally in relation to third party administration (“TPA”) contracts. Third 
party administration services include, but are not limited to, sales administration, policy servicing and alterations, 
policyholder communications and document services, cash and banking services on behalf of the third party, IT 
services and claims handling. All services provided are highly interrelated and charged for under one management 
charge per policy. Revenue generated from TPA contracts is recognised over time as the services are performed 
and the contract obligations are fulfilled. Invoices are prepared monthly based on rate tables and the number of 
in-force policies as specified in the contracts. The consideration due for each period that is invoiced can vary based 
on the services provided and number of in-force policies.  There are no assets or liabilities recognised from the 
costs to obtain, or fulfil the contract. 
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1.9 Investment income 

Investment income comprises interest income on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss, 
net gains or losses on financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss, net gains or losses on 
derivatives, net impairment losses on loans and receivables, lease income and fair value gains and losses on 
investment properties, and net foreign exchange gains and losses. 

1.9.1  Interest income on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss 

 

Interest on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss is recognised as it accrues and is 
calculated using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is defined as the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument (or, 
when appropriate, a shorter period) to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. Fees and 
commissions that are an integral part of the effective yield of the financial assets or liabilities are recognised as an 
adjustment to the effective interest rate of the instrument. 

1.9.2  Net gains and losses on financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss and derivatives 

Net gains and losses on financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss and derivatives comprise 
realised and unrealised gains and losses, foreign exchange gains and losses, interest and dividends receivable. 

1.9.3  Net impairment losses on loans and receivables 

Net impairment losses on loans and receivables comprises impairment losses recognised and reversals of 
impairment losses recognised in accordance with the accounting policy in note 1.22.4. 

1.9.4  Lease income and fair value gains and losses on investment properties 

Fair value gains and losses on investment property are changes in the fair value of investment property. Refer to 
note ϭ.ϭϬ.ϭ for the Group’s lease income accounting policy. 

1.9.5  Net foreign exchange gains and losses 

Net foreign exchange gains and losses are the gains and losses arising on the translation of foreign currency 
monetary assets and liabilities into the respective functional currencies of group entities, other than those arising 
on financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

1.10  Leases 

IFRS ϭϲ ‘Leases’ addresses the definition, recognition and measurement of leases and establishes principles for 
reporting useful information to users of financial statements  about the leasing activities of both lessees and lessors. 
A key change arising from IFRS 16 is that most operating leases are now accounted for on the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position for lessees. The standard replaces IAS ϭϳ ‘Leases’, and related interpretations.  

The Group, under its previous parent, RML, early adopted IFRS 16 and applied the standard for the 2017 and 2018 
reporting periods. Hence, there is no transition note included within these financial statements.  
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At the inception of a contract the Group assesses whether a contract is a lease, or contains a lease. A contract is a 
lease, or contains a lease, if it involves the use of an identified asset and conveys the right to control the use of the 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

1.10.1  The Group as a lessor 

The Group classifies all leases for which it is a lessor as operating leases, because none of the leases held were 
found to transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the underlying asset. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

1.10.2  The Group as a lessee 

At lease inception date a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability are recognised. The right-of-use asset 
is initially measured at cost, at an amount equal to the present value of the minimum lease payments. The lease 
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the Group would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary 
to obtain an asset of a similar value in a similar economic environment, with similar terms and conditions. The 
Group’s weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is shown within note 46 to the 
financial statements . 

Subsequent to initial recognition, right-of-use assets are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment.  

Subsequent to initial recognition the lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Lease payments are allocated to the lease liability, split between repayments of principle and interest. A 
finance cost is charged to the profit and loss so as to produce a constant period rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the lease liability. The principle lease payments are classified as part of financing activities within the 
statement of cash flows. 

Modifications to leases are accounted for as a separate lease where the modification increases the scope of the 
lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets, and the consideration of the lease increases in line 
with the price of the additional underlying assets. For all other lease modifications, the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset and of the lease liability is remeasured to reflect the modifications. 

For leases with a term of 12 months or less, or for low value assets, the lease expense is charged to the 
Consolidated Income Statement on a straight line basis. The Group does not have any significant leases which 
qualify for the short term leases or leases of low-value assets exemptions. 

1.11 Foreign currencies 

1.11.1  Functional and presentational currency 

Items included in the financial statements  of each of the Group entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The Consolidated 
Financial Statements are presented in millions of £ sterling, which is the Group’s presentation and functional 
currency.  
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The assets and liabilities of Ark Life Assurance Company DAC (“Ark Life”), the Group’s only foreign operation, are
translated into the Group’s presentational currency at the reporting date exchange rate. The income and expenses of
Ark Life are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. Foreign currency differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety, or partially such that the Group loses control, the cumulative
amount in the translation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

1.11.2  Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group companies at 
the exchange rates at the date of the transactions.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using 
the closing rate. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. 

1.12 Gross benefits and claims paid 

 

Gross benefits and claims paid include internal and external claims handling costs that are directly related to the 
processing and settlement of claims. 

Maturity claims and annuities are accounted for when due for payment. Surrenders are accounted for when paid 
or, if earlier, on the date when the policy ceases to be included within the calculation of insurance and investment 
contracts with DPF liabilities. Death claims and all other claims are accounted for when notified. 

Reinsurance recoveries are accounted for in the same year as the related claim. 

1.13 Terminal and reversionary bonuses 

Bonuses charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in a given year comprise: 

x New reversionary bonuses declared in respect of that year which are provided within the calculation of
the with-profits investment contract liabilities; and

x Terminal bonuses paid out to policyholders on termination of policy.

Terminal bonuses are included in the cost of claims. 

1.14 Retirement benefits 

The Group operates one defined benefit pension scheme, the ReAssure Staff Pension Scheme, which is closed to 
future accruals. It also operates an unfunded, unapproved retirement benefit scheme or private retirement trust 
for one deferred member. 

The Group follows the provisions on IAS ϭϵ ‘Employee Benefits’ in accounting for these schemes. The cost of 
providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit valuation method.      
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The net defined benefit surplus or deficit comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation (using a
discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds) less the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations
are to be settled. Plan assets are held by a separately administered fund and are not available to the Group, nor
can they be paid directly to the Group. Fair value is based on market price information and in the case of quoted
securities or investment vehicles it is the published price.

A finance charge (or credit) is determined on the net defined benefit pension position. The operating and financing
costs of such plans are recognised separately in the Consolidated Income Statement; service costs are spread
systematically over the lives of employees; and certain liability management costs and financing costs are
recognised in the periods in which they arise. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Group operates a defined contribution Group Personal Plan (GPP) which is open to all employees. All costs for
the scheme are charged in full to the Consolidated Income Statement as they arise.

1.15 Current income tax 

Current income tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, 
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. Current tax also includes taxes 
deducted from policyholders (in respect of the life insurance business) and paid to Her Majesty’s Revenue and 
Customs (HMRC) in accordance with the UK tax regime for life insurance companies. 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities or, paid to or recovered from other companies in respect of group relief surrendered or 
received.  The tax rates and laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted 
by the period end date.      

Current tax is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement unless it relates to items which are recognised in 
other comprehensive income, or charged or credited directly in equity. 

IFRIC 23 was introduced with effect from 1 January 2019 and provides guidance in circumstances where there is 
uncertainty over income tax treatment under IAS 12. The introduction of this guidance has not had a material 
impact on the financial statements  of the Group. The Group has an ongoing tax dispute with HMRC in relation to 
the tax treatment of an asset formerly held by Guardian Assurance Limited (before the business was transferred 
to ReAssure Limited). The current tax liability includes an accrual for the total tax under dispute involved plus 
interest on the basis that there is sufficient risk that the Group’s tax treatment will not be accepted. The accrual 
held in relation to this item has been reviewed in light of the introduction of IFRIC 23 however, no changes were 
required to be made. 

1.16 Deferred income tax 

Deferred income taxes are accounted for using the balance sheet liability method, whereby tax expected to be 
payable or recoverable is calculated on temporary differences arising between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts calculated for taxation purposes in accordance with the 
relevant tax authority regulations. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except when the 
deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss. 
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Deferred tax is also recognised in respect of unused capital losses and losses that arise under the UK's regime for
taxation of life insurance companies to the extent it is probable that future taxable profits will arise against which
the losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax is also recognised in relation to losses arising from the change of taxation rules in 2013 for UK life
insurance companies and policyholder unrealised equity gains. A full breakdown of the deferred income taxes is
shown in note 22.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each period end date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each period end date and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to
be recovered

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability settled, based on tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or are substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is charged or credited to the Consolidated Income Statement, except when it relates to items which
are recognised in other comprehensive income, or charged or credited directly to equity.

1.17 Shareholder and policyholder taxes 

In addition to paying tax on shareholders’ profits, the Group’s life business is subject to corporate income tax on 
policyholders’ investment returns on certain products (together “shareholder tax”).   

Additionally, the Group's business is subject to tax specifically borne by its policyholders such as foreign 
withholding tax ('policyholder tax'). The total tax charge in the Consolidated Income Statement is allocated 
between shareholder tax and policyholder tax.  The total tax is calculated by applying the corporate tax rate to the 
Group's profit before tax and calculating the tax charge based on that amount, including the income tax arising on 
policyholders' investment returns and any other items not subject to tax and adjustments to prior periods. The 
difference between the total tax charge and shareholder tax is allocated to policyholder tax. This calculation 
methodology is consistent with the legislation relating to the calculation of tax on shareholder profits. The Group 
has decided to show separately the amounts of policyholder tax to provide a meaningful measure of the tax the 
Group pays on its profit.  

1.18 Property, plant and equipment 
1.19
1.20All property and equipment is initially recognised at cost. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, owner-occupied land and buildings are measured at fair value on the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Fair value is determined annually by independent professional 
valuers, who are members of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, and is based on market evidence. An 
increase in fair value is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the revaluation reserve, 
except to the extent that it is the reversal of a previous revaluation decrease which was recognised in the 
Consolidated Income Statement. A decrease in fair value is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income 
Statement, except to the extent that it reverses a previous revaluation surplus recognised in other comprehensive 
income. Land is not depreciated. No depreciation is provided on owner-occupied buildings as such depreciation 
would be immaterial.      
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Subsequent to initial recognition, other property, plant and equipment, including right of use assets, is stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is provided at rates
calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, of each asset on a straight line basis over its expected
useful life as follows:

Land and buildings (right of use)        Over the life of the lease 
Computer equipment   Between 3-5 years    
Fixtures, fittings and office equipment Between 3-5 years 

1.18.1  Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, other than owner-occupied property measured at fair 
value, is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any evidence of impairment. If any 
indication of impairment exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. For impairment testing, assets are 
grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of cash inflows or outflows or other assets or cash-generating units (“CGU”).      

The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less the costs of 
disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.   

An impairment loss is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU 
exceeds its recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 

1.19  Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of customer-related intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, other than owner-
occupied property measured at fair value, is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
evidence of impairment. If any indication of impairment exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. For 
impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows from 
continuing use that are largely independent of cash inflows or outflows or other assets or cash-generating units 
(“CGU”).      

The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less the costs of 
disposal. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.   

An impairment loss is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU 
exceeds its recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 
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1.20  Investment property 

Investment property, which is property held to earn rentals and/or capital appreciation is initially measured at cost 
and subsequently at fair value. 

Land and buildings owned by the Group are valued annually at open market value as determined by independent 
professional advisers. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment property are recognised 
in the Consolidated Income Statement and presented in investment income in the period in which they arise. 

Included within investment property is land and buildings which are subject to an in-force policy, under an equity 
release income plan. These are valued on a reversionary basis. The reversionary basis represents the Group’s best 
estimate of the fair value having regard to the policyholders’ lifetime lease. Further details of the valuation 
methodology for these assets are included in note 19. The fair value of properties that are no longer subject to an 
in-force policy are measured on an open market basis. 

1.21  Intangible assets 

1.21.1  Acquired value of in-force business 

Insurance and investment contracts acquired in a business combination are measured at fair value at the time of 
acquisition. 

When a portfolio of insurance and investment contracts is acquired directly from another insurance company, the 
difference between the fair value of the insurance business at the time of acquisition, including contract based 
intangibles, and the net assets measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, is recorded as 
acquired present value of in–force business. The resulting intangible asset is referred to as the acquired value of 
in-force business (“AVIF”) and is carried gross of tax. 

In the event that the arrangement provides a negative AVIF, the respective fair value of assets acquired will be 
reassessed. If it is determined on completion of the reassessment that these items were measured correctly, then 
the excess is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement 

The asset is amortised on a systematic basis in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income over the 
anticipated unwind of the related contracts to reflect the emergence of economic benefits from the acquired 
contracts. 

 The intangible asset is derecognised when the related contracts are settled or disposed of. 

1.21.2  Deferred acquisition costs 

The incremental costs of acquiring new investment and insurance contracts which are incurred during a financial 
year but which relate to subsequent financial years, are deferred to the extent that they are recoverable out of 
future revenue margins. Such costs are disclosed as an asset in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.   

The rate of amortisation of the deferred acquisition cost (“DAC”) asset is consistent with a prudent assessment of 
the expected pattern of receipt of the future revenue margins over the period the relevant contracts are expected 
to remain in force. 
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1.21.3  Goodwill 

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Goodwill represents the difference 
between the cost of the acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill is measured 
on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses and is not amortised. 

In certain acquisitions, an excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities, contingent liabilities and non-controlling interests over cost may arise. Where this occurs, the surplus of 
the fair value of net assets acquired over the fair value of the consideration is recognised in the Consolidated 
Income Statement. 

1.21.4  Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill 

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal (its net selling price) and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely independent cash inflows (cash-
generating units). Prior impairments of intangible assets with finite useful life are reviewed for possible reversal at 
each reporting date. 

For AVIF, the carrying value of the asset is assessed annually using the Solvency II best estimate assumptions 
consistent with those used for associated insurance liabilities, in order to determine whether any impairment has 
arisen compared to the amortised acquired value based on assumptions made at the time of acquisition. Any 
impairment is recognised in full in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year it is identified. 
For AVIF where an impairment has previously been recognised, if, in future years, the recoverability of the AVIF 
asset had it not been impaired is now recoverable then the earlier impairment recognised would not be reversed. 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or when there is evidence of possible impairment. For impairment 
testing, goodwill is allocated to relevant cash generating units. Goodwill is impaired when the recoverable amount 
or value in use is less than the carrying value. 

1.22  Financial assets and financial liabilities 

1.22.1  Classification 

The classification of financial assets and financial liabilities determines the way in which they are measured and 
changes in those measurements are presented in the Consolidated Income Statement and Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. 

The Group’s financial assets, as presented in the Consolidated Statement Of Financial Position, comprise financial 
investments, derivative assets, other financial assets and cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s financial 
liabilities, as presented in the Consolidated Statement Of Financial Position, comprise investment contract 
liabilities, loans and borrowings, derivative financial liabilities, and other financial liabilities. 

The Group classifies financial assets as fair value through profit or loss or, as loans and receivables. Financial 
liabilities are classified as fair value through profit or loss or, measured at amortised cost.  
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Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise derivative assets or liabilities classified as
held for trading, and financial assets and liabilities designated as fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition.

The Group designates all financial investments, other than a small amount of loans, deferred acquisition costs,
investment contracts without DPF and deposits received from insurers as fair value through profit or loss, because
they are managed and their performance is evaluated by the Group on a fair value basis.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market, other than those that the Group designates at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.

1.22.2  Recognition and measurement on initial recognition 

The Group recognises deposits with credit institutions and loans and borrowings on the date that they originate. All 
other financial instruments (including regular way purchases and sales of financial investments) are recognised on 
the trade date i.e. the date the Group commits to purchase or sell the investments. Regular way purchases or sales 
of financial investments are those under a contract whose terms require the delivery of assets within the time frame 
established generally by regulation or convention in the market place concerned.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured initially at fair value plus, for a financial asset or financial liability 
not at fair value through profit and loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.   

1.22.3  Measurement subsequent to initial recognition 

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.  

Loans and receivables and other liabilities are measured at amortised cost. The effective interest method is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount 
on initial recognition. 

1.22.4  Impairment of financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of 
financial assets measured at amortised cost are impaired. A financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired 
and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 
events that have occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) 
has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably 
estimated.  

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually 
assessed financial asset, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment.  
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When an event occurring after an impairment loss was recognised causes the amount of the impairment loss to
decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

1.22.5  Derivative financial instruments 

The Group holds derivative financial instruments principally in connection with the management of its insurance 
contract and investment contract liabilities based on the principles of reduction of risk and efficient portfolio 
management. The Group does not typically hold derivatives for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near 
term or with the objective of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or margin. 

Derivatives are financial instruments whose value changes in response to an underlying variable, which require little 
or no net initial investment and are settled at a future date. Derivatives with positive values are reported as assets 
and derivatives with negative values are reported as liabilities.  

1.22.6  Collateral 

With the exception of cash collateral, assets received as collateral are not recognised in the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position unless the financial asset they secure is foreclosed.  When cash collateral is recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, a financial liability is established for the obligation to repay the cash. 
Cash pledged as collateral is derecognised from the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and a financial 
asset is established for the right to receive repayment until the liability covered is closed out. In the event that the 
Group defaults on its obligations under the relevant agreement, non-cash collateral pledged is de-recognised from 
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.   

1.22.7  Offsetting financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position when the Group has a 
legally enforceable right to offset and has the intention and ability to settle the asset and liability on a net basis or 
simultaneously. 

1.22.8  Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire, or it transfers 
the asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or when the Group has transferred the asset 
without transfer of substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, provided the other party can sell or pledge 
the asset. 

A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. On de-recognition, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in 
the Consolidated Income Statement as a realised gain or loss. 

1.23  Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, short-term deposits with an original maturity term of three 
months or less at the date of placement and other short-term highly liquid investments which are held for cash 
management purposes. The carrying amount of these assets approximates to their fair values.      



64 

ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019 

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash flows associated with the purchase and disposal of financial assets are categorised under operating activities,
as purchases are funded from cash flows originating from insurance and investment contracts, net of the cash flows
for related benefit and claim payments.

1.24 Insurance contracts 

1.24.1  Income statement recognition 

Insurance contract liabilities are recognised from the earlier of the date on which the contract becomes effective 
and the date on which the first premium becomes due. Insurance contract liabilities are derecognised when the 
contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled. 

1.24.2  Non-profit insurance contracts 

ReAssure Limited 
For non-profit insurance contracts, in-force business liabilities are determined using a gross premium valuation 
method, which entails projecting forward cash flows on a policy by policy basis. The liability is determined as the 
sum of the discounted value of the expected benefits, plus future administrative expenses directly related to the 
contract and investment expenses, less the discounted value of expected future premiums. The liabilities are based 
on demographic assumptions that are generally updated each year using recent experience and industry data (see 
note 26). For annuities, the assumptions are best estimate assumptions and the liabilities include an explicit margin 
for risk based on 6% cost of capital calculated under Solvency II Standard Formula. For other liabilities, each individual 
assumption includes a margin for risk and adverse deviation. 

Economic assumptions, required for future inflation of benefits and expenses and to derive the discount rates, are 
based on market data at the period end date. For annuities within the Matching Adjustment Fund, the discount rates 
are equal to the European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority (“EIOPA”) risk-free rates plus relevant 
Matching Adjustment rate, whilst annuities outside the Matching Adjustment Fund use the EIOPA risk-free rates. 
The Matching Adjustment is determined from the yield on the assets in the Matching Adjustment Fund allowing for 
deductions for credit risk, based directly on the Fundamental Spread information published by EIOPA. 

For income protection claims in payment, the liability is determined by projecting cash flows (with an allowance for 
prudence) and discounting them at a rate based on the yield available on the backing assets with a deduction for 
risk. 

For all other non-profit insurance policies, the liabilities are determined by projecting cash flows (with an allowance 
for prudence in the demographic assumptions) and discounting them using a rate based on the 15 year gilt yield. As 
the liabilities for insurance contracts are predominantly annuities in payment, the most material assumptions are 
the discount rate used to discount future annuity payments and annuitant mortality. 

Ark Life Assurance Company DAC 
The Ark Life insurance business non-linked actuarial liabilities are valued using a gross premium valuation method. 
The discount rates used are based on quoted Euro swap rates. 

Old Mutual Wealth 
The Old Mutual Wealth insurance business non-linked actuarial liabilities are valued using a gross premium valuation 
method. 
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1.24.3  Unit-linked contracts 

ReAssure Limited 
Unit-linked insurance contracts are measured at current unit values, which reflect the fair values of the assets of the 
underlying unit-linked funds. Current unit values are taken to be: 

x For contracts unit-linked to external unit trusts, the bid value of the units allocated to policies as at the 
valuation date; and

x For contracts unit-linked to internal funds, the value of the underlying assets as at the valuation date.

An additional reserve is held where, on a prudent basis, it is estimated the future cash outflows cannot be covered 
by future cash inflows. 

Ark Life Assurance Company DAC 
The Ark Life insurance business provisions for unit-linked business are valued by adding a prospective non-unit 
reserve to the bid value of units. The discount rates used are based on quoted Euro swap rates. 

Old Mutual Wealth 
The Old Mutual Wealth insurance business provisions for unit-linked business are valued by adding a prospective 
non-unit reserve to the bid value of units. 

1.24.4  With-profits contracts 

With-profits contract liabilities are measured using an approach that entails projecting forward expected cash flows 
using best estimate demographic assumptions, making full provision for the bonuses that are expected to be paid to 
policyholders in the future. 

The principal liabilities in respect of these contracts are asset shares, which are used to pay claims. Asset shares are 
compared to guaranteed benefits and hence used to set Terminal Bonus rates so that 100% of asset share is paid on 
average. Asset shares are derived by a retrospective calculation accumulating premiums, charges and other 
deductions and enhancements, as described in the Principles and Practices of Financial Management ("PPFM").   

Certain investment and insurance contracts contain a discretionary participating feature that gives the holder an 
entitlement to receive additional benefits or bonuses as a supplement to the guaranteed benefits. Applying these 
supplemental discretionary benefits is entirely at the discretion of the Group. 

1.24.4.1  Allocation of with-profit surpluses and unallocated divisible surplus 

A further liability arises in each of the with-profit funds through the intention to distribute all surplus assets to 
participating policyholders over time. These surplus assets are distributed via further enhancement of asset shares.  
The nature of these benefits is such that the amount of surpluses allocated to ordinary equity holders and 
participating policyholders is uncertain.  

The total liabilities of the relevant fund is set equal to its total assets, with the balancing liability being the available 
surplus at the reporting date.  The part of the available surplus that represents the present value of shareholder 
transfers is called the Unallocated Divisible Surplus (“UDS”).  The Group has elected to classify the UDS as an 
insurance contract liability in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  The remaining available surplus is 
allocated to ‘Liabilities under insurance contracts’ as planned surplus distributions for policyholders. 
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The amount of appropriated surplus released is determined by the Directors in accordance with the Articles of
Association and the PPFM. The surplus released is used to provide bonuses for with profit policyholders and the
corresponding shareholder transfers. For the WLWPF and GAWPF, which are 90:10 funds, 1/9th of the bonus
declared and paid in the year is allocated to the NPF.  It is then available for subsequent transfer to shareholders.
The NMWPF is a 100:0 fund.  As such, all the surplus arising in the NMWPF is retained for future bonus allocations
to policyholders.

1.24.4.2  NMWPF and WLWPF 

For the with profit policies in the NMWPF and WLWPF, the technical provisions have been calculated using an 
approach that provides in full for contractual obligations to pay future bonuses. An allowance has also been included 
for the cost of policy options and guarantees, using a stochastic economic model calibrated to market prices applied 
as at the valuation date. 

Risk-free rates are set equal to gilt yields increased by 10 basis points, volatilities are set by reference to appropriate 
derivative prices and correlation is based on historic experience. The assumptions for mortality, persistency and the 
take-up rate of guarantees are realistic best estimate, based on own and industry experience. 

Both the NMWPF and WLWPF are being run so that over time, as the policies in each fund mature or otherwise 
discontinue, all assets are distributed. The liabilities in the NMWPF allow for the full distribution of the assets in the 
fund. The liabilities in the WLWPF allow for the full distribution of the assets in the fund, other than those allocated 
to non-participating business in which the with profits policyholders have no interest. 

1.24.4.3  GAWPF 

Within the GAWPF, all liabilities (including policy options and guarantees) are calculated on a deterministic basis. 
Stochastic modelling has not been used for the with-profit policies as the fund applies a close matching investment 
policy, which has been adopted to such an extent that the fixed interest portfolio is effectively a replicating portfolio 
for the guarantees and options within the fund. 

Discount rates are set equal to the LIBOR curve plus a spread adjustment, which is an allowance for liquidity less 
investment expenses. 

The GAWPF is being run so that over time the full distribution of the estate held within the fund is achieved by using 
bonus surplus to enhance asset share returns. Once the admissible value of the assets in the GAWPF falls below a 
stated level, management actions can be considered either to merge the fund with another with-profits fund or, to 
convert to non-profit status, subject to receipt of the appropriate approvals. 
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1.24.5  Expense reserving 

The Group has three Management Service Agreements ("MSA") in place for the administration of the in-force policies: 

x An MSA between RAL and ReAssure UK Services Limited (“RUKSL”) covering the administration of the
ReAssure business;

x An MSA between RAL and HCL Insurance BPO Services Limited (“HCL”), whereby HCL performs the policy 
administration related to the ex-Barclays Life business; and

x An MSA between Ark Life and RUKSL.

The administration expense assumptions used for the calculation of the insurance liabilities within RAL have been 
set to the fees expected to be paid under the MSAs. 

An additional provision is included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position for the actual costs expected 
to arise in the Group’s service companies (RUKSL and ReAssure Companies Services Limited (“RCSL”)); where those 
costs relate to managing the existing insurance business of the Group and are in excess of the service agreement 
fees provided for in RAL’s insurance liabilities. These additional costs are projected over the lifetime of the business 
and a reserve is calculated using the same basis as that used to determine RAL’s insurance liabilities, plus a prudent 
margin based on all costs required to manage the existing insurance business. Within RAL, no prudent margin is 
applied to expenses due to the fixed nature of the service company agreement. 

The additional provision excludes Ark Life, as this entity reserves for expenses based on total planned expenses, as 
opposed to expected fees under a service company agreement. 

OMWLA expenses have been projected over the lifetime of the OMWLA business, based on the unit costs calculated 
from the three year expense plan, assuming OMWLA costs reduce following migration. This expense risk is then 
transferred to RAL as part of the IGR arrangement, excluding migration costs which remain in OMWLA. An additional 
expense provision is held at RGP level, to eliminate any credit being taken for future cost efficiencies in per policy 
expenses.  This removes the impact of a post-migration cost base and the migration expenses expected to be 
incurred. 

1.24.6  Liability adequacy testing 

The Group's accounting policies for insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF complies with the IFRS 4 
requirements for liability adequacy testing, as they allow for current estimates of all contractual cash flows and of 
related cash flows such as claims handling costs, and insurance contract AVIF intangible assets are assessed for 
impairment on an annual basis. A liability adequacy test is conducted on long-term insurance liabilities to ensure 
that the carrying amount of the liabilities is adequate to meet current estimates of future cash flows. All contractual 
cash flows are discounted and compared against the carrying value of the liability. Any deficit recognised is 
immediately expensed to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Estimation techniques and assumptions are reviewed regularly, with any changes in estimates reflected in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as they occur. 

1.25  Investment contracts 

Investment contracts without DPF are accounted for under IAS 39 with premiums collected and claims paid being 
deposit accounted as a change in the investment contract liabilities in the Consolidated Income Statement. 
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For unit-linked contracts issued by the Group, investment contracts without DPF represents the financial liability
component of those contracts. This component is measured at current unit values, which reflect the fair values of
the assets in the underlying unit-linked funds.

Investment contracts with DPF are recognised under and measured using the same approach as for insurance
contracts with DPF, refer to note 1.24 above.

The Group cannot measure reliably the fair value of the investment contracts that contain a discretionary
participating feature because of the absence of a reliable basis to measure the supplemental discretionary returns
and because there is no active market for such instruments. No significant gains or losses were recognised in 2019
or 2018 on derecognising these instruments.

1.26  Reinsurance 

The Group cedes insurance risk to reinsurers under contracts to transfer part or all of one or more of the following 
risks: mortality, morbidity, investment, persistency and expenses. Some contracts which provide for the transfer of 
significant insurance risk are also structured to provide financing. Where, under such contracts, financing 
components are to be repaid in future years, the amount outstanding under the contract at the balance sheet date 
is classified as a liability to the reinsurer. Reinsurance contracts that meet the classification requirements for 
insurance contracts are classified as reinsurance contracts held. Reinsurance contracts with insufficient insurance 
risk transfer are accounted for as financial assets, or service contracts, depending on the nature of the agreement. 

The reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities represents future balances due from reinsurance providers 
that are dependent on the expected claims and benefits arising under the related reinsured contracts. They are 
measured consistently with those amounts associated with the related insurance contracts and in accordance with 
recognised actuarial best practice having due regard to collectability including market data on the financial 
strength of each of the reinsurance companies. Reinsurance payables are primarily premiums payable for 
reinsurance contracts. 

Reinsurance assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date or more frequently when an indication of 
impairment arises during the reporting period. Impairment occurs when there is objective evidence, as a result of 
an event that occurred after initial recognition of the reinsurance asset, that the Group may not receive all 
outstanding amounts due under the terms of the contract.  Gains or losses on purchasing reinsurance are 
recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement at the date of purchase and are not amortised. 

1.26.1  Intra-groƵp reƚrocession arrangemenƚs ;͞IGRs͟Ϳ 

The Group has a number of retrocession arrangements with Swiss Re Europe SA, UK Branch and Swiss Reinsurance 
Company Limited (part of the Swiss Re Group). These pass longevity risk from the Group to the Swiss Re Group. IGRs 
are accounted for the same way as external reinsurance. 

1.27  Borrowings 

The Group classifies its interest bearing borrowings as financial liabilities carried at amortised cost and these are 
recognised initially at fair value less any attributable transaction costs. Directly attributable transactions costs are 
amortised over the life of the borrowings. The difference between initial cost and the redemption value is amortised 
through the Consolidated Income Statement over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.  



69 

ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019 

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Borrowings are classified as either policyholder or shareholder borrowings. Policyholder borrowings are those
borrowings where there is either no or limited shareholder exposure, for example, borrowings attributable to the
Group’s with-profit operations.

1.28  Provisions and contingent liabilities or assets 

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events and 
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will materialise and the amount of the obligation can be reliably 
measured. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks 
specific to the liability.  

If the event resulting in a future obligation is less than probable but greater than remote, or the amount cannot be 
reliably estimated, a contingent liability is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements .       

Provisions are recognised for onerous contracts in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the 
contracts exceed the future economic benefits expected to be received. The unavoidable costs reflect the net cost 
of exiting the contracts, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling the contracts and any compensation or penalties 
arising from failure to fulfil the contracts. 

Contingent assets are disclosed in the notes if the inflow of economic benefits is probable, but not virtually certain.  
When the inflow of economic benefits becomes virtually certain, the asset is no longer contingent and its recognition 
is appropriate.   

1.29  Dividends 

Interim dividends are recognised when paid. Final dividends payable are recognised as a liability on the day declared 
by the Board of Directors and approved by the Group’s shareholders. 

1.30  Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing net income available to ordinary shareholders by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding the weighted average number of 
treasury shares. 

For the diluted EPS, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares, such as convertible debt and share options granted to employees. Potential or 
contingent share issuances are treated as dilutive when their conversion to shares would decrease net EPS. 

1.31  Exceptional items 

Exceptional items are those items that, in the Directors’ view, are required to be separately disclosed by virtue of 
their nature, size or incidence to enable a full understanding of the Group’s financial performance. 

1.32  Events after the balance sheet date 

The consolidated financial statements are adjusted to reflect events that occurred provided they give evidence of 
conditions that existed at the reporting date.       
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

Events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting date are disclosed where significant, but do
not result in an adjustment of the financial statements  themselves.

1.33  Operating segments 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board that makes strategic decisions. 

2. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the Directors are required to make estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources and to make
judgements that may have an impact on the amounts recognised. These estimates and judgements affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses and therefore, may have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision only affects that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The Group discloses those judgements and
estimates which are considered to potentially have the most material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

The key accounting judgements required to be made by the Group relate to the assessment of the significance of
insurance risk transferred to the Group in determining whether a contract should be accounted for as an insurance
or investment contract, determining whether there is any indication that AVIF or other customer relationship
intangible assets might be impaired, the recognition of a defined benefit pension scheme asset in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, and the non-consolidation of certain collective investment schemes for which the
Group has majority voting rights

The main sources of estimation uncertainty relate to the measurement of insurance contracts in the non-profit funds,
the measurement of AVIF and other customer relationship intangible assets, the fair value of financial instruments
and investment properties, and the measurement of defined benefit pension scheme obligations

2.1  Classification of insurance and investment contracts and the measurement of liabilities arising from insurance 
contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participating features 

Contracts are classified in accordance with the accounting policy in note 1.6. Contracts that are considered to 
transfer significant insurance risk to the Group are classified as insurance contracts. Contracts that are not 
considered to transfer significant insurance risk to the Group are classified as investment contracts. The majority of 
investment contracts issued by the Group are unit linked investment contracts. Insurance contracts and investment 
contracts with a discretionary participation feature are with-profits contracts and are measured in accordance with 
the accounting policy in note 1.24. Unit linked investment contracts are measured in accordance with the accounting 
policy in note 1.25. 
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Multiple assumptions are applied in the measurement of insurance contracts and investment contracts with DPF.
Discount rate, longevity and expenses assumptions represent the greatest areas of estimation uncertainty.

The Group’s liabilities for insurance contracts are predominantly annuities in payment, which are particularly
sensitive to changes in the discount rate and longevity assumptions.

Additional reserves are held for insurance contracts at a group level, for expenses in excess of those reserved for at
the solo level. For these reserves, assumptions are required to determine the part of the Group’s expenses relating
to the administration of the existing business of the solo entities and to allocate an appropriate proportion of these
expenses to the various product types.  Some judgement is applied in making these allocations.  The reserve is
particularly sensitive to the proportion of expenses allocated to annuities as these contracts run off more slowly
than other product types.

The assumptions used to measure insurance contract liabilities are set out in note 26. Sensitivities are disclosed in
note 43.

The Group is required to estimate the value of future guarantees and options for the with-profits contracts. These
estimates are subject to uncertainty and may not represent the ultimate amounts paid out to satisfy claims by
policyholders (even before allowing for future enhancements to distribute the surplus assets). However, this risk of
estimation uncertainty is offset, due to the fact that in all reasonably foreseeable circumstances, any change in the
estimates of the value of options and guarantees will result in an offsetting movement in either asset shares or the
unallocated distributable surplus.  Since the unallocated distributable surplus is presented as a liability, the total
liabilities recognised for contracts within the with-profits funds is not subject to significant estimation uncertainty.
Further details of the future guarantees and options in with-profits contracts is provided in note 26.

The measurement of investment contracts mainly consists of the value of the underlying units and is not subject to
significant estimation uncertainty.

2.2  AVIF intangible assets 

A recoverability assessment of the AVIF is required on an annual basis to confirm that its carrying value remains 
appropriate and that the asset is not subject to impairment. The assessment involves comparing the carrying value 
of the intangible assets with the present value of the best estimate cashflows arising from the policies originally 
acquired; the estimate of these cashflows involves consideration of a number of judgmental and sensitive 
assumptions including future investment performance, expected policy lapses and costs for policy administration. 
There was no impairment identified in the current year. Carrying values of intangible assets are disclosed in note 16. 

2.3  Defined benefit pension scheme 

A pension scheme surplus can only be recognised to the extent that the sponsoring employer can utilise the asset 
through a refund of surplus or a reduction in contributions. A refund is available to the Group where it has an 
unconditional right to a refund on a gradual settlement of liabilities over time until all members have left the scheme. 
A review of the Trust Deeds of the Group’s pension scheme has been undertaken and it has been judged that the 
Group does have an unconditional right to the scheme surplus once the scheme is in wind up and all the liabilities 
have been settled therefore, providing the support the recognition of a surplus.  

The valuation of defined benefit pension scheme obligations is calculated using actuarial valuations which 
incorporate a number of assumptions including discount rates, inflation rates, and expected future mortality. Due 
to the long term nature of the schemes, the measurement of the pension scheme obligation is sensitive to these 
assumptions. 

Further details of the Group’s pension schemes, including sensitivities are provided in note 30. 



72 

ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019 

2. Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (continued)

2.4  Non-consolidation of entities in which the group holds more than the majority of voting rights 

Under IFRS ϭϬ ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’, the Group assesses whether it has control over certain collective 
investment schemes and applies judgement at each reporting period to determine whether the Group controls these 
entities. The principle of control sets out the following three elements of control: power over the investee; exposure 
or rights to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and the ability to use power over the investee to 
affect the amount of the investor’s returns. Whilst holding the majority of voting rights is a potential indicator of 
control, the Group undertakes a full assessment of control on a case by case basis by reference to numerous other 
factors in order to determine whether control exists. 

As at 31 December 2019, the Group holds investments in fourteen collective investment schemes in which it has the 
majority of the voting rights. These are not consolidated into the financial statements  of the Group as the definition 
of control under IFRS 10 is not judged to have been satisfied in relation to these entities when looking at other factors 
such as whether the Group is able to influence the activities of the schemes, or to unilaterally appoint and remove 
key management personnel. The carrying value of these schemes reported in the financial statements of the Group 
as at 31 December 2019 is £4,200m (2018: £3,000m). If these collective investment schemes were consolidated both 
assets and liabilities would increase by £800m (2018: £600m). 

2.5  Fair value of assets and liabilities 

The Group holds financial assets and liabilities which are measured in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position at fair value.  The inputs into these fair value measurements are categorised into one of three levels of a 
fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted process in active markets (Level 1 
inputs) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs). These inputs reflect the Group's own 
assumptions about market pricing using the best internal and external information available. Both Level 2 and  
Level 3 financial instruments require the use of estimates to determine fair value, with those financial instruments 
classified as Level 3 being most subject to estimation uncertainty. Note 20 provides information about the sensitivity 
of the measurement of financial instruments classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy against certain criteria 
which have been identified as being the key areas of estimation uncertainty; namely discount rate, market value and 
mortality assumptions. 

2.6  Fair value of investment properties 

The Group holds investments in properties measured at fair value in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position.  Investment properties are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and their measurement is subject 
to estimation uncertainty. The Group’s interest in residential properties arising from equity release income plan 
(ERIP) contracts is measured on a reversionary basis. Reversionary value represents the Group’s interest in the 
residential property of policyholders who have previously entered into an Equity Release Income Plan (“ERIP”) policy. 
The reversionary basis represents the Group’s best estimate of the fair value having regard to the policyholders’ 
lifetime lease. This measurement basis requires the Group to apply judgement when determining appropriate 
reversionary values and mortality assumptions and is particularly subject to estimation uncertainty and a range of 
possible fair values. Note 20 provides information about the sensitivity of the measurement of investment properties 
against certain criteria which have been identified as being the key areas of estimation uncertainty; namely discount 
rate and mortality assumptions. 
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2.7  Operating profit 

Operating profit is the Group's non-GAAP measure of performance, intended to provide stakeholders with an 
appropriate assessment of the core long-term performance of the Group, unaffected by short-term economic 
volatility and one-off impacts that act to distort the underlying performance of the Group. The Group is required to 
apply judgment in determining which items to include in its operating profit in accordance with the accounting policy 
detailed in note 3. When considering the difference between actual and expected experience for economic items, 
and the impacts of changes in economic assumptions on the valuation of liabilities, assumptions made in relation to 
long term economic variables are a source of estimation uncertainty. 

3. Restatement of Prior Year Reserve Balances

As detailed in the basis of preparation this is the first year of preparing Consolidated Financial Statements. However,
the Group has previously prepared statutory accounts for the legal entities included within these financial
statements. Provided below is an overview of restatements from 31 December 2018 amounts reported the
underlying statutory accounts.

a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities without a right of offset were previously presented net in the Statement of
Financial Position in error. This error has now been corrected such that deferred tax assets and liabilities are now
presented gross in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. This has resulted in the presentation of an
£87.9m deferred tax liability in 2017 and a £5.9m deferred tax liability in 2018 (both of which were previously
presented within deferred tax assets). This gross presentation of policyholder and shareholder tax has also been
reflected in the Consolidated Income Statement. The total amount of tax charged to the Consolidated Income
Statement has not changed as a result of this restatement. Tax attributable to policyholders’ returns is now shown
as £9.1m and tax attributable to the shareholders as £(22.1)m.

b) During 2019, two issues were identified on annuity policies. The first issue relates to cases where there had been
a notification of death on the original life and a separate spouse policy created, but the original policy had not been
terminated from the Group’s policy administration system and remained in-force for the Technical Provision
calculations.  The second issue relates to cases where not all coverage records were terminated when a policy was
terminated from the Group’s administration system, and therefore the policy remained in-force for the technical
provisions calculations. Investigations into these issues have now been completed, and under IAS 8 this has been
assessed by management as a material error requiring prior period adjustments for both 2017 and 2018. The 2017
impact to the Consolidated Income Statement is £5.7m with a £(1.1)m impact to tax. The 2018 impact to the
Consolidated Income Statement is £44.3m with a £(8.4)m impact to tax. The adjustment also resulted in a £0.8m
decrease in deferred tax asset.

c) The Group has amended the presentation of premiums and claims transactions relating to investment products
which are subject to deposit accounting under IAS 39, to ensure that all movements in premiums and claims are
accounted for as changes to investment contract liabilities without DPF. The impact of this change is on the
presentation of the Consolidated Income Statement only and does not have any impact on the profit previously
reported or on tax. Premiums have been adjusted by £32.9m, claims have been adjusted by (£235.7m) and these
changes are fully offset by a corresponding movement in the change in investment contract liabilities without DPF.
This error does not have a tax impact.

d) Investment properties valued on a reversionary basis were recorded at fair value less selling costs in error and
their values have now been restated at fair value. This resulted in additional profit after tax in 2018 of £0.2m.
Changes to the value of investment properties valued on a reversionary basis also results in changes to the value of
the derivative liability referred to as the ERIP total return swap. The impact on 2017 was immaterial at the Group
level and has not been restated. This error also has an on-material impact on tax.
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e) Investment assets were incorrectly classified as Cash and Cash Equivalents, the 2018 impact is £789.7m and the
2017 impact was £1,099.0m. These assets are comprised of treasury bills and certificates of deposit which have a
maturity date of greater than 3 months therefore, in accordance with the accounting policies of the Group and IAS
ϳ ‘Statement of Cash flows’, they cannot be classed as Cash Equivalents. These assets have been restated as Debt
Securities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. This error does not have a tax impact.

Income Statement 

As previously 
reported 

Restated 

 
2018 2018 

Restatement 
reference £m £m 

Gross premiums written c 447.4 480.3 
Investment Income d (1,199.6) (1,199.4) 
Policyholder claims c (1,865.6) (2,101.3) 
Change in insurance contract liabilities b 2,044.7 2,089.7 
Change in investment contract liabilities c (877.8) 825.8 
Change in reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities b (130.6) (131.3) 
Profit before tax  60.4 105.0 
Tax on profit for the year b (4.6) (13.1) 
Tax attributable to policyholders’ returns a - 9.1
Profit before tax attributable to the shareholders a - 109.1
Tax attributable to the shareholders a - (22.1)
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders 55.8 92.0 

Earnings per share 
From continuing operations: 
Basic and diluted (pence per share) 7.64 9.20 

The above restated earnings per share reflect the restated profit for the year and the revised number of shares as 
explained in note 40. 

Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 
As previously 

reported 
Restated 

   
2018 2018 

£m £m 
Profit for the year 55.8 92.0 
Total comprehensive income for the year 70.2 106.4 
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As previously 
reported 

Restated 

2018 2018 

Statement of Financial Position 
Restatement 
reference 

£m £m 
  

Investment property d 857.9 858.7 
Debt securities e 19,199.4 19,989.2 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities b 1,765.7 1,764.3 
Deferred tax asset a 58.2 63.3 
Cash and cash equivalents e 2,137.6 1,347.9 
Total assets 44,275.3 44,280.0 

Liabilities under insurance contracts b 21,192.5 21,141.0 
Derivative liabilities d 112.5 113.0 
Deferred tax liability a - 5.9
Current tax liability b 40.8 49.5
Total liabilities 41,819.5 41,783.3 

Net assets 2,455.8 2,496.7 
Retained earnings 934.4 975.0 

As previously 
reported 

Restated 

1 Jan 2018 1 Jan 2018 

Statement of Financial Position 
Restatement 
reference 

£m £m 
  

Debt securities e 21,208.0 22,307.0 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities b 1,890.2 1,889.4 
Deferred tax asset a 23.9 111.8 
Cash and cash equivalents e 3,151.5 2,052.5 
Total assets 49,813.8 49,900.9 

Liabilities under insurance contracts b 23,230.3 23,223.8 
Current tax liability b 190.6 191.7 
Deferred tax liability a - 87.9
Total liabilities 46,507.2 46,589.6 

Net assets 3,306.6 3,311.3 
Retained earnings 1,785.5 1,790.1 
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As previously reported Restated 

2018 2018 2018 2018 
Statement of changes in equity £m £m £m £m  

Restatement 
reference 

Retained 
earnings 

Total Equity Retained 
earnings 

Total Equity 

1 January 2018 1,785.5 3,306.6 1,790.1 3,311.3  

Profit for the financial year  b, d 55.8 55.8 92.0 92.0 
Total comprehensive income for 
the year 

69.9 70.2 105.9 106.4 

At December 2018 934.4 2,455.8 975.0 2,496.7 

As 
previously 

reported 

e) 
Investment 
cash reclass 

Restated 

2018 2018 2018 
Statement of Cash flows £m £m £m 
Cash flows from operating activities 
Cash used in operating activities 94.8 309.3 404.1 
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities (93.9) 309.3 215.4 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,016.6) 309.3 (707.3) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3,151.5 (1,099.0) 2,052.5 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 2,137.6 (789.7) 1,347.9 
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The Group defines and presents operating segments based on the information which is provided to the Board
therefore, segmental information in this note is presented on a different basis from profit or loss in the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of
the Group.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services.
Business units are then aggregated where they share similar economic characteristics including the nature of
products and services, types of customers and the nature of the regulatory environment. Following aggregation,
ReAssure Life is considered to be the Group’s only reportable segment, within which all of the Group’s UK
insurance activities are reported. The ’Unallocated Group’ segment is comprised of all other activities that do not
meet the threshold requirements for individual reporting. These include the Irish insurance activities (Ark Life)
and other management service entities that exist within the Group, including actual costs incurred in excess of
the MSA (see note 1.24.5), as well as all consolidation adjustments, with the exception of the elimination of the
IGR between RAL and OMWLA as this relates entirely to insurance business.

There are some specific, differences between the presentation of the segmental performance and the
Consolidated Financial Statements.  Revenues or expenses that are not directly attributable to a particular segment
are allocated between segments where there is a reasonable basis for doing so. Inter-segment transactions are set
on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties. Segmental results include those
transfers between business segments which are then eliminated on consolidation.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies described in
notes 1 and 2.

Operating profit: segmental performance

The Group uses an internal metric, operating profit, to evaluate the performance of the Group on a segmental
basis. Operating profit is a non-GAAP measure of performance, intended to provide stakeholders with an
appropriate assessment of the core long-term performance of the Group, unaffected by short-term economic
volatility and one-off impacts that act to distort the underlying performance of the Group.

Operating profit is net of policyholder taxes and excludes the impact of the following items:

x The difference between the actual and expected experience for economic items and the impacts of
changes in economic assumptions on the valuation of liabilities;

x Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets;
x External financing costs;
x Gains or losses in relation to the disposal or acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures (net

of related costs of disposal);
x Impairment of investments in subsidiaries (in ReAssure Life, adjusted for upon consolidation), associates

or joint ventures;
x Dividends received from subsidiaries (in ReAssure Life, adjusted for upon consolidation), associates and

joint ventures;
x Costs in relation to significant one-off regulatory change;
x Integration, restructuring and other significant one-off projects; and
x Any other items which, in the Directors' view, should be disclosed separately to enable a better

understanding of the Group's financial performance.
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The acquisitive strategy of the Group results in significant one off costs being incurred for integration projects and
the creation of AVIF intangible assets which are subject to on-going amortisation charges, incurred over the lifetime
of the policies acquired. Other significant one off costs include restructuring costs associated with the initial public
offering and investments in cost savings projects. The Group considers that whilst the inclusion of such items in the
Consolidated Financial Statements provides stakeholders with useful information with which to assess the overall
performance of the Group, the operating profit measure provides a more appropriate view of the underlying
performance of the operating segments.

Operating profit is also considered to provide a more appropriate, long term view of the performance of the Group
as it enables stakeholders to assess the performance of the operating segments inclusive of the impact of
experience variances and changes to assumptions for non-economic items such as mortality and expenses, whilst
removing short term economic volatility via the exclusion of experience variances and changes to assumptions for
economic items. Operating profit is a pre-tax measure of performance.

Operating profit is more closely aligned with the acquisitive strategy of the approach taken by management to
monitor performance.

The operating profit methodology was amended during 2019 to ensure consistent exclusion of economic variances;
the impact of changes in economic assumptions relating to the group expense provision are now excluded from
operating profit, as is unplanned investment income across all Group subsidiaries. The 2018 operating profit result
has been restated for these changes. This has resulted in a reduction to operating profit of £19.7m. There was no
change in profit before tax as a result of this change. This error does not have a tax impact.
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Segmental income statement

ReAssure Life Unallocated 
Group 

Total 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 

£m 
(restated*) 

£m 
 

£m 
(restated*) 

£m  
£m (restated*) 

£m 
Revenue 
Gross premiums written 395.1 424.8 52.3 55.5 447.4 480.3 
Less: premiums ceded to reinsurers (357.2) (363.5) (37.3) (39.6) (394.5) (403.1) 
Net premium revenue 37.9 61.3 15.0 15.9 52.9 77.2 

Revenue from other activities 168.9 166.4 41.5 45.0 210.4 211.4 
Investment income/(expense) 1,366.9 1,393.6 40.6 15.7 1,407.5 1,409.3 
Net fair value movements on financial 
assets/liabilities held 

3,556.2 (2,532.8) 250.8 (75.9) 3,807.0 (2,608.7) 

Other income 2.1 6.2 3.2 0.8 5.3 7.0 
Net income/(expense) 5,132.0 (905.3) 351.1 1.5 5,483.1 (903.8) 

Expenses 
Policyholder claims (1,905.6) (2,042.6) (44.7) (58.7) (1,950.3) (2,101.3) 
Less: claims recovered from reinsurers 406.2 428.4 31.5 33.7 437.7 462.1 
Change in insurance contract liabilities (32.9) 2,127.5 (186.9) (37.8) (219.8) 2,089.7 
Change in investment contract liabilities without DPF (2,488.0) 784.4 (275.7) 41.4 (2,763.7) 825.8 
Change in investment contract liabilities with DPF (139.1) 254.8 - - (139.1) 254.8 
Change in reinsurers’ share of insurance contract 
liabilities 

(106.3) (197.4) 190.7 66.1 84.4 (131.3) 

Transfer to unallocated divisible surplus (14.0) 26.0 - - (14.0) 26.0 
Net policyholder claims and benefits incurred (4,279.7) 1,381.1 (285.1) 44.7 (4,564.8) 1,425.8 

Administration expenses (261.3) (270.5) (228.6) (139.5) (489.9) (410.0) 

Total (expense)/income (4,541.0) 1,110.6 (513.7) (94.8) (5,054.7) 1,015.8 

Profit/(loss) before finance costs and tax 591.0 205.3 (162.6) (93.3) 428.4 112.0 
Finance costs (12.1) (7.8) (30.0) 0.8 (42.1) (7.0) 
Profit/(loss) before tax 578.9 197.5 (192.6) (92.5) 386.3 105.0 
Policyholder Tax (51.9) 11.2 (3.6) (2.1) (55.5) 9.1 
Profit/(loss) before tax (attributable to owners of 
the Group) 

527.0 208.7 (196.2) (94.6) 330.8 114.1 
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Segmental income statement (continued) 

ReAssure Life Unallocated 
Group 

Total 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 

£m 
(restated*) 

£m 
 

£m 
(restated*) 

£m 
 

£m 
(restated*) 

£m 
Less:  
Economic experience and assumptions changes on long 
term business 

(129.8) (15.1) (6.9) (8.3) (136.7) (23.4) 

Amortisation and impairments of intangible assets 74.1 86.9 32.9 34.5 107.0 121.4 
External financing costs - - 31.3 0.2 31.3 0.2 
Gains or losses on disposal of subsidiaries, associates and 
joint ventures (net of related costs of disposal) 

- - - (3.0) - (3.0)

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries, associates or 
joint ventures 

(3.7) 12.9 3.7 (12.9) - - 

Dividends received from subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures 

(8.1) (22.3) 8.1 22.3 - - 

Mandatory regulatory change - - 2.7 - 2.7 - 
Integration, restructuring and other significant one-off 
projects 

84.3 45.6 53.9 3.1 138.2 48.7 

Any other items which, in the Directors' view, should be 
disclosed separately 

(68.3) - 0.7 - (67.6) - 

Total Adjustments (51.5) 108.0 126.4 35.9 74.9 143.9 

Operating Profit/(loss) 475.5 316.7 (69.8) (58.7) 405.7 258.0 

Other ReAssure Life items of £68.3m relates to the impact of extending the Matching Adjustment portfolio with the 
transfer of additional annuities into the fund. This has been considered as a one-off impact on the Consolidated Income 
Statement. ReAssure Life mandatory regulatory change costs relate to IFRS 17 project costs. 
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ReAssure Life Unallocated 
Group 

Total 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 

£m 
(restated*) 

£m 
 

£m 
(restated*) 

£m £m 
(restated*) 

£m 
Assets 
Acquired value of in-force business 93.3 97.4 463.3 338.3 556.6 435.7 
Goodwill - - 4.8 - 4.8 - 
Deferred acquisition costs 543.3 566.2 (26.8) 24.7 516.5 590.9 
Investments in group undertakings 473.3 469.6 (473.3) (469.6) - - 
Property, plant and equipment 4.9 3.7 12.5 14.1 17.4 17.8 
Investment property 600.2 720.8 115.2 137.9 715.4 858.7 
Financial assets 47,331.5 37,005.3 1,804.3 1,548.9 49,135.8 38,554.2 
Assets relating to reinsurance activities 2,540.0 1,711.6 688.6 139.5 3,228.6 1,851.1 
Insurance contract receivables 52.5 20.5 - - 52.5 20.5 
Cash and cash equivalents 1,538.6 838.1 438.3 509.8 1,976.9 1,347.9 
Other assets 832.1 486.9 (147.5) 116.3 684.6 603.2 
Reportable segment assets 54,009.7 41,920.1 2,879.4 2,359.9 56,889.1 44,280.0 

Liabilities 
Insurance contract liabilities (22,007.1) (20,913.9) (771.1) (628.6) (22,778.2) (21,542.5) 
Investment contract liabilities (28,421.5) (18,098.5) (1,516.9) (1,454.2) (29,938.4) (19,552.7) 
Borrowings (243.4) (244.3) (731.2) 244.3 (974.6) - 
Liabilities relating to reinsurance activities (151.7) (503.4) (4.4) 350.3 (156.1) (153.1) 
Payables related to direct insurance contracts (44.0) (27.3) (1.0) (1.2) (45.0) (28.5) 
Other Liabilities (575.7) (363.3) (197.1) (143.2) (772.8) (506.5) 
Reportable segment liabilities (51,443.4) (40,150.7) (3,221.7) (1,632.6) (54,665.1) (41,783.3) 

Reportable segment net assets 2,566.3 1,769.4 (342.3) 727.3 2,224.0 2,496.7 
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4. Operating Segments (continued)

Geographical Information
Revenue/ 
(Expense) 

Net Assets 

£m £m 
As at 31 December 2019 
United Kingdom 5,159.6 2,025.6 
Europe 323.5 198.4 

5,483.1 2,224.0 

As at 31 December 2018 (restated*) 
United Kingdom (895.5) 2,301.8 
Europe (8.3) 194.9 

(903.8) 2,496.7 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

5. Material Profit or Loss Items

The group has identified a number of items which are material due to the significance of their nature and/or
amount. These are listed separately here to provide a better understanding of the financial performance of the
group.

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Staff costs (see note 13) 144.2 96.1 
Amortisation of AVIF (see note 15) 33.9 34.2 

178.1 130.3 

All of the items above are included within Administrative expenses within the Consolidated Income Statement. 
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6. Premiums

a) Gross premiums written
Gross premium income is made up of:

2019 2018 
(restated*) 

£m £m 
Insurance contracts 440.5 468.4 
Participating investment contracts 6.9 11.9 

447.4 480.3 

Premiums ceded to reinsurers (394.5)  (403.1) 
Net premium revenue 52.9 77.2 

b) Reinsurance balance

The aggregate reinsurance balance (premiums ceded to reinsurers, reinsurance recoveries and changes in 
reinsurers' share of insurance and investment contract liabilities) amounted to income of £127.6m for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: expense of £72.3m). 

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Premiums ceded to reinsurers (394.5) (403.1) 
Reinsurance recoveries 437.7 462.1 
Changes in reinsurers' share of insurance and investment contract 
liabilities 

84.4 (131.3) 

Income/(Expense) 127.6 (72.3) 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

7. Revenue from Other Activities
8. 
9. 2019 2018 

£m £m 
Annual management charges applied to linked funds 177.6 172.1 
Revenue generated from third party administration contracts 24.6 27.6 
Policy administration fees 4.4 6.2 
Bid/offer spread and other income 3.8 5.5 

210.4 211.4 

The weighted average rates of annual management charges in 2019, excluding charges made at policy level via unit 
deductions, were 0.97% (2018: 0.96%). 

These contracts do not have a minimum stated term. A customer can cancel an investment contract at any time after 
contract inception, subject to payment of a surrender charge. As the customer has discretion over when to terminate 
the contract the contract does not have a significant financing component. None of the revenue from the investment 
management services recognised in 2018 and 2019 relates to performance obligations satisfied in the previous year.  
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8. Investment Income/(Expense)

2019 2018 
(restated*) 

£m £m 
Rental income from investment property 37.7 36.4 

Income from other investments: 
Debt securities 706.6 753.1 
Equity securities 617.9 539.0 

Interest income on loans and deposits at amortised cost 0.1 0.1 
Other 45.2 80.7 
Total income from other investments 1,369.8 1,372.9 

Net gains/(losses) on the realisation of investments: 
Investment properties 45.0 5.6 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition: 
Debt securities 121.6 (20.4) 
Equity securities 368.6 1,467.7 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held for trading: 
Derivatives (42.7) (26.8) 
Other 2.4 35.0 
Total net gains on the realisation of investments 494.9 1,461.1 

Net unrealised gains/(losses) on investments: 
Investment properties (58.4) 22.7 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition: 
Debt securities 988.6 (883.9) 
Equity securities 2,370.7 (3,201.3) 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held for trading: 
Derivatives (8.4) (4.2) 
Other 19.6 (3.1) 
Total net unrealised gains/(losses) on investments 3,312.1 (4,069.8) 

Total investment income/(expense) 5,214.5 (1,199.4) 

Included within other net gains/losses on the realisation of investments above is the impact of foreign exchange on 
short-term payables and receivables. 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement
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9. Other Income

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Profit on disposal of subsidiary (see note 38) - 3.0
Other Income 5.3 4.0

5.3 7.0 

10. Claims and Benefits

2019 2018 
(restated*) 

£m £m 
Claims and benefits paid, before reinsurance 
Insurance contracts 1,669.8 1,788.4 
Participating investment contracts 280.5 312.9 

1,950.3 2,101.3 

Reinsurance recoveries 
Insurance contracts (437.7) (462.1) 

Claims and benefits paid, after reinsurance 
Insurance contracts 1,229.9 1,324.5 
Participating investment contracts 282.7 314.7 

1,512.6 1,639.2 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

a) Claims on investment contracts
In relation to non-participating investment contracts the Group does not account for claims paid as a claim expense
in the Consolidated Income Statement. Such transactions are recognised as a deduction in investment contract
liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and accounted for as deposits repaid.

11. Administration Expenses

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Amortisation of AVIF asset  33.9 34.2 
Amortisation of DAC asset 73.2 87.3 
Investment management expenses 42.6 55.8 
Staff costs 144.2 96.1 
Contractors and consultancy 92.5 43.8 
Outsourcing 32.4 29.3 
FX differences arising on conversion of intercompany dividend payments - 0.3
Other administration expenses 71.1 63.1

489.9 410.0 

Consultancy and contractor costs relate to major projects such as L&G migration and Swiss Re separation.  

Other administrative expenses includes facilities overheads, software costs and other miscellaneous expenditure. 
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12. Finance Costs
2019 2018 

£m £m 
Interest costs on deposits received from reinsurers  5.2 6.3 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 0.3 0.5 
Interest costs on borrowings (see note 28) 31.5 - 
Net interest expense on defined benefit obligation (see note 30) 0.1 0.2 
HMRC interest payments 5.0 - 

42.1 7.0 

The HMRC interest payments totalling £5.0m relate to a provision in relation to a dispute with HMRC over the tax 
treatment of an asset. 

13. AƵdiƚŽƌƐ͛ Remuneration

The total remuneration payable by the Group to its auditors is shown below:
2019 2018 

£m £m 
Audit services: 
Fees payable for the audit of the Group’s annual financial statements 0.5 0.1 
Fees payable for the audit of the Group’s subsidiaries 1.7 0.9 
Total Audit Fees 2.2 1.0 

Non-audit services: 
Audit related assurance services 0.5 0.9 
Other assurance services 1.4 8.2 
Total non-audit fees 1.9 9.1 

Total fees 4.1 10.1 

Audit related services include the audit of regulatory returns, audit of reporting to the Group's parent company and the 
audit of embedded value reporting. Non-audit assurance services includeds fees for work completed in 2018 in relation 
to the Historic Financial Information (HFI) prepared for the purposes of supporting an Initial Public Offering (IPO). 
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14. Staff Costs

All staff are employed by RUKSL, RCSL, Ark Life Assurance Company DAC (Ireland), Old Mutual Wealth Life Assurance
Limited (OMWLA) or ReAssure FSH UK Limited (RFSH).

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Wages and salaries 125.2 82.2 
Social security costs 10.9 7.8 
Other pension costs 8.1 6.1 

144.2 96.1 

Other pension costs relate to the defined benefit and the defined contribution scheme. There were outstanding 
contributions of £nil (2018: £nil,) at the year end date. 

The average number of persons employed by the Group is shown below: 
2019 2018 

Customer Services 1,066.0 697.7 
HR and Administration 1,124.3 1,167.6 
Finance, Actuarial and Risk 301.6 257.8 

2,491.9 2,123.1 

Employee numbers have been calculated using a monthly average that takes into account recruitment, leavers, 
transfers, acquisitions and disposals of businesses during the year. 

15. Tax on Profit for the Year

a) Analysis of (charge)/credit in the year
2019 2018 

(restated*) 
£m £m 

Current taxation: 
UK corporation tax  (80.4) (41.4) 
Adjustments in respect of prior years 2.5 2.7 
Total current tax charge for the year (77.9) (38.7) 

Deferred taxation: 
Origination and reversal of timing differences 15.9 16.6 
Business transfer 0.2 - 

Tax charge attributable to the shareholders (61.8) (22.1) 
Tax credit/(charge) attributable to the policyholders (55.5) 9.1 
Total tax charge for the year (117.3) (13.0) 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement
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15. Tax on Profit for the Year (continued)

b) Reconciliation of tax charge on profit attributable to shareholders

The tax assessed for the year is lower (2018: higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2018: 
19%). The differences are explained below: 

2019 2018 
(restated*) 

£m £m 

Profit before tax 386.3 105.0 

Tax on profit on ordinary activities at 19.00% (2018: 19.00%) (73.4) (19.9) 

Effects of: 
Non-taxable dividend income - (0.1)
Income not subject to tax 0.5 - 
Permanent disallowable items (3.4) (0.4) 
Transfer pricing adjustments 3.3 3.4 
Adjustments in respect of prior years 2.5 2.7 
Different basis of taxation for UK life insurance companies 4.5 (8.7) 
Movement in recognition of deferred tax asset (1.8) 3.0 
Presentational change for interest on uncertain tax provision 3.9 (5.1) 
Foreign tax relief 1.6 2.7 
Other 0.7 1.7 
Impact of rate change 0.1 (3.2) 
Tax charge attributable to the policyholders (0.3) 1.8 
Total tax charge for the year attributable to the shareholders (61.8) (22.1) 

Effective tax rate 16.0% 21.0% 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

c) Factors affecting the current and future tax charges

A reduction to the corporation tax rate (reducing the rate to 17%) for the year commencing 1 April 2020, was 
enacted in 2016. Accordingly, the relevant deferred tax balances have been measured at 17%. 

Subsequent to year end, a reversal of these plans and maintenance of the current 19% rate was announced in the 
UK Budget, March 2020. The full impact of this revision is yet to be quanitified however, the Group does not expect 
this to have a material financial impact. 
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16. Intangible Assets
Goodwill Acquired Value of In-

Force Business 
£m £m 

Year ended 31 December 2019 
Cost or valuation 
At 1 January - 846.1 
Additions on acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth (see note 
38) 4.8 148.4 
Deferred tax adjustments - 6.4 
At 31 December 4.8 1,000.9 

Accumulated amortisation 
At 1 January - 410.4 
Charge for the year - 33.9 
At 31 December - 444.3 
Net book value 4.8 556.6 

Goodwill Acquired Value of In-
Force Business 

£m £m 
Year ended 31 December 2018 
Cost or valuation 
At 1 January - 846.1 
At 31 December - 846.1 

Accumulated amortisation 
At 1 January - 376.2 
Charge for the year - 34.2 
At 31 December - 410.4 
Net book value - 435.7 

a) Goodwill

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth on 31 December 2019 (see note 38). This represents the 
value of the workforce assumed and the potential for future value creation, which relates to the benefit to the Group 
from expense, capital and tax synergies. 

The value of the goodwill has been calculated as at 31 December 2019 via an assessment of the fair value of the net 
assets acquired. In future reporting periods, this asset will be subject to impairment testing and the value in use will 
be determined as the present value of certain cash flows associated with the Old Mutual Wealth business. These cash 
flows will be consistent with those adopted by management in the Group’s operating plan. The underlying 
assumptions of these projections will include management’s best estimates with regards to mortality, morbidity, 
persistency, expense valuation and interest rates. 

b) Acquired value of in-force business

AVIF assets are amortised consistently with the measurement of the related liabilities. The total average period over 
which the AVIF assets are amortised is between 6 and 48 years. Annually, each AVIF asset is reviewed for impairment 
in accordance with the criteria outlined within note 1.21. There has been no impairment charge recorded in 2019 
(2018: £nil). Refer to note 26 for details on the assumptions used in the AVIF impairment assessment. 
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17. Deferred Acquisition Costs

2019 2018 
£m £m 

At 1 January 590.9 27.9 
Additions - 650.0
Amortisation (73.2) (87.4)
Impact of foreign exchange (1.2) 0.4 
At 31 December 516.5 590.9 

During 2017, the Group received a capital contribution of £650.0m to fund the purchase of approximately 1.1 million 
policies from Legal and General. On ϭ January ϮϬϭϴ the Group entered into a Risk Transfer Agreement (“RTA”) for a 
block of unit linked and with-profit business from L&G, resulting in the creation of a Deferred Acquisition Costs ("DAC") 
intangible asset valued at the purchase price of £650.0m. It is anticipated that a Part VII arrangement will occur in 
relation to these policies during 2020.  

The remainder of the balance relates to Ark Life, which had £32.9m of DAC in relation to long term business at the 
point of its acquisition by the Group in 2016. 

 

DAC is amortised over the lifetime of the expected profits of the business. The average period over which the 
remaining DAC assets will be amortised is between 17 and 48 years. Annually, each DAC asset is reviewed for 
impairment, there has been no impairment charge in 2019 (2018: £nil). 

 

18. Property, Plant and Equipment

a) Owner-occupied land and buildings

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Cost or valuation and net book value of owner-
occupied land and buildings 
At 1 January 3.7 3.4 
Revaluation 0.2 0.3 
At 31 December 3.9 3.7 
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18. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

b) Property, plant and equipment

Included in the below are right-of-use assets under operating lease arrangements. See note 46. 

Land and 
Buildings 

Computer 
equipment 

Fixtures, 
fittings and 

office 
equipment 

Total 

£m £m £m £m 
Cost or valuation 
At 1 January 2019 9.0 25.1 4.5 38.6 
Additions - 0.3 - 0.3
Acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth 1.0 - - 1.0
Reversal of impairment 1.5 - - 1.5
Disposals - (0.1) - (0.1)
At 31 December 2019 11.5 25.3 4.5 41.3 

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2019 2.8 18.5 3.2 24.5 
Charge for the year 0.5 2.7 0.2 3.4 
Disposals - (0.1) - (0.1)
At 31 December 2019 3.3 21.1 3.4 27.8 

Carrying amounts 
At 31 December 2019 8.2 4.2 1.1 13.5 
At 31 December 2018 6.2 6.6 1.3 14.1 

Land and 
Buildings 

Computer 
equipment 

Fixtures, 
fittings and 

office 
equipment 

Total 

£m £m £m £m 
Cost or valuation 
At 1 January 2018 10.6 24.3 5.4 40.3 
Additions 0.1 1.3 1.3 2.7 
Disposals (1.7) (0.5) (2.2) (4.4) 
At 31 December 2018 9.0 25.1 4.5 38.6 

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2018 3.3 15.5 3.8 22.6 
Charge for the year 0.6 3.4 0.5 4.5 
Disposals (1.1) (0.4) (1.1) (2.6) 
At 31 December 2018 2.8 18.5 3.2 24.5 

Carrying amounts 
At 31 December 2018 6.2 6.6 1.3 14.1 
At 31 December 2017 7.3 8.8 1.6 17.7 
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19. Investment Property

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of investment properties at the beginning and end of the year is set out
below:

2019 2018 
(restated*) 

£m £m 
Fair value at 1 January 858.7 846.9 
Additions 2.4 2.4 
Disposals (135.9) (25.4) 
Change in fair value (9.8) 34.8 
Fair value at 31 December 715.4 858.7 

Land and buildings at reversionary value 87.1 109.4 
Land and buildings at open market value 628.3 749.3 

715.4 858.7 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

a) Land and buildings at reversionary value

Land and buildings at reversionary value represent the interest in the residential property of policyholders who 
have previously entered into an Equity Release Income Plan (“ERIP”) policy. Under these plans, the policyholder 
was provided with a lifetime annuity in return for the legal title to their property. Valuations are based on 
unobservable inputs and management’s best estimates.  

(i) Assumptions
As the inward cash flows on these properties will not be received until the lifetime lease is no longer in force, which
is usually upon the death of the policyholder, these interests are valued on a reversionary basis which is a
discounted current open market value.  The open market values of the properties are independently revalued every
two years by members of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and in the intervening period are adjusted
by reference to the Nationwide Building Society regional indices of house prices. The discount period is based on
the best estimates of the likely date the property will become available for sale and the discount rate applied is
determined by the general partner as its best estimate of the appropriate discount rate. No explicit allowance is
made for house price inflation in the year through to their realisation.

Therefore, the key assumptions used in the valuation of the reversionary interests are the interest discount rate 
and the mortality assumption. 

The interest discount rate was 5.00% (2018: 5.00%). 

The mortality assumptions used to determine the expected date the property will become available for sale are: 

Tables Long term improvements 
2019 
Male lives PML08_HAWP 95.40% CMI_2017_M [2.00%] 
Female lives PFL08_HAWP 92.70% CMI_2017_F [2.00%] 

2018 
Male lives PML08_HAWP 92.70% CMI_2017_M [2.00%] 
Female lives PFL08_HAWP 96.30% CMI_2017_F [2.00%] 
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19. Investment Property (continued)

The mortality assumption is based on the PML08_HAWP  (2018: PML08_HAWP) table for males and the
PFL08_HAWP (2018: PFL08_HAWP) table for females, adjusted to reflect the historic experience of the business
concerned. The mortality rates are projected using future mortality improvements from the CMI Mortality
Projection Model; the mortality improvements have been derived from the 2017 CMI model using a long-term rate
of improvement of 2.00% for both males and females and a smoothing parameter S(k)=7.75. In addition, an
allowance is made for ERIP policyholders leaving their properties before death and that is modelled as 35% of the
mortality rate.

As at 31 December 2019 the Group had capital commitments in respect of investment properties of £0.9m (2018:
£1.8m). There were no restrictions on the realisability of investment property or the remittance of income and
proceeds of disposal (2018: £nil).

During the year there were no additions resulting from acquisitions through business combinations (2018: £nil).

(ii) Sensitivities

The tables below shows the sensitivity of the fair value of investment property at reversionary value to changes in 
unobservable inputs to a reasonable alternative. 

Year ended: Fair 
Value 

Most significant 
unobservable input 

Reasonable 
alternative 

Positive 
impact 

Negative 
impact 

£m £m £m 
31 December 2019 
Investment property 
 At reversionary value 87.1 Discount Rate +/- 1.00% (3.7) 3.9 

Mortality assumption -5.00% (0.7) 

31 December 2018 (restated*) 

Investment property 
 At reversionary value 109.4 Discount Rate +/- 1.00% (4.9) 4.7 

Mortality assumption -5.00% - (0.9)

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

b) Land and buildings at open market value

Policyholder investment property is held to earn rentals and/or capital appreciation and is valued annually at open 
market value, as determined by independent professional advisers, less a deduction for selling costs. These 
valuations are prepared in accordance with the appropriate sections of the valuation standards contained within 
the RICS Valuation – Professional Standards 2012 and IFRS 13. The key assumptions used in the valuations are: 

x The titles are good and marketable and free from rights of way or easements, restrictive covenants,
disputes or onerous or unusual outgoings;

x The buildings have been constructed in full compliance with valid town planning and building regulations
approvals and, if necessary, the benefit of current Fire Certificates;

x The information provided by the Fund and its advisors is correct; and
x The tenants are financially in a position to meet their obligations.
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19. Investment Property (continued)

These assets are categorised as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy because the inputs are unobservable. Refer to
note 20 for more information on the different levels of the fair value hierarchy.

Land and buildings at open market value as at 31 December 2019 were valued by Knight Frank LLP or Savills, both
firms of independent chartered surveyors. Because these assets are valued using net asset statements provided by
independent third parties, no sensitivity analysis has been prepared.

Included within investment income for the year is £37.7m (2018: £36.4m) relating to rental income from
investment properties. Included within administration expenses for the year is £3.1m of direct operating expenses
relating to properties generating rental income (2018: £2.9m) and £nil in relation to properties not generating
rental income (2018: £0.1m).

20. Financial Assets and Liabilities

a) IFRS 9 deferral

As set out in accounting policy in note 1.3, the Group has chosen to defer application of IFRS 9 due to its activities 
being predominantly connected with insurance. 

To facilitate comparison with entities applying IFRS 9, the table below presents an analysis of the fair value of the 
classes of financial assets as at the end of the reporting period, as well as the change in fair value during the 
reporting period. The financial asset classes are divided into four categories: 

i. Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI): assets of which cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest on an outstanding principal amount, but are not meeting the definition of held for
trading in IFRS 9, or are not managed on a fair value basis;

ii. Financial assets measured on a Fair Value Basis: assets which are managed and whose performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis;

iii. Financial assets designated as measured at FVTPL: assets not managed on a fiar value basis but which the
Groups expect to designate as fair value through profit or loss to eliminate an accounting mismatch with
the related liabilities;

iv. Financial instruments held for trading: financial assets that meet the definition of held for trading in IFRS
9.
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20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

a) IFRS 9 deferral (continued)

Financial assets 

Financial instruments with contractual cash flows that have 
been assessed against SPPI criteria, excluding those held 

for trading 

Fair Values 

Financial 
assets that 

passed SPPI 

Financial 
assets 

measured on a 
Fair Value 

basis 

Financial 
assets 

designated as 
measured at 

FVTPL 

Total Financial 
instruments 

held for 
trading 

Total 
Fair Value 

Amount 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 
As at 31 December 
2019: 
Debt Securities - 173.7 15,378.6 15,552.3 4,065.4 19,617.7 
Equity Securities - - - - 14,578.3 14,578.3 
Loans 3.8 - 1,118.5 1,122.3 - 1,122.3
Collective Investment 
Schemes 

- - - - 13,764.4 13,764.4

Other assets (excluding 
tax receivable) 

599.3 - - 599.3 - 599.3

Derivatives - - - - 53.1 53.1 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

1,954.5 - - 1,954.5 22.4 1,976.9 

Total financial assets 2,557.6 173.7 16,497.1 19,228.4 32,483.6 51,712.0 

Financial instruments with contractual cash flows that have 
been assessed against SPPI criteria, excluding those held 

for trading 

Fair Values 

Financial 
assets that 

passed SPPI 

Financial 
assets 

measured on a 
Fair Value 

basis 

Financial 
assets 

designated as 
measured at 

FVTPL 

Total Financial 
instruments 

held for 
trading 

Total 
Fair Value 

Amount 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 
As at 31 December 
2018: 
Debt Securities - 38.2 15,524.4 15,562.6 4,426.6 19,989.2 
Equity Securities - - - - 13,195.8 13,195.8 
Loans 4.5 - 727.7 732.2 - 732.2
Collective Investment 
Schemes 

- - - - 4,623.3 4,623.3

Other assets (excluding 
tax receivable) 

510.0  - - 510.0 - 510.0

Derivatives - - - - 13.7 13.7 
Cash and cash 
equivalents 

1,347.9 - - 1,347.9 - 1,347.9

Total financial assets 1,862.4 38.2 16,252.1 18,152.7 22,259.4 40,412.1 
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20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

a) IFRS 9 deferral (continued)

For receivables, loans and cash and cash equivalents carried at amortised cost, the carrying value is considered to be 
approximately equal to fair value. 

(i) Change in fair value 2018 to 2019

Financial assets 

Financial 
assets that 

passed SPPI 

Financial 
assets 

measured on 
a Fair Value 

Basis 

Financial 
assets 

designated as 
measured at 

FVTPL 

Total Financial 
Instruments 

held for 
trading 

Total Fair 
Value 

Amount 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 
Debt Securities - 135.5 (145.8) (10.3) (361.2) (371.5) 
Equity Securities - - - - 1,382.5 1,382.5 
Loans (0.7) - 390.8 390.1 - 390.1
Collective Investment 
Schemes 

- - - - 9,141.1 9,141.1

Other assets 89.3 - - 89.3 - 89.3
Derivatives - - - - 39.4 39.4
Cash and cash equivalents 606.6 - - 606.6 22.4 629.0 
Total financial assets 695.2 135.5 245.0 1,075.7 10,224.2 11,299.9 

For financial assets whose cash flows represent SPPI, excluding any financial assets that meet the definition of held 
for trading in IFRS 9, or that are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, the table below 
provides information on credit risk exposure (refer to note 43 for more information). Note that certain assets 
designated as measured on a fair value basis passed the SPPI test and so these are included in the table below. The 
financial assets are categorised by asset class with a carrying amount measured in accordance with IAS 39 
measurement requirements (in the case of financial assets measured at amortised cost, before adjusting for any 
impairment allowances). 

As at 31 December 2019 
Loans Other assets Cash and cash 

equivalents 
Debt Securities 

£m £m £m £m 
AAA - - 1,127.5 960.5 
AA - - 222.0 4,826.2 
A - - 586.1 5,374.7 
BBB - - 8.7 3,354.7 
BB - - - 13.0 
B - - - - 
CCC - - - -  
Without external rating 3.8 599.3 10.2 7.8 
Total 3.8 599.3 1,954.5 14,536.9 
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20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

a) IFRS 9 deferral (continued)
As at 31 December 2018 

Loans Other assets Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Debt Securities 

£m £m £m £m 
AAA - - 508.4 871.8 
AA - 1.6 444.2 4,990.0 
A - - 371.4 4,215.6 
BBB - - 13.4 4,259.6 
BB - - - 124.3 
B - - - - 
CCC - - - - 
Without external rating 4.5 508.4 10.5 - 
Total 4.5 510.0 1,347.9 14,461.3 

For assets that do not have low credit risk as determined by the Group and of which cash flows represent SPPI, 
excluding any financial assets that meet the definition of held for trading in IFRS 9 or, that are managed and whose 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, the table below provides the credit risk exposure for the financial 
assets held by the Group. The financial assets are categorised by asset class with a carrying amount and fair value 
measured in accordance with IAS 39 measurement requirements. 

Carrying Amount 
£m 

Fair Value 
£m 

As at 31 December 2019 
Loans 3.8 3.8 
Other assets 599.3 599.3 
Cash and cash equivalents 10.2 10.2 

613.3 613.3 

Carrying Amount 
£m 

Fair Value 
£m 

 

As at 31 December 2018 
Loans 4.5  4.5  
Other assets 508.4  508.4  
Cash and cash equivalents 10.5  10.5  

523.4  523.4  
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20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

b) Carrying value and fair value by measurement category

Carrying Amount 
£m 

Fair Value 
£m 

As at 31 December 2019 
Financial Assets 
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss designated upon initial 
recognition 

47,960.4 47,960.4 

Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss 53.1 53.1 
Loans at fair value through profit and loss 1,118.5 1,118.5 
Loans at amortised cost 3.8 3.8 
Total financial assets 49,135.8 49,135.8 

Included in Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as follows: 
Listed investments: 
Shares and other variable yield  securities 14,578.3 14,578.3 
Debt securities and other fixed income securities    19,617.7 19,617.7 
Total listed investments 34,196.0 34,196.0 

Unlisted investments: 
Units in unit trusts 13,764.4 13,764.4 
Loans secured by mortgages 0.2 0.2 
Other loans 1,122.1 1,122.1 
Derivatives 53.1 53.1 
Total unlisted investments 14,939.8 14,939.8 

Total financial investments 49,135.8 49,135.8 
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20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

b) Carrying value and fair value by measurement category (continued)

Carrying Amount 
£m 

Fair Value 
£m 

As at 31 December 2018 
Financial Assets 
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss designated upon initial 
recognition 

37,808.3 37,808.3 

Derivatives at fair value through profit and loss 13.7 13.7 
Loans at fair value through profit and loss 727.7 727.7 
Loans at amortised cost 4.5 4.5 
Total financial assets 38,554.2 38,554.2 

Included in Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as follows: 
Listed investments: 
Shares and other variable yield  securities 13,195.8 13,195.8 
Debt securities and other fixed income securities    19,989.2 19,989.2 
Total listed investments 33,185.0 33,185.0 

Unlisted investments: 
Units in unit trusts 4,623.3 4,623.3 
Loans secured by mortgages 0.4 0.4 
Other loans 731.8 731.8 
Derivatives 13.7 13.7 
Total unlisted investments 5,369.2 5,369.2 

Total financial investments 38,554.2 38,554.2 

The carrying value in the above relates to the amounts recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements. The 
above assets are held at fair value therefore the carrying values stated are also the fair value, apart from loans at 
amortised cost for which the carrying value is an approximation of fair value. 

Included within financial assets at fair value through profit or loss designated upon initial recognition is £17.0m 
held within a custody account ring-fenced for the Group’s retirement benefit scheme under the Recovery Plan. 
Refer to note 30 for more information. 

Carrying Amount 
£m 

Fair Value 
£m 

As at 31 December 2019 
Financial Liabilities 
Investment contract liabilities (note 26) 29,938.4 29,938.4 
Derivatives 122.0 122.0 
Deposits received from reinsurers 99.9 99.9 
Borrowings (note 28) 974.6 986.3 
Total financial liabilities 31,134.9 31,146.6 
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20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

b) Carrying value and fair value by measurement category (continued)

Carrying Amount 
£m 

Fair Value 
£m 

As at 31 December 2018 
Financial liabilities 
Investment contract liabilities (note 26) 19,552.7 19,552.7 
Derivatives 113.0 113.0 
Deposits received from reinsurers 103.9 103.9 
Total financial liabilities 19,769.6 19,769.6 

c) Determination of fair values and fair value hierarchy

Financial instruments held at fair value in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position are analysed against the 
fair value measurement hierarchy, as follows: 

x Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group has the
ability to access.  Level 1 inputs are the most persuasive evidence of fair value and are used whenever
possible.

x Level 2 inputs are market-based inputs that are directly or indirectly observable but not considered Level
1 quoted prices. Level 2 inputs consist of (i) quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;
(ii) quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in non-active markets (e.g. markets which have few
transactions and prices that are not current or price quotations vary substantially); (iii) inputs other than
quoted prices that are observable (e.g. interest rates, yield curves, volatilities, prepayment speeds, credit
risk and default rates); and (iv) inputs that are derived from or corroborated by observable market data.

x Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs. These inputs reflect the Group's own assumptions about market
pricing using the best internal and external information available.

The following tables present the Group's assets and liabilities measured at fair value at 31 December 2019 and 31 
December 2018. 

Assets 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total items 

held at FVTPL 
£m £m £m £m 

As at 31 December 2019: 
Financial assets at FVTPL: 
Debt Securities 4,891.6 14,045.8 680.3 19,617.7 
Equity Securities 14,575.1 3.2 - 14,578.3
Loans - - 1,118.5 1,118.5
Collective Investment Schemes 13,729.0 8.5 26.9 13,764.4
Derivatives 2.8 50.3 - 53.1

33,198.5 14,107.8 1,825.7 49,132.0 
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20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

c) Determination of fair values and fair value hierarchy (continued)

Assets 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total items 

held at FVTPL 
£m £m £m £m 

As at 31 December 2018: 
Financial assets at FVTPL: 
Debt Securities 789.8 18,484.8 714.6 19,989.2 
Equity Securities 13,191.5 4.2 0.1 13,195.8 
Loans - - 727.7 727.7 
Collective Investment Schemes 4,619.5 3.8 - 4,623.3
Derivatives 0.7 13.0 - 13.7

18,601.5 18,505.8 1,442.4 38,549.7 

Liabilities 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total  

balance 
£m £m £m £m 

As at 31 December 2019: 
Investment contract liabilities without DPF (note 
26) 

- 27,611.8 19.1 27,630.9 

Derivative liabilities (note 20) 1.0 39.1 81.9 122.0 
Deposits received from reinsurers - - 99.9 99.9 
Borrowings (note 28) - 986.3 - 986.3

1.0 28,637.2 200.9 28,839.1 

Liabilities 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total  

balance 
£m £m £m £m 

As 31 December 2018: 
Investment contract liabilities without DPF (note 
26) 

17,384.3 - 17,384.3

Derivative liabilities (note 20) 0.7 13.8 98.5 113.0 
Deposits received from reinsurers - - 103.9 103.9 
Borrowings (note 28) - - - - 

0.7 17,398.1 202.4 17,601.2 

The Group cannot measure reliably the fair value of the investment contracts that contain a discretionary 
participating feature because of the absence of a reliable basis to measure the supplemental discretionary returns  
and because there is no active market for such instruments. 

The types of instruments valued based on quoted market prices in active markets include active listed equities. 
Such instruments are generally classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. 

The types of instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on quoted 
market prices, broker or dealer quotations, or alternative pricing sources with reasonable levels of price 
transparency include most government agency securities, investment-grade corporate bonds, certain mortgage 
and asset-backed products and state, municipal and provincial obligations. Such instruments are generally classified 
within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 
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20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Where we use broker quotes or valuations from independent third parties and no information as to the
observability of inputs is provided, the investments are classified as follows:

x Where the valuation is validated by using internal models with market observable inputs and the values
are similar, we classify the investment as Level 2.

x In circumstances where internal models are not used to validate valuations, or the observability of inputs
used is unavailable, the investment is classified as Level 3.

Certain financial instruments are classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy because they trade infrequently 
and therefore have little or no price transparency. Such instruments include private equity and less liquid corporate 
debt securities.  When appropriate, valuations are adjusted for various factors such as liquidity, bid/offer spreads 
and credit considerations. Such adjustments are generally based on available market evidence. In the absence of 
such evidence, management's best estimate is used. 

d) Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy

For financial instruments that are recognised at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether 
transfers have occurred between levels of the fair value hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of the reporting period. 
The following tables detail the transfers made during the reporting periods. 

From Level 2 to 
Level 1 

£m 
Year ended 31 December 2019 
Financial assets designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition: 
Collective Investment Schemes - 

Year ended 31 December 2018 
Financial assets designated at FVTPL upon initial recognition: 
Collective Investment Schemes 175.9  

The above transfers in 2018 were due to a change in pricing methodology. There were no transfers during 2019. 

The following tables present the changes in Level 3 instruments for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 31 
December 2018. 



103 

ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019 

20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

d) Transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy (continued)

Year ended 31 December 
2019 

Opening 
balance 

at 
1 January 

Purchases 
during 

this year 

Acquisition 
of Old 

Mutual 
Wealth 

Disposed 
during the 

year 

(Losses) 
/gains 

recognised 
in the 

income 
statement 

Transfers 
in/out of 

Level 3 

Closing 
balance at 

31 
December 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Financial assets 
Financial assets 
designated at FVTPL 
upon initial recognition: 
Debt Securities 714.6 30.2 - (46.9) 32.7 (50.3) 680.3 
Equity Securities 0.1 - - (0.1) - - - 
Loans 727.7 570.5 - (197.3) 17.6 - 1,118.5
Collective investment 
schemes - - 19.1 - - 7.8 26.9 

1,442.4 600.7 19.1 (244.3) 50.3 (42.5) 1,825.7 

Financial liabilities 
Derivative liabilities 98.5 - - (10.7) (5.9) - 81.9
Deposits received from 
reinsurers 103.9 - - - (4.0) - 99.9

202.4 - - (10.7) (9.9) - 181.8

Year ended 31 December 
2018 

Opening 
balance 

at 
1 January 

Purchases 
during 

this year 

Acquisition 
of Old 

Mutual 
Wealth 

Disposed 
during the 

year 

(Losses) 
/gains 

recognised 
in the 

income 
statement 

Transfers 
in/out of 

Level 3 

Closing 
balance at 

31 
December 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Financial assets 
Financial assets 
designated at FVTPL upon 
initial recognition: 
Debt Securities 716.7 27.7 - (9.5) (20.3) - 714.6
Equity Securities 0.1 - - - - - 0.1
Loans 633.4 235.5 - (136.5) (4.7) - 727.7

1,350.2 263.2 - (146.0) (25.0) - 1,442.4

Financial liabilities 
Derivative liabilities 111.1 - - (25.4) 12.8 - 98.5
Deposits received from 
reinsurers 

124.9 -   -  -   (21.0) -   103.9
236.0 - (25.4) (8.2) - 202.4
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20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

The above transfers were mainly due to a change in pricing methodology, and within collective investment
schemes, the suspension of certain funds from trading.

e) Level 3 financial instruments

The principal assets and liabilities classified as Level 3, and the valuation techniques applied to them, are described 
below. 

i) Assets

Debt securities 
Less liquid corporate debt securities or government debt which is issued in small quantities do not have observable 
market prices. Prices are based on quotes provided by third-party pricing vendors and first utilise valuation inputs 
from actively traded securities, such as bid process, bid spreads to Treasury securities, Treasury curves and same 
or comparable issuer curves and spreads. Issuer spreads are determined from actual quotes and traded prices and 
incorporate considerations of credit/default, sector composition, and liquidity and call features. Where market data 
is not available, valuations are developed based on the modelling techniques that utilise option-adjusted spreads 
and incorporate considerations of the security’s seniority, maturity and the issuer’s corporate structure. Such 
adjustments are generally based on available market evidence. In the absence of such evidence, management’s 
best estimate is used. 

Loans - infrastructure and mortgage loans 
The fair value of infrastructure and commercial mortgage loans is estimated by external fund managers using 
discounted cash flow models which are based on discount curves and spread inputs that require management’s 
judgement. Spread assumptions vary by manager but generally are based on a combination of publicly available 
spread information for comparable bonds, recent private transactions observed by the manager, and expert 
judgement. External valuations are verified internally using an in-house model. 

Collective investment schemes – suspended funds 
For assets that have been suspended from trading on an active market, the last published price is used. Many 
suspended assets are still regularly priced. At the reporting date all suspended assets are assessed for impairment. 

ii) Liabilities

Derivative liabilities - ERIP total return swap 
The total return swap represents future generated cash flows materialising over the duration of equity release 
policy contracts. Over time as the portfolio gradually contracts through further property sales, the relevant share 
of disposal proceeds are transferred. The financial liability’s carrying amount is the discounted present value of all 
future property sales, which are then passed on to the counterparty as part of the swap arrangement. These are 
discounted at ϱ.ϬϬй pa, assuming House Price Inflation (“HPI”) is zero. Mortality assumptions determine the 
discounting period since the property is sold when the annuitant dies. For these mortality assumptions, refer to 
note 26.  

The cumulative change in fair value of the swap arrangement attributable to changes in credit risk to 31 December 
2019 was £nil (2018: £nil). 
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20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Deposits received from reinsurers 
Certain reinsurance arrangements require the reinsurer to deposit with the Group, the reinsured value of the 
reserves, and entitle the reinsurer to receive interest based on that deposit. The reinsured value of the reserves is 
equal to 90.00% of the discounted present value of the expected future claims. This is calculated using mortality, 
interest rate and inflation assumptions, which are set using management's best estimates. 

The cumulative change in fair value of the deposit attributable to changes in credit risk to 31 December 2019 was 
£nil (2018: £nil). 

iii) Sensitivities

The tables below show the sensitivity of the fair value of Level 3 assets and liabilities at 31 December 2019 and 31 
December 2018 to changes in unobservable inputs to a reasonable alternative. 

Fair Value Most significant 
unobservable input 

Reasonable 
alternative 

Positive 
impact 

Negative 
impact 

£m £m £m 
As at 31 December 2019: 
Financial assets 
Debt securities 
- Corporate 678.2 Discount Rate +/- 100bps (47.1) 47.1 
- Government 2.1 Discount Rate +/- 100bps - - 

Loans
- Infrastructure 624.1 Discount Rate +/- 100bps (77.6) 77.6 
- Mortgage 494.4 Discount Rate +/- 100bps (13.1) 13.1 
Collective investment schemes
- Suspended funds 26.9 Fair Value +/- 25% 6.7 (6.7) 

Financial liabilities 
Derivative liabilities 
- ERIP total return swap 81.9 Discount Rate +/- 1.00% (2.9) 3.1 

Mortality assumption -5.00% - (0.5)
Deposits received from reinsurers 99.9 Discount Rate +/- 100bps (8.1) 8.0

Mortality assumption -5.00% -            2.1

As at 31 December 2018: 
Financial assets: 
Debt securities 
- Corporate 712.5 Discount Rate +/- 100bps (49.2) 49.2 
- Government 2.2 Discount Rate +/- 100bps (0.05) 0.1 

Loans
- Infrastructure 255.8 Discount Rate +/- 100bps (16.5) 16.5 
- Mortgage 471.9 Discount Rate +/- 100bps (14.6) 14.6 

Financial liabilities 
Derivative liabilities 
- ERIP total return swap 98.5 Discount Rate +/- 1.00% (3.8) 3.9 

Mortality assumption -5.00% (0.6) 
Deposits received from reinsurers 103.9 Discount Rate +/- 100bps (8.0)                9.1 

Mortality assumption -5.00% -            1.9
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20. Financial Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Favourable and unfavourable changes are determined on the basis of changes in the value of the financial asset 
or liability as a result of varying the levels of the unobservable parameters using statistical techniques. When 
parameters are not amenable to statistical analysis, quantification of uncertainty is judgemental. In aggregate, a 
25% change in the value of suspended funds is considered to represent a reasonable possible alternative 
judgement in the context of the current macro-economic environment in which the Group operates.  

21. Derivative Assets and Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments are classified as held for trading financial assets. Changes in fair value of such 
financial instruments are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. The below table shows the fair values 
of the derivative financial instrument assets and liabilities categorised by their type. The notional value is the total 
value of the position that the Group controls, or an agreed upon amount in a contract. 

a) Held at year end
Contract/ 
Notional 
Amount 

Assets Liabilities 

£m £m £m 
Year ended 31 December 2019: 
Non-profit/shareholder derivatives 
Interest rate contracts 3,152.1 6.2 (37.4) 
Equity/Index derivatives 43.7 - - 
Forward foreign currency contracts 886.4 38.8 (0.8) 
Other derivatives - - (81.9) 

4,082.2 45.0 (120.1) 
With-profit derivatives 
Interest rate contracts 541.8 2.2 - 
Equity/Index derivatives 8.0 0.1 - 

549.8 2.3 - 
Unit-linked derivatives 
Interest rate contracts 0.2 0.1 (0.1) 
Equity/Index derivatives 323.9 2.7 (1.0) 
Forward foreign currency contracts 2.2 3.0 (0.8) 

326.3 5.8 (1.9) 
Total derivative assets and liabilities 4,958.3 53.1 (122.0) 
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21. Derivative Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Contract/ 
Notional 
Amount 

Assets Liabilities 

£m £m £m 
Year ended 31 December 2018 (restated*): 
Non-profit/shareholder derivatives 
Interest rate contracts 1,498.5 4.8 (9.3) 
Equity/Index derivatives (191.1) 2.0 (0.1) 
Forward foreign currency contracts 322.0 1.6 (0.8) 
Other derivatives 1.0 - (98.5)

1,630.4 8.4 (108.7) 
With-profit derivatives 
Interest rate contracts 637.1 3.6 (1.7) 
Equity/Index derivatives 5.8 0.7 (0.6) 

642.9 4.3 (2.3) 
Unit-linked derivatives 
Interest rate contracts (17.9) 0.7 - 
Equity/Index derivatives 134.3 0.3 (2.0) 

116.4 1.0 (2.0) 
Total derivative assets and liabilities 2,389.7 13.7 (113.0) 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

Other derivatives primarily include the ERIP total return swap representing future generated cash flows materialising 
over the duration of equity release policy contracts. Over time as the portfolio gradually contracts through further 
property sales, the relevant share of disposal proceeds are transferred. 

The Group does not have any derivatives that are designated as hedging instruments (2018: same). 

b) Maturity analysis - gross undiscounted cash flows

The tables below show the cash flows arising from the derivative assets and liabilities of the Group. As noted above, 
the Group holds derivative financial instruments principally in connection with the management of its insurance 
contract and investment contract liabilities. All amounts disclosed represent undiscounted cash flows. 
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21. Derivative Assets and Liabilities (continued)

Within 1 Year 1-5 Years Over 5 Years Total 
£m £m £m £m 

As at 31 December 2019 
Cash inflows: 
Non-profit/ shareholder derivative liabilities 797.8 268.8 548.9 1,615.5 
With-profit derivative liabilities 4.6 16.4 30.3 51.3 
Unit-linked derivative liabilities 3.9 - - 3.9 

806.3 285.2 579.2 1,670.7 

Cash outflows 
Non-profit/ shareholder derivative liabilities 695.4 317.9 518.4 1,531.7 
With-profit derivative liabilities 1.4 3.3 5.3 10.0 
Unit-linked derivative liabilities 0.1 - - 0.1 

696.9 321.2 523.7 1,541.8 

Net non-profit/shareholder derivative liability 
cash flows 

102.4 (49.1) 30.6 83.9 

Net with-profit  derivative liability cash flows 3.2 13.1 24.9 41.2 
Net unit-linked derivative cash flows 3.8 - - 3.8 

Within 1 Year 1-5 Years Over 5 Years Total 
£m £m £m £m 

As at 31 December 2018 
Cash inflows: 
Non-profit/shareholder derivative liabilities 339.4 64.8 208.6 612.8 
With-profit derivative liabilities 5.6 17.6 33.7 56.9 
Unit-linked derivative liabilities 0.6 - - 0.6 

345.6 82.4 242.3 670.3 

Cash outflows 
Non-profit/shareholder derivative liabilities 352.2 136.1 269.2 757.5 
With-profit derivative liabilities 5.9 19.7 34.5 60.1 
Unit-linked derivative liabilities (1.1) - - (1.1) 

357.0 155.8 303.7 816.5 

Net non-profit/shareholder derivative liability 
cash flows 

(12.8) (71.3) (60.6) (144.7) 

Net with-profit derivative liability cash flows (0.3) (2.1) (0.8) (3.2) 
Net unit-linked derivative liability cash flows 1.7 - - 1.7 
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22. Deferred Tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been recognised / (provided) for the temporary differences and unused tax 
losses. The recognition of a deferred tax asset in respect of tax losses is supported by management's best estimate 
of the future taxable profits to absorb the losses in future years. Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset 
to the extent it is permissible under IFRS. The net movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is 
as follows: 

Net tax asset/ 
(liability) as at 

1 January 

Adjustments 
in respect 

 of prior 
years 

Transfer Tax 
(charge)/ 

credit  
to OCI 

Tax 
(charge)/ 
credit to 

income 
statement 

Net tax asset/ 
(liability) 

as at 31 
December 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 
Year ended  
31 December 2019: 
Capital Losses 31.1 - - - (5.5) 25.6 
Pension scheme (4.0) - - 4.4 (0.3) 0.1 
Present value of 
future profits 

(58.9) - (6.4) - 6.1 (59.2) 

Transitional 
adjustment arising 
on movement to 
new tax regime 

14.8 - (0.5) - (3.7) 10.6 

Unrealised 
chargeable gains 

(33.9) - (76.4) - (21.8) (132.1) 

Deferred acquisition 
expenses 

0.7 - 12.9 - - 13.6 

Deferred acquisition 
costs 

- - (0.1) - - (0.1) 

Consolidation 
adjustments 

110.4 - - - 20.3 130.7 

Other deferred 
items 

(2.8) 0.2 0.9 - 0.4 (1.3) 

Total deferred tax 
asset/(liability) 

57.4 0.2 (69.6) 4.4 (4.5) (12.1) 
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22. Deferred Tax (continued)

Net tax asset/ 
(liability) as at 

1 January 

Adjustments 
in respect 

 of prior  
years 

Transfer Tax 
(charge)/ 

credit  
to OCI 

Tax 
(charge)/ 
credit to 

income 
statement 

Net tax asset/ 
(liability) 

as at 31 
December 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 
Year ended  
31 December 2018 
(restated*): 
Capital Losses 36.7 - - - (5.6) 31.1 
Pension scheme 7.8 (7.8) - (4.0) - (4.0)
Present value of 
future profits 

(64.4) - - - 5.5 (58.9)

Transitional 
adjustment arising 
on movement to 
new tax regime 

18.5 - - - (3.7) 14.8 

Excess expenses 2.4 (0.7) - - (1.7) - 
Unrealised 
chargeable gains 

(74.4) - - - 40.5 (33.9) 

Deferred acquisition 
expenses 

0.8 0.1 - - (0.2) 0.7 

Change of reserving 
basis 

7.2 - - - (7.2) - 

Consolidation 
adjustments 

82.8 - - - 27.6 110.4 

Other deferred 
items 

6.5 - - - (9.3) (2.8) 

Total deferred tax 
asset/(liability) 23.9 (8.4) - (4.0) 45.9 57.4 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

Consolidation adjustments principally relate to the Group expense provision (refer to note 1.24.5). 

23. Other Financial Assets

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Collateral receivables 225.4 91.3 
Accrued investment income 278.6 314.0 

504.0 405.3 
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24. Other Assets

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Prepayments and other 66.6 71.7 
Net amounts from Swiss Re Group (see note 46a) 28.7 33.0 

95.3 104.7 

Net amounts owed from Swiss Re Group relate to intercompany loans which were set up at the point of acquisition 
of the Guardian group of companies in 2016.  

25. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2019 2018 
(restated*) 

£m £m 
Cash 455.7 179.3 
Cash equivalents 1,521.2 1,168.6 

1,976.9 1,347.9 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

Cash comprises cash at bank and in hand.  Cash equivalents comprise bank deposits and highly liquid short-term 
investments. There are no amounts included in the cash and cash equivalents balances that are not readily available. 

26. Insurance Contract Liabilities

a) Principal valuation assumptions

The principal valuation assumptions used in the calculation of insurance contract liabilities are: 
x Discount rate;
x Mortality; and
x Expenses.

i) Discount rate
For annuity business in the NPF, the discount rates used are determined by reference to basic risk-free interest rates
prescribed by EIOPA. A Matching Adjustment is applied to certain blocks of annuity business. The business covered
by the Matching Adjustment is discounted using the EIOPA risk-free rate increased by the Matching Adjustment
(“MA”) rate that is calculated using a risk-adjusted yield in excess of the risk-free rates taking a specified portfolio of
assets and matching cash flows on the liabilities. The size of the Matching Adjustment depends on the actual spread
on the Matching Portfolio of assets, and the credit quality of those assets. The Matching Adjustment rate applied at
31 December 2019 is 0.79% (2018: 1.05%). Annuities not covered by the Matching Adjustment are discounted at the
EIOPA risk-free rate.

For other non-annuity products in the Non Profit Fund, the valuation interest rate used to calculate the technical 
provisions for income protection claims in payment is determined on the assets held with a prudent allowance for 
expected defaults and investment costs; for all other products the discount rate is based on the rate available for 
reinvestment. For Ark Life, the valuation interest rate is based on quoted Euro swap rates with no deductions. For 
Old Mutual Wealth, the valuation interest rate is set with reference to a matching portfolio of gilts. 
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26. Insurance Contract Liabilities (continued)

a) Principal valuation assumptions (continued)

The table below provides an overview of the discount rates applied as at the year end: 

Discount rates (p.a.) 2019 2018 

Non-profit business; 
Annuities in payment (NPF) - MA EIOPA RFR + MA 

rate of 0.79% 
EIOPA RFR + MA 

rate of 1.05% 
Annuities in payment (NPF) - non-MA EIOPA RFR EIOPA RFR 
Other NPF products (IP claims in payment) 2.62% 2.52% 
Ark Life insurance contracts 0.11% 0.92% 
Old Mutual Wealth non linked protection (pre 1 Jan 2013) 0.98% - 
Old Mutual Wealth non linked protection (post 31 Dec 2012) 1.23% - 

With-profit business (WLWPF / NMWPF) 
Risk-free rate Gilt yields plus 

10bp 
Gilt yields plus 

10bp 
UK equity volatility Market consistent Market 

consistent 
Property volatility 12.7% 12.7% 

Sensitivities to changes in interest rates, equity prices and property prices are shown in note 43. 

ii) Mortality

For annuities in payment, the mortality assumption is generally based on the PMA08 table for males and the PFA08 
table for females with CMI High Age Mortality Working Party (HAMWP) adjustments at high ages, adjusted to reflect 
the historic experience of the business concerned. The mortality rates are projected using future mortality 
improvements from the CMI_2017 model.  The mortality improvements have been set using the extended version 
of the CMI model (with a smoothing parameter S(k)=7.75) and a long-term rate of improvement of 1.50% for both 
males and females.  For annuities written on enhanced terms, the base mortality rates are adjusted to allow for the 
pattern of additional mortality the lives concerned are expected to exhibit, according to the circumstances that gave 
rise to the enhancement with no further adjustment to mortality improvements. 
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26. Insurance Contract Liabilities (continued)

Mortality tables for non-profit annuities in payment

2019 2018 
ZAL 98% PMA08_HAMWP 97% PMA08_HAMWP 

102% PFA08_HAMWP 100% PFA08_HAMWP 

NML Modified PMA08_HAMWP Modified PMA08_HAMWP 
Modified PFA08_HAMWP Modified PFA08_HAMWP 

NMP 92% PMA08_HAMWP 92% PMA08_HAMWP 
95% PFA08_HAMWP 90% PFA08_HAMWP 

WLA  129.2% PMA08_HAMWP up to age 
65, then decreasing linearly to 

105%   PMA08_HAMWP by age 85 

 123% PMA08_HAMWP up to age 
65, then decreasing linearly to 

100%   PMA08_HAMWP by age 85 
 130% PFA08_HAMWP up to age 

65, then decreasing linearly to 
106%  PFA08_HAMWP by age 90 

 130% PFA08_HAMWP up to age 
65, then decreasing linearly to 

106%  PFA08_HAMWP by age 90 

RCBPF swap 99% S3PMA 112% S2PMA 
83% S3PFA 92% S2PFA 

AKZO Nobel swap 108% S3PMA 107% S2PMA 
100% S3PFA 101% S2PFA 

LV= swap 113% S3PMA 102% S2PMA 
97% S3PFA 98% S2PFA 

Guardian Legacy 93% PMA08_HAMWP 90% PMA08_HAMWP 
107% PFA08_HAMWP 104% PFA08_HAMWP 

Guardian BA  129.2% PMA08_HAMWP up to age 
65, then decreasing linearly to 

105%   PMA08_HAMWP by age 85 

123% PMA08_HAMWP up to age 
65, then decreasing linearly to 

100% PMA08_HAMWP by age 85 
 130% PFA08_HAMWP up to age 

65, then decreasing linearly to 
106%  PFA08_HAMWP by age 90 

130% PFA08_HAMWP up to age 
65, then decreasing linearly to 

106% PFA08_HAMWP by age 90 

Guardian Century 100% PMA08_HAMWP 100% PMA08_HAMWP 
102% PFA08_HAMWP 101% PFA08_HAMWP 

Guardian SMA 92% PMA08_HAMWP 92% PMA08_HAMWP 
95% PFA08_HAMWP 90% PFA08_HAMWP 

Guardian SPL 92% PMA08_HAMWP 92% PMA08_HAMWP 
95% PFA08_HAMWP 90% PFA08_HAMWP 

Guardian Pearl  129.2% PMA08_HAMWP up to age 
65, then decreasing linearly to 

105%   PMA08_HAMWP by age 85 

123% PMA08_HAMWP up to age 
65, then decreasing linearly to 

100% PMA08_HAMWP by age 85 
 130% PFA08_HAMWP up to age 

65, then decreasing linearly to 
106%  PFA08_HAMWP by age 90 

130%PFA08_HAMWP up to age 
65, then decreasing linearly to 

106% PFA08_HAMWP by age 90 
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26. Insurance Contract Liabilities (continued)

Guardian NPI 92% PMA08_HAMWP 92% PMA08_HAMWP 
95% PFA08_HAMWP 90% PFA08_HAMWP 

Guardian PWP 100% PMA08_HAMWP 100% PMA08_HAMWP 
102% PFA08_HAMWP 101% PFA08_HAMWP 

Guardian Alba 100% PMA08_HAMWP 100% PMA08_HAMWP 
102% PFA08_HAMWP 101% PFA08_HAMWP 

Guardian SAL 100% PMA08_HAMWP 100% PMA08_HAMWP 
102% PFA08_HAMWP 101% PFA08_HAMWP 

Mortality assumptions for non-linked protection business 

Old Mutual Wealth non linked 
protection 

68% TM00 select(5) 
68% TF00 select(5) 

- 

For ReAssure annuities in payment, mortality improvements are CMI_2017_M [1.50%; S=7.75]  for males and 
CMI_2017_F [1.50%; S=7.75] for females (2018: CMI_2017_M [1.50%; S=7.75]  for males and CMI_2017_F [1.50%; 
S=7.75] for females). 

For Old Mutual Wealth non-linked protection policies, mortality improvements are 0.50% per annum. 

Sensitivity to changes in mortality rates is shown in note 42. 

iii) Expenses

In determining provisions for the future expense of administering insurance contracts, assumptions are required 
regarding the proportion of the Group’s costs that relate to administration of contracts in RAL, and the allocation 
of that proportion between different types of contract.  The costs on which the allocation is based are the historic 
costs of the business overlaid where appropriate by additional expected recurring costs. The allocation between 
contract types is based on an analysis of some direct costs arising from different types of contracts and the splitting 
of other costs in proportion to the number of contracts of each type.  The costs allocated are increased by a prudent 
margin. 

In projecting the expenses over the lifetime of the insurance contracts, it is assumed that for each contract type, 
there is a constant ratio between the total cost for that contract type and the total management service agreement 
payments made by RAL to the Group for that contract type. This therefore allows for:  

x The run-off of contracts as projected, making the same assumptions for mortality and persistency as apply
for the calculation of the Technical Provisions of RAL; and

x A rate of expense inflation in line with the escalations set under the management service agreements,
which for the most material reserves is the rate of increase of the Retail Price Index increased by 1%.
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26. Insurance Contract Liabilities (continued)

b) Options and guarantees

The with-profit policies in the NMWPF and WLWPF benefit from two types of guarantee; cash or annuity. Most 
policies have a guaranteed minimum cash value at their maturity date (the WLWPF contains a number of with-
profit annuities-in-payment which have guaranteed minimum payments each year). The level of the guarantee 
depends on the type of policy and is increased periodically through the addition of bonuses. For some policies, the 
guarantee extends across a range of dates, with the level being recalculated as appropriate.  Annuity guarantees 
contractually guarantee how the pension fund is converted into an annuity at retirement. The most common of 
these types of guarantees in NMWPF and WLWPF is a Guaranteed Annuity Rate (“GAR”). These specify a 
guaranteed annuity rate that will be used to convert the pension fund into cash. 

The cost of the guarantees is calculated using a market-consistent stochastic valuation, with best-estimate 
assumptions for the other elements of the basis. For the NMWPF, annual bonus rates are assumed to be 
unchanged, whilst for the WLWPF, they vary depending upon the investment conditions being modelled. The 
asset mix is reset each year to the weightings assumed at the start of the projection. Pay-outs are assumed to 
move in line with underlying asset shares, before taking into account the impact of smoothing and guarantees. 
For WLWPF and NMWPF, a fixed assumption is used to allow for the take-up rate of the guarantees.  For 
GAWPF, with-profits deferred annuities have a guaranteed minimum cash value at their maturity date. 

c) Analysis of the change in insurance contract liabilities

A summary of the changes in insurance contracts liabilities is shown in the table below. The main drivers of the 
change during 2019 were a decrease to the liabilities due to the run-off of the business (including experience 
variances), an increase due to assumption changes (mainly from changes in economic assumptions) and the 
transfer in of business relating to the acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth (refer to note 37). 

Year ended: 

Opening 
balance 

Impact  
of new 

business 

Business 
transfer 

in1 

Impact of  
run-off/ 

experience 
effects 

Impact of  
assumption 

changes 

Other 
Impact 

Currency 
impact 

Closing  
balance 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
31 December 2019 

With-profits insurance 
contracts 

1,299.0 - - 16.9 (0.5) (0.3) - 1,314.3

Non-profit insurance 
contracts 

17,259.6 11.2 700.4 (1,011.7) 1,071.7 0.6 (40.5) 17,992.2 

Unit-linked insurance 
contracts 

2,582.3 - 278.1 109.3 0.5 - (4.3) 2,965.9 

21,141.0 11.2 978.5 (885.5) 1,071.7 0.3 (44.8) 22,272.4 

Reinsurers' share of 
with-profit provisions 

(3.0) - - (0.1) - - - (3.1) 

Reinsurers’ share of non-
profit provisions 

(1,761.3) - (583.2) 111.1 (199.4) (0.3) 40.6 (2,392.5) 

19,376.7 11.2 395.3 (774.5) 872.3 - (4.2) 19,876.8

1 Business transfer in relates to the acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth, refer to note 37. 
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26. Insurance Contract Liabilities (continued)

Year ended: 

Opening 
balance 

Impact  
of new 

business 

Impact of  
run-off/ 

experience 
effects 

Impact of  
assumption 

changes 

Other 
Impact 

Currency 
impact 

Closing  
balance 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
31 December 2018 (restated*) 
With-profits insurance contracts 1,439.1 - (127.5) (12.6) - - 1,299.0
Non-profit insurance contracts 18,659.1 15.5 (1,231.3) (189.4) - 5.9 17,259.6
Unit-linked insurance contracts 3,125.6 - (545.2) 1.0 - 0.9 2,582.3 

23,223.8 15.5 (1,904.1) (201.0) - 6.8 21,141.0

Reinsurers' share of with-profit 
provisions 

(1.0) - (2.0) - - - (3.0)

Reinsurers’ share of non-profit 
provisions 

(1,888.4) - 193.3 (60.3) - (5.9) (1,761.3)

21,334.4 15.5 (1,712.8) (261.3) - 0.9 19,376.7

Reinsurance assets are paid in line with the profile of claims made and are therefore, mostly non-current assets, 
expected to be realised in greater than ϭϮ months’ time, see note ϭ.Ϯ6. 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

d) Impact of assumption changes on insurance contract liabilities

A summary of the impact of changes in assumptions on non-profit and unit-linked insurance contracts is shown in 
the table below. The main impacts from changes in assumptions for 2019 arise from a decrease in annuity liabilities 
as a consequence of updating longevity assumptions and an increase as a consequence of reduced yields and credit 
spreads affecting the MA funds. In addition, there was a reduction in insurance contract liabilities due to moving 
around £800m liabilities relating to annuities in payment into the MA fund. 

The main impacts from changes in assumptions for 2018 arose from an increase in annuity liabilities as a 
consequence of updating longevity assumptions, a decrease as a consequence of increased yields and credit 
spreads affecting the MA funds and an increase in the group expense provision, largely due to a significant increase 
in the overall expenses deemed to be related to in-force maintenance. 

Impact on 
liabilities before 

reinsurance 

Impact of  
reinsurance 

Impact on 
liabilities after 

reinsurance 
£m £m £m 

Year ended 31 December 2019: 
Matching adjustment extension (68.8) 0.5 (68.3) 
Demographic changes (150.8) 19.3 (131.5) 
Economic changes 1,200.1 (219.2) 980.9 
Expenses 91.8 - 91.8 

1,072.3 (199.4) 872.9 

Year ended 31 December 2018 (restated*): 
Demographic changes 97.7 (69.7) 28.0 
Economic changes (286.1) 9.4 (276.7) 

(188.4) (60.3) (248.7) 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement
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27. Investment Contract Liabilities

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Investment contract liabilities - unit-linked 27,607.8 17,361.3 
Investment contract liabilities - non-profit 23.1 23.0 

27,630.9 17,384.3 
Reinsurers’ share of unit linked provisions (729.4) - 

26,901.5 17,384.3 

Investment contract liabilities with DPF 2,307.5 2,168.4 
29,209.0 19,552.7 

Unit linked investment contract liabilities are carried in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

Certain investment contracts contain a discretionary participating feature which gives the holder an entitlement to 
receive additional benefits or bonuses, as a supplement to the guaranteed benefits. The application of  these 
supplemental discretionary benefits is entirely at the discretion of the Group. 

Movements in investment contract liabilities without DPF 
2019 2018 

£m £m 
At 1 January 17,384.3 19,592.1 
Linked cash flows arising (premiums, claims, fees) (1,170.9) (1,443.4) 
Business transfer in of Old Mutual Wealth (see note 38) 8,175.6 - 
Linked investment return 2,602.1 (779.0) 
Change in non-profit non linked investment contract liabilities 0.1 (1.5) 
Currency impact (89.7) 16.1 
At year end 26,901.5 17,384.3 

Movements in investment contract liabilities with DPF 
2019 2018 

£m £m 
At 1 January 2,168.4 2,423.2 
Impact of experience effects 82.5 (265.2) 
Impact of assumption changes 56.6 10.4 
At year end 2,307.5 2,168.4 

28. Borrowings

The Group classifies its interest bearing borrowings (comprised of the loan amount and interest accrued on that
amount) as financial liabilities carried at amortised cost and these are recognised initially at fair value less any
attributable transaction costs. Directly attributable transaction costs are amortised over the life of the borrowings.
The difference between initial cost and the redemption value is amortised through the Consolidated Income
Statement over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.
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28. Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are classified as either policyholder or shareholder borrowings. Policyholder borrowings are those
borrowings where there is either no or limited shareholder exposure, for example, borrowings attributable to the
Group’s with-profit operations. As at 31 December 2019, all borrowings were classified as shareholder borrowings.

a) Analysis of borrowings

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Subordinated debt 
£500m 5.87% Tier 2 capital markets bond 487.3 - 
£250m 5.77% Tier 2 capital markets bond 243.7 -  
£250m 4.02% Tier 3 capital markets bond 243.6 - 
Total borrowings 974.6 - 

(i) Subordinated debt

On 13 June 2019 the Group issued £500.0m Tier 2 10 year subordinated notes, £250.0m Fixed Rate Reset Callable 
Tier 2 10 year subordinated notes (first optional call date in year 5) and £250.0m Tier 3 7 year subordinated notes 
to Swiss Re ReAssure Limited (SRRL), a Swiss Re Group company.  

The £250.0m Fixed Rate Reset Callable Tier Ϯ ϭϬ year subordinated notes are callable in full at the Group’s option. 
The first call date is 13 June 2024. In the event the Group does not call the notes the interest rate will reset to 5.17% 
plus a margin equivalent to the yield of a UK Treasury Bill of similar term.   

In response to the postponed IPO the three tranches were privately placed and listed on the London Stock Exchange 
Professional Securities Market where they can be publicly traded. 

Fees associated with these notes of £30.0m were deferred and are being amortised over the life of the notes. 

(ii) Senior revolving credit facility 

On 6 June 2019 the Group entered into an agreement for a syndicated back-up liquidity facility for general 
corporate purposes. The initial tenor of the facility is for three years with an option for the lender to extend by  
one year at the end of the first or second year. Drawn down amounts accrue interest at LIBOR plus 0.50%, a 
commitment fee of 0.17% is applicable on the undrawn amount. The facility is undrawn as at 31 December 2019. 

All borrowings are unsecured. Subordinated notes issued by the Group rank below the senior revolving credit 
facility and ahead of its ordinary share capital. 
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28. Borrowings (continued)

b) Movement during the year
Cash 

Movements 
Non-cash 

movements 
£m £m 

As at 31 December 2019 

Subordinated debt 
£500m 5.87% Tier 2 capital markets bond 470.3 17.0 
£250m 5.77% Tier 2 capital markets bond 235.3 8.4 
£250m 4.02% Tier 3 capital markets bond 237.5 6.1 
Total borrowings 943.1 31.5 

29. Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contractual Commitments

Restructuring 
provision 

Property 
provision 

Other provisions Total 

£m £m £m £m 
Year ended 31 December 2019: 
At 1 January 2019 3.8 1.5 15.1 20.4 
Additional provisions 10.6 - 7.0 17.6 
Acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth Life 
Assurance Limited 

- - 11.8 11.8 

Utilisation of provision (0.9) - (10.0) (10.9) 
At 31 December 2019 13.5 1.5 23.9 38.9 

Year ended 31 December 2018: 
At 1 January 2018 13.0 1.5 5.3 19.8 
Additional provisions 1.7 - 10.7 12.4 
Utilisation of provision (10.9) - (0.9) (11.8) 
At 31 December 2018 3.8 1.5 15.1 20.4 

a) Provisions

Included with restructuring provisions is a £10.6m provision for restructuring costs associated with the Part VII of the 
Legal & General business planned for 2020. 

Included in other provisions is £11.8m provision due to the acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth. This entity is carrying 
a provision for customer remediation activities which are being addressed as part of an on-going project expected to 
complete in 2020. Additionally, other provisions have increased due to a £1.8m provision for legal expenses arising 
from a dispute with HMRC and £0.8m for executive bonuses.  

Partially offsetting these additional provisions is the release of a £3.0m provision relating to a dispute with a third 
party which has now been settled and a net £2.0m reduction to the £10.0m provision introduced in 2018 as a result 
of an internal thematic review in respect of charges for the attached benefits of paid-up policies. 
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29. Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contractual Commitments (continued)

b) Contingent liabilities

During the ordinary course of business the Group is subject to complaints and threatened or actual legal 
proceedings (including class or Group action claims) brought by or on behalf of current or former employees, 
customers, investors or other third parties, as well as legal and regulatory reviews, challenges, investigations and 
enforcement actions, both in the United Kingdom and overseas.  All such material matters are periodically 
reassessed, with the assistance of external professional advisors where appropriate, to determine the likelihood of 
the Group incurring a liability.  In those instances where it is concluded that it is more likely than not that a payment 
will be made, a provision is established to management’s best estimate of the amount required at the relevant 
balance sheet date. In some cases it will not be possible to form a view, for example because the facts are unclear 
or because further time is needed to properly assess the situation, and no provisions are held in relation to such 
matters. One such matter is disclosed below. However, the Group does not currently expect the final outcome of 
this or of any such case to have a material adverse effect on its financial position, operations or cash flows. 

Pre-acquisition breach of HMRC regulations 

In 2018, the Group self reported a breach of HMRC regulations in a limited number of annuities after the lack of 
provision of standard lifetime allowance from an acquired block of business. The Group is working with the pre-
acquisition third party provider to rectify this breach before any settlement conclusion will be reached with HMRC. 
Whilst the maximum penalty per breach is minimal, the maximum exposure for all breaches in this regard is 
approximately £52.0m for the period under the Group’s ownership to date. However we believe, that any material 
penalty or settlement payment is sufficiently remote that no provision is held within the Financial Statements . 

c) Contractual commitments

The Group enters into a number of forward dated transactions in relation to the provision of private debt to external 
parties. The value of these forward dated transactions as at 31 December 2019 is £142.6m (2018: £nil). At the point 
when these loans are issued, they are accounted for as financial assets within the Statement of Financial Position.  

30. Retirement Benefit Schemes

The Group operates one defined benefit scheme, the ReAssure Staff Pension Scheme ("RSPS") which is closed to
future accrual. The Group also operates an unfunded unapproved retirement benefit scheme or private retirement
trust for one deferred member. A defined contribution pension scheme, the Group Personal Pension scheme, is
operated by RUKSL, a subsidiary undertaking.

The Group has an unconditional right to the return of any surplus in the scheme once all the scheme liabilities have
been satisfied. As a result there is no requirement to apply an asset ceiling under IAS 19 and any surplus in the
scheme can be recognised as an asset in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Future funding requirements are determined by the outcome of the triennial scheme valuation which was last
performed at ϯϭ December ϮϬϭϳ.  The Trustee’s primary funding objective is the statutory funding objective, which
is to have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover the Scheme’s technical provisions (the amount that the
Trustees have determined to be required to make provision for the Scheme’s liabilities).

The 31 December 2017 triennial actuarial valuation of the Scheme revealed a shortfall under this objective, and so
a Recovery Plan was agreed between the Trustee and the Group in order to make good the deficit. Under the
Recovery Plan, during the year the Group has paid a monetary amount of £17.0m into a Custody Account. This
account has been included within the Group’s financial investments as at ϯϭ December ϮϬϭϵ, refer to note 20 for
more information.
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30. Retirement Benefit Schemes (continued)

The amount held in the Custody Account will be assessed at future valuations and additional payments will be made
by the Group if this is deemed insufficient to meet the balance of the funding shortfall as at 31 December 2025. If
the assumptions documented in the Statement of Funding Principles are borne out in practice, the amount
expected to be held in the Custody Account as at 31 December 2025 would be more than sufficient to remove any
remaining deficit at 31 December 2025.

The assumptions used in calculating the accounting costs and obligations of the RSPS and the private retirement
trust, as detailed below, are set by the directors after consultation with independent, professionally qualified
actuaries. The basis for these assumptions is prescribed by IAS 19 and they do not reflect the assumptions that may
be used in future funding valuations of the RSPS.

2019 2018 
Discount rate 2.00% 2.90% 
Inflation rate 3.20% 3.40% 
Rate of increase in salaries 3.20% 3.40% 
Rate of increase in pensions 3.20% 3.40% 
Rate of increase in deferred benefits during deferment 2.20% 2.40% 

Mortality assumptions: 
Longevity at age 60 for current pensioners 
- Men 28.4 years 28.6 years 
- Women 29.8 years 30.1 years 
Longevity at age 60 for future pensioners currently aged 45
- Men 29.6 years 29.9 years 
- Women 31.2 years 31.5 years 

Weighted Average Duration of Defined Benefit Obligation 21.0 years 22.0 years 

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Expected contributions for year ending 31 December: 
Employer  2.3 2.3 

- Expected benefit payments during fiscal year ending 31-Dec-19 - 13.5
- Expected benefit payments during fiscal year ending 31-Dec-20 8.7 13.8
- Expected benefit payments during fiscal year ending 31-Dec-21 9.5 14.0
- Expected benefit payments during fiscal year ending 31-Dec-22 10.4 14.3
- Expected benefit payments during fiscal year ending 31-Dec-23 10.1 14.5
- Expected benefit payments during fiscal year ending 31-Dec-24 11.4 -  
- Expected benefit payments during fiscal years ending 31-Dec-24 through 31-Dec-28 - 76.7
- Expected benefit payments during fiscal years ending 31-Dec-25 through 31-Dec-29 61.2 -  

a) ReAssure staff pension scheme

The assets of the RSPS are held in separate, trustee-administered funds. 

The most recent full actuarial valuation for funding purposes was performed by Willis Towers Watson, a firm of 
independent actuaries, at 31 December 2017. 
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30. Retirement Benefit Schemes (continued)

There were no contributions made in respect of current service for the current and prior years. The Group agrees
to cover those expenses incurred by the scheme and the cost of the death-in-service benefits for those members
of the scheme who are entitled only to those benefits.

In 2018, following the Lloyds case regarding the unequal treatment of Guaranteed Minimum Pension (“GMP”)
between males and females, the Scheme has made allowance for the estimated impact of this. A provision of
0.10% of the defined benefit obligation has been made to allow for the cost of GMP equalisation. The impact of
GMP equalisation on the Group’s Disclosures has been recognised as a Past Service cost in 2018.

The fair value of the assets of the RSPS is set out below:

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Equities 150.1 137.4 
Bonds 165.7 151.3 
Gilts 89.1 73.7  
Cash 16.8 21.5 

421.7 383.9 

The equity investments and bonds which are held in scheme assets are quoted and are valued at the bid price at 
the year end. 
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30. Retirement Benefit Schemes (continued)

The table below details the movements in the pension assets and liabilities recorded through the Consolidated
Income Statement (within administrative expenses) and Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income:

Fair  
value of 

scheme assets 

Present  
value of 

obligation 

Asset/ 
(liability)  

recognised on 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position 

£m £m £m 
Year ended 31 December 2019: 
At 1 January 2019 383.9 (368.8) 15.1 
Current service cost - (0.7) (0.7) 
Interest income/(cost) 11.0 (10.5) 0.5 
Total amounts recognised in Consolidated Income Statement 11.0 (11.2) (0.2) 

Actuarial gain/(loss) - experience - 1.2 1.2 
Actuarial gain/(loss) - demographic assumptions - 3.7 3.7 
Actuarial gain/(loss) - financial assumptions - (57.2) (57.2) 
Net actuarial gains/(loss): - (52.3) (52.3) 

Return on scheme assets greater/(less) than discount rate 36.3 - 36.3
Total remeasurement in Consolidated Statement of Other 
Comprehensive Income 

36.3 (52.3) (16.0) 

Contributions paid by employer 1.9 - 1.9
Benefits paid (10.7) 11.6 0.9
Administrative expenses (0.7) - (0.7)
Income tax charge on the pension surplus of 35% - (0.3) (0.3)
At 31 December 2019 421.7 (421.0) 0.7 
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30. Retirement Benefit Schemes (continued)

Fair  
value of 

scheme assets 

Present  
value of 

obligation 

Asset/ 
(liability)  

recognised on 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position 

£m £m £m 
Year ended 31 December 2018: 
At 1 January 2018 409.2 (417.8) (8.6) 
Current service cost - (1.0) (1.0) 
Past service cost - (0.4) (0.4) 
Interest income/(cost) 10.5 (10.7) (0.2) 
Total amounts recognised in Consolidated Income Statement 10.5 (12.1) (1.6) 

Actuarial gain/(loss) - experience - 15.6 15.6 
Actuarial gain/(loss) - demographic assumptions - 5.7 5.7 
Actuarial gain/(loss) - financial assumptions - 25.5 25.5 
Net actuarial gains/(loss): - 46.8 46.8 

Return on scheme assets greater/(less) than discount rate (23.4) - (23.4)
Total remeasurement in other Consolidated Statement of Other 
Comprehensive Income 

(23.4) 46.8 23.4 

Contributions paid by employer 1.9 - 1.9
Benefits paid (13.3) 14.3 1.0
Administrative expenses (1.0) - (1.0)
At 31 December 2018 383.9 (368.8) 15.1 

The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities are as follows: 

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on scheme liabilities 

Discount rate Increase/decrease by 0.10% Decrease/increase by 2.00% 

RPI inflation* Increase/decrease by 0.10% Decrease/increase by 2.00% 

Long term trend in future mortality 
improvements 

Increase/decrease by 0.25% pa Increase/decrease by 1.20% 

* including associated changes to pension increases, salary increases and CPI inflation.

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When 
calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method 
(present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the 
reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability recognised in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis 
did not change compared to the prior periods. 
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30. Retirement Benefit Schemes (continued)

Risks and risk management

The RSPS, in common with the majority of such defined benefit pension schemes in the UK, has a number of areas
of risk. These areas of risk, and the ways in which the Group has sought to manage them, are set out below:

i) Asset volatility

The scheme currently invests in equities, corporate bonds and index linked gilts. These assets are subject to market 
risk in the form of both equity price risk from changes in equity prices and interest rate risk from changes in interest 
rates. The investments in corporate bonds also carry default risk, although defaults from corporate bonds held by 
the scheme have historically been low. 

As at 31 December 2019, the Scheme holds approximately 21% of its assets in fixed interest and index-linked bonds 
(2018: 19%), 30% in corporate bonds (2018: 30%) and 9% (2018: 10%) in secure income assets in order to broadly 
match its liabilities. 

The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if plan assets 
underperform this yield, this will create a deficit. The plan equities are expected to outperform corporate bonds in 
the long-term while providing volatility and risk in the short-term. If yields on corporate bonds fall then plan 
liabilities will increase although this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of the plan’s bond holdings. 

As the plan matures, the Group intends to reduce the level of investment risk by investing more in assets that better 
match the liabilities. Over the last year the scheme has reduced its equity holding and invested in some index linked 
gilts.  However while planning to reduce investment risk over the long term, the Group believes that due to the long-
term nature of the plan liabilities and the strength of the supporting Group, in the short to medium term a level of 
continuing equity investment is an appropriate element of the Group's long term strategy to manage the plan 
efficiently. 

ii) Inflation risk

The pension obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities (although caps on 
the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect the plan against extreme inflation). The majority of the 
plan’s assets are either unaffected by (corporate bonds) or loosely correlated with (equities) inflation, meaning that 
an increase in inflation will also increase the deficit. However, during the year the scheme sold some of its equity 
holdings and reinvested in index linked gilts, which provide a hedge against inflation risk. While the holding of index 
linked gilts is currently small relative to the total size of the fund they do provide some protection against inflation 
risk. 

iii) Life expectancy

The majority of the plan’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life 
expectancy will result in an increase in the plan’s liabilities. 
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30. Retirement Benefit Schemes (continued)

b) Private retirement trust

The Group operates an unfunded unapproved retirement benefit scheme or private retirement trust for one 
deferred member. 

The fair value of the assets of the Private Retirement Trust is set out below: 
2019 2018 

£m £m 
Equities 0.3 0.3 
Other 0.1 0.1 

0.4 0.4 

The equity investments which are held in scheme assets are quoted and are valued at the bid price at 31 December. 

The table below details the movements in the pension assets and liabilities recorded through the Consolidated 
Income Statement and Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income relating to the private retirement 
trust. 

Fair value of 
scheme assets 

Present value 
of obligation 

Liability 
recognised on 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position 

£m £m £m 
Year ended 31 December 2019: 
At 1 January 2019 0.4 (2.2) (1.8) 
Actuarial gain taken to Consolidated Statement of Other 
Comprehensive Income 

- (0.2) (0.2) 

At 31 December 2019 0.4 (2.4) (2.0) 

Fair value of 
scheme assets 

Present value 
of obligation 

Liability 
recognised on 
Statement of 

Financial 
Position 

£m £m £m 
Year ended 31 December 2018: 
At 1 January 2018 0.4 (2.2) (1.8) 
Actuarial gain taken to Consolidated Statement of Other 
Comprehensive Income 

- - - 

At 31 December 2018 0.4 (2.2) (1.8) 
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31. Other Financial Liabilities

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Collateral payables  142.3 79.5 
Lease liabilities  5.6 6.1 
Securities payables 105.5 157.8  
Other payables  154.4 58.9  

407.8 302.3 

The increase in collateral payables is primarily due to the addition of new derivatives relating to the acquisition of 
OMWLA and increased investment activity. 

32. Other Liabilities

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Third party interest in consolidated funds 37.0 - 
Social security and other taxes 5.0 6.4 
Deferred revenue  5.9 7.2  
Amounts owed to group undertakings 1.7 -  

49.6 13.6 

Third party interests in consolidated funds are categorised as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, in line with the 
category of the underlying fund. 

33. Share Capital
34. 2019 

£m 
Authorised 
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.10 each 100.0 
Issued and fully paid 
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.10 each 100.0 

2018 
£m 

Authorised 
7,700,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.01 each 77.0 
Issued and fully paid 
7,305,069,423 ordinary shares of £0.01 each 73.1 

Share capital as at 31 December 2018 reflects the share capital of RML. The share capital for the current year reflects 
the share capital of ReAssure Group plc.  

 

On 9 May 2019, the Company's share capital of 1 ordinary share of £1.00 was subdivided into 10 ordinary shares of 
£0.10 each. 

 

On 9 May 2019, the Company issued 999,999,990 ordinary shares of £0.10 to SRRML, resulting in SRRML becoming 
the Company's immediate parent company, in consideration for the acquisition of RML at a premium of £4.26 each. 
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34. Share Premium Account

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Balance brought forward at 1 January 83.9 83.9 
Capital reorganisation (83.9) -  
Balance at 31 December - 83.9

Share premium as at 31 December 2018 reflects the share premium of RML. The share premium for the current year 
reflects the share premium of ReAssure Group plc.   

 

On 9 May 2019, the Company issued 999,999,990 ordinary shares of £0.10 to SRRML, resulting in SRRML becoming 
the Company's immediate parent company, in consideration for the acquisition of RML at a premium of £4.26 each. 

 

On 16 May, 2019, the Company undertook a capital reduction, whereby the share premium reserve of £4,260.0m was 
reduced to zero. The reduction has been treated as realised profit, thereby increasing distributable reserves. 

 

35. Merger Reserves
36. 
37. 2019 2018 

£m £m 
Balance brought forward at 1 January - - 
Capital reorganisation 57.0 -  
Balance at 31 December 57.0 - 

On 9 May 2019, the Company acquired the entire share capital of RML from SRRML, the Company's immediate parent 
company, settled by the issuance of share capital. The Company has applied IAS 27 to account for the acquisition of 
RML in its standalone financial statements  and has recorded its cost of investment as the net asset value of RML at 
acquisition, rather than its fair value or the carrying value in the books of the vendor. The excess of the value of the 
shares issued over the net asset value of RML at acquisition has been taken to the merger reserve, within 
Shareholders' equity. 

36. Other Reserves
2019 2018 

£m £m 
Balance brought forward at 1 January 1,364.7 1,364.2 
Exchange differences on translating the net assets of foreign 
operations 

(1.6) 0.2  

Revaluation increase on land and buildings 0.2 0.3  
Balance at 31 December 1,363.3 1,364.7  

Other reserves as at 31 December 2018 reflects the other reserves of RML. The other reserves for the current year 
reflects the other reserves of ReAssure Group plc.  

Capital contributions received in prior years do not have any conditions attached to them and are not repayable. 
There were no capital contributions during the year. 
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37. Retained Earnings
2019 2018 

(restated*) 
£m £m 

Balance brought forward at 1 January  975.0 1,790.1 
Dividends paid in the year (see note 39) (519.0) (921.0) 
Net profit for the year 269.0 92.0 
Foreign exchange impact upon translation (9.7) 2.2  
Other comprehensive income arising from measurement of 
defined benefit obligation (net of income tax) 

(11.6) 11.7  

Balance at 31 December 703.7 975.0  

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement

38. Related Undertakings

The Companies Act ϮϬϬϲ requires disclosure of certain information about the Group’s related undertakings, which
are defined as subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and other significant holdings. The requisite disclosures are
set out in this note.

a) Subsidiary undertakings

Subsidiaries are those entities (including special purpose entities, mutual funds and unit trusts) over which the 
Group directly or indirectly has the power to govern the operating and financial policies in order to gain economic 
benefits. The basis by which subsidiaries are consolidated in the group financial statements  is outlined in the basis 
of consolidation (note 1.4). 
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38. Related Undertakings (continued)

The interest held by the Group in the ordinary share capital of its subsidiary undertakings is as follows: 

Company Principal activity Holding 
Ark Life Assurance Company DAC (Ireland) Long-term insurance 100.00% 
BL Telford Limited Non-trading 100.00% 
ERIP General Partner Limited Management service company 80.00% 
ERIP Limited Partnership Management of real estate 99.50% 
G Assurance & Pension Services Limited Non-trading 100.00% 
G Financial Services Limited Dormant 100.00% 
G Life H Limited  Intermediate holding company 100.00% 
G Trustees Limited Dormant 100.00% 
Namulas Pension Trustees Limited Dormant 100.00% 
NM Life Trustees Limited Non-trading 100.00% 
NM Pensions Limited  Non-trading 100.00% 
Old Mutual Wealth Life Assurance Limited Long-term insurance 100.00% 
Old Mutual Wealth Pensions Trustee Limited Dormant 100.00% 
ReAssure Companies Services Limited Management service company 100.00% 
ReAssure FS Limited Dormant 100.00% 
ReAssure FSH UK Limited Management service company 100.00% 
Reassure Life Limited Non-trading 100.00% 
ReAssure Limited Long-term insurance 100.00% 
ReAssure Linked Life Limited Non-trading 100.00% 
ReAssure MidCo Limited Intermediate holding company 100.00% 
ReAssure Nominees Limited Dormant 100.00% 
ReAssure Pensions Management Limited  Non-trading 100.00% 
ReAssure Pension Trustees Limited Dormant 100.00% 
ReAssure Trustees Limited Dormant 100.00% 
Reassure UK Life Assurance Limited Non-trading 100.00% 
ReAssure UK Services Limited Management service company 100.00% 
Quilter Investors Limited Diversified Portfolio (Acc A and Acc R) Collective investment scheme 93.00% 

All subsidiaries are registered in England and Wales, unless otherwise stated. 

The registered office of these subsidiaries is Windsor House, Telford Centre, Telford, Shropshire, TF3 4NB. 

The registered office of Ark Life Assurance Company DAC is 3rd Floor, College Park House, Nassau Street, Dublin 2, 
Ireland. The registered office of Old Mutual Wealth Life Assurance Limited and Old Mutual Wealth Pensions Trustee 
Limited is Old Mutual House, Portland Terrace, Southampton, SO14 7EJ. 
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38. Related Undertakings (continued)

b) Acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth Life Assurance Limited and subsidiary

On 31 December 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Old Mutual Wealth Life Assurance 
Limited and indirectly acquired 100% of its subsidiary, Old Mutual Wealth Pensions Trustees Limited. 

Old Mutual Wealth is closed to new business and comprises around 200,000 unit linked pensions, investment and 
savings, and protection policies. Whilst the majority of customers are UK based, there are around 10,000 policies 
in Sweden, Norway and Germany. The acquisition is part of ReAssure’s existing business model and further 
enhances the Group’s position as a leading closed book life consolidator. In line with the existing business model, 
a Part VII transfer of the business from Old Mutual Wealth into ReAssure Limited is expected to take place towards 
the end of 2021. 

The total consideration for the acquisition was £446.0m, which includes £21.0m of interest on the purchase price 
of £425.0m at 5% per annum.  

The acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth has resulted in the consolidation of a Collective Investment Scheme into 
these financial statements  and the creation of a new Non Controlling Interest (see note 38e). 
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38. Related Undertakings (continued)

The table below summarises the fair values of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at the date
of acquisition.

Fair value  
£m  

Financial investments 8,640.3  
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities 583.3  
Reinsurers’ share of investment contract liabilities 729.4  
Reinsurance receivables 16.7  
Deferred tax asset (1.3)  
Other financial assets 1.4  
Other assets 34.5  
Current income tax receivable 7.9  
Cash and cash equivalents 366.5  
Total assets 10,378.7  

Liabilities under insurance contracts (1,051.6)  
Investment contract liabilities without DPF (8,905.0)  
Provisions (11.8)  
Reinsurance payables (8.4)  
Payables related to direct insurance contracts (17.3)  
Deferred tax liability (61.8)  
Other liabilities (29.7)  
Total liabilities (10,085.6)  

Net assets recognised on acquisition 293.1  

Goodwill asset arising on acquisition 4.8  
AVIF asset arising on acquisition 148.4  
Purchase consideration transferred 446.3  

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition: 
Net cash acquired with the subsidiaries 258.5  
Cash paid including transaction costs (446.3)  
Net cash flow on acquisition (187.8)  

An asset of £148.4m arose on acquisition reflecting the present value of future profits associated with the 
acquired in-force business. The valuation of the AVIF is in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy in note 
1.21.  

A goodwill asset of £4.8m also arose on acquisition. The goodwill arising primarily relates to the following 
synergies: 

x Expense synergies arise due to differences between the market participant view of expense synergies
and the view of the Group. These expense synergies are expected to materialise upon Part VII;

x Tax synergies which are also expected to materialise upon Part VII; and
x Capital synergies predominately in relation to diversification benefits arising from the Partial Internal

Model (PIM) implementation planned for 2021.

The amount of Net income included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income relating to Old 
Mutual Wealth since the acquisition date is £94.5m and the amount included within Group profit after tax is 
£5.2m. 
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38. Related Undertakings (continued)

If the acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth had been completed on the first day of the financial year, Net income for
the year would have been £6,949.8m and Group profit after tax would have been £384.8m.

c) Disposal of subsidiary

In the 2018 financial year, the Group disposed of one of its subsidiaries, Guardian Assurance Limited (“GAL”), which 
was dormant following the transfer of its insurance activities to RAL in 2016 via Part VII. Control of Guardian 
Assurance Limited was passed to the acquirer on 10 September 2018. 

Additionally, on Ϯϳ July ϮϬϭϴ, the Group disposed of a further subsidiary, C Financial Management Limited (“CFM”), 
an entity which was dormant prior to disposal. Control of C Financial Management Limited was passed to Swiss Re 
Life Capital Reinsurance Limited, part of the Swiss Re Group, at the date of disposal.  

The net assets of GAL and CFM at the respective date of disposal were as follows: 
2019 2018 

£m £m 
Net Assets - - 

Total consideration - 3.0

Satisfied by: 
Cash - 3.0
Gain on disposal - 3.0

The gain on disposal is included within other income (see note 8) 

d) Interests in unconsolidated structured entities

The following table details the Group's interests in unconsolidated structured entities (included in debt securities 
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position) and the maximum exposure to loss from holding these 
investments in 2019 (2018: £413.0m): 

Number of 
entities 

Carrying amount Maximum 
exposure to loss 

Total assets 
structured entity 

£m £m £m 
Asset backed securities 19 191.7 191.7 3,665.3 
Commercial MBS 10 95.9 95.9 2,453.8 
Collective investment schemes 828 13,138.1 13,138.1 1,058,276.5 
Money market funds 10 1,307.4 1,307.4 146,496.5 

867 14,733.1 14,733.1 1,210,892.1 
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38. Related Undertakings (continued)

Following the accounting policy as set out in note 2.4, at the year end the Group did not control these structures
and so they were not consolidated within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

e) Third party interest in consolidated funds

Set out below is summarised financial information for the subsidiary that has non-controlling interests which are 
material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for the subsidiary are presented prior to any inter-company 
eliminations. 

The interest in the consolidated entity was acquired on 31 December 2019 as part of the acquisition of Old Mutual 
Wealth and relates to the Group’s holding in a Collective Investment Scheme. 

Summarised statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019 
2019 

£m 
Total assets 536.4 
Total liabilities (5.4) 
Net assets 531.0 

Accumulated third party interest in consolidated funds 37.0 

Summarised statement of cash flows as at 31 December 2019 
2019 

£m 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 22.4 

39. Dividends
2019 2018 

£m £m 
Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year: 
Final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 519.0 921.0 
Total dividends paid in the year 519.0 921.0 

Dividend per share (£) 0.52 0.13 

During 2019, an ordinary dividend of £519.0m was paid in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 (2018: 
£921.0m in respect of 31 December 2017).  

At the time of signing the financial statements , the directors have not proposed a final dividend for the year ended 
31 December 2019. 

Note, as a result of the capital reorganisation on 9 May 2019, a restated Dividend per share result is presented here. 

2019 2018 
(Restated*) 

2018 

Dividend per share (£) 0.52 0.92 0.13 
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40. Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, plus the weighted average number
of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary
shares.

The following reflects the profit and share data used in the basic EPS computations. Note, as a result of the capital
reorganisation on 9 May 2019, EPS has been restated retrospectively and presented here.

From continuing operations  2019 2018 
(Restated*) 

2018 

Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings per share 
being net profit attributable to owners of the 
Company (Restated*) 

£m 269.0 92.0 55.8  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the 
purposes of basic earnings per share 

Number 
(million) 

1,000.0 1,000.0 7,305.1 

Basic/diluted earnings per share (pence) pence 26.90 9.20 0.76 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement
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41. Cash Flows Used in Operating Activities

2019 2018 
(restated*) 

£m £m 
Profit for the year before tax 386.3 105.0 

Adjustments for: 
Fair value (gains)/losses on: 
- Investment property 13.4 (28.9) 
- Financial assets (3,849.5) 2,637.9 
- Derivatives (51.1) (30.4) 
Defined benefit contributions (1.9) 2.0  
Non cash defined benefit expenditure 0.6  (2.6) 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3.4 4.5 
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment (1.5) 0.3 
Amortisation of subordinated debt 1.8 - 
Amortisation of AVIF assets 33.9 34.2 
Purchase of DAC - (650.0)
Operating Lease - Interest Paid (0.4) - 
Release of DAC 73.2 87.0 
Change in unallocated divisible surplus 14.0 (26.0) 
Finance costs 5.2 6.3 
Decrease in reinsurance assets 42.3 58.7 
Increase/(decrease) in insurance contracts & investment contract
liabilities

1,650.6 (4,521.9) 

(Decrease) in deposits received from reinsurers (281.8) (8.6) 
Net disposal of investment properties 129.9 17.1 
Net disposal of financial assets 1,842.0 2,612.4 
Net disposal of derivatives 20.7 19.8 
Net decrease in working capital 444.3 99.0 
Tax receipts 0.4 (11.7) 
Net cash from operating activities 475.8 404.1 

*refer to note 3 for details of restatement
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42. Management of Insurance Risk

Group fund structure

The Group's long-term insurance business is divided into six sub-funds: within RAL there is the NMWPF, the WLWPF, 
NPF and the GAWPF; within Ark Life, there is only a non-profit fund, the Ark Life non-profit fund ("Ark NPF"); the Old
Mutual Wealth non-profit fund (“OMW NPF”). The NMWPF contains some of the business from the National Mutual 
Life Assurance Society when the latter demutualised in April 2002. This is predominantly with-profits business and 
a small amount of non-profit business. It is closed to new business (apart from a small number of increases to existing 
policies). The WLWPF is also predominantly with-profits business and a small amount of non-profit business.

This fund was closed to new business in July 2012. Both NMWPF and WLWPF are being run so that over time, as the 
policies in each fund mature or otherwise discontinue, all assets are distributed. Both the NPF and Ark NPF contain 
a mix of unit-linked and non-profit business. The GAWPF is closed to new business and is being run so that over time 
the distribution of the estate held within the fund is achieved by using bonus surplus to enhance asset share returns. 
Once the admissible value of the assets in the GAWPF falls below a stated level, then management actions can be 
considered to merge the fund with another with-profits fund and also consider potential conversion to non-profit 
status, subject to the appropriate approvals.

An analysis of the split of the insurance and investment contract liabilities by fund is shown in the table below:

Analysis of insurance and investment contract liabilities (net of reinsurance)

NMWPF WLWPF GAWPF NPF Ark Life Old 
Mutual 
Wealth 

Group 
Expenses 

Total 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
 31 December 2019: 
With-profits 1,418.5 489.5 1,710.7 - - - - 3,618.7 
Unit-linked - - 77.5 19,724.4 1,588.8 8,453.7 - 29,844.4
Other life assurance 54.7 11.7 36.8 14,659.9 0.1 90.9 768.6 15,622.7 
Total 1,473.2 501.2 1,825.0 34,384.3 1,588.9 8,544.6 768.6 49,085.8 

31 December 2018 
(restated*): 
With-profits 1,384.8 469.6 1,608.9 - - - 1.1 3,464.4 
Unit-linked - - 73.2 18,336.3 1,534.2 - - 19,943.7
Other life assurance 51.0 11.8 39.6 14,771.7 0.1 - 647.1 15,521.3
Total 1,435.8 481.4 1,721.7 33,108.0 1,534.3 - 648.2 38,929.4

*Refer to note 3 for details of restatement

Insurance risk is defined as the unexpected economic impact from mortality, longevity or morbidity obligations as 
well as persistency and expense rates deviating from the levels assumed at outset or subsequently in reserving. 
Insurance risks for the Group primarily increase through acquisition activity as the firm does not directly write new 
business.  

 

The Group defines the following as sources of insurance risks: 
x Longevity;
x Lapse;
x Mortality;
x Morbidity; and
x Expense.



138 

ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019 

42. Management of Insurance Risk (continued)

Insurance risks are managed through monitoring the group’s exposure against pre-defined appetite limits. If a risk 
is moving out of appetite the group can choose to manage it via reinsurance in the case of mortality and longevity
risks or by positive customer engagement and cost control in the case of lapse and expense risks.

The Group has recently agreed two transactions which have increased the amount of lapse risk and thus enhanced 
the overall level of diversification among insurance risks. These transactions contained primarily unit-linked 
business.

Risk management policy

The Group has a mature and embedded Enterprise Risk Management Framework (ERMF) which includes the Group’s 
Risk Policies, Internal Control and Risk Appetite Frameworks.

The ERMF supports the Group’s risk strategy, which is managed through an effective internal control environment 
ensuring the business operates within the risk appetite limits approved by the Group Board. The Risk Policies set out 
the processes for identifying, monitoring, measuring and controlling risk and are split across the principal risks to
which the Group are exposed in line with the requirements of Solvency II.

The maintenance of the Risk Policies is the overall responsibility of the Risk Management function and is approved 
annually by the Group Board with assistance from various other committees. Ark Life also maintains a Risk
Management Policy to support the risk framework at a Company level, which is substantially aligned with ReAssure's 
in purpose, content and approvals.

The overall aim of the Group’s ERMF is to: (i) to control the risks to which each fund is exposed to a level that can be 
supported by the capital available, given the agreed risk appetite limits; and (ii) within that constraint, to allocate 
capital so as to maximise the profitability of the business, given the agreed strategy.

From 31 December 2018, the Group received approval to use a Partial Internal Model to determine its Solvency II 
capital requirements. The Internal Model component of the PIM is used to calculate the capital requirements for all 
lines of business in the Group except the following which use the Solvency II Standard Formula approach:

x The 3 with-profits funds in ReAssure;
x The L&G Risk Transfer agreement; and
x The OMWLA internal reinsurance and the OMWLA entity.

The Group, where possible, avoids a heavy concentration in any one risk type and aims to have a diversified portfolio 
of underwriting risks. The most material insurance risks for the Group identified under the Solvency II framework 
relate to mortality under annuity contracts and persistency under unit-linked contracts. The risk on persistency 
largely arises from the loss of future annual management charges on unit-linked contracts. 

However future charges are not recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position; so changes to future 
patterns in policy lapses do not have a significant impact on the Consolidated Income Statement. For the largest 
underwriting risk, longevity, there is a concentration of risk at older ages as longevity risk primarily arises on 
annuities bought by retirees. Changes to the timing of in future mortality trends have a material impact on the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. A sensitivity to annuitant mortality risk is shown in note 43. The Group 
does not have any significant concentration of policyholders by geographic area. 
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The Group is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial assets, financial liabilities (investment 
contracts and borrowings), reinsurance assets and policyholder liabilities. The principal financial risk is that the 
proceeds from the financial assets are not sufficient to fund the obligations arising from the insurance policies and
investment contracts as they fall due.  The most important components of this risk are market risk (including interest 
rate, equity risk and credit spread), credit risk (including credit default and migration risk), insurance risk (including 
expense risk) and liquidity risk. The management of credit, liquidity and market risk are discussed in note 43.

Financial guarantees

The with-profit policies in the NMWPF and WLWPF benefit from two types of guarantees: cash guarantees and
annuity guarantees.

Cash guarantees apply to most policies and take the form of a guaranteed minimum payment each year for with-
profit annuities-in-payment or a guaranteed minimum cash value at their maturity date for other policies (With-
profit annuities are only in the WLWPF).  The level of the guarantee depends on the type of policy and is increased
periodically through the addition of bonuses. For some policies, the guarantee extends across a range of dates, with 
the level being recalculated as appropriate.

A number of pension policies have an annuity guarantee in addition to a cash guarantee. In most cases, the 
guarantee takes the form of a guaranteed minimum annuity rate to convert the fund at retirement to pension (at a 
level substantially in excess of those currently available in the market). For a small number of policies, the guarantee 
is in the form of a guaranteed minimum annuity that increases periodically with additional bonuses.

The cost of the annuity guarantees in the NMWPF is £122.7m (2018: £117.3m). This is calculated using a market-
consistent stochastic valuation, with best-estimate assumptions for the other elements of the basis. Annual bonus 
rates are assumed to be unchanged. The asset mix is maintained at its approved weightings at the start of the 
projection. Pay-outs are assumed to move in line with underlying asset shares, before taking into account the impact 
of guarantees.

The cost of the annuity guarantees in the WLWPF is £25.8m (2018: £26.0m). This is calculated using a market-
consistent stochastic valuation, with best-estimate assumptions for the other elements of the basis. Annual bonus 
rates vary according to the economic scenario being modelled in line with the approach set out in the PPFM.  The 
asset mix is maintained at its approved weightings at the start of the projection. Pay-outs are assumed to move in 
line with the underlying asset share.

The cost of the cash guarantees under the with-profit policies in both funds (NMWPF: £4.2m (2018: £4.5m), WLWPF: 
£19.8m (2018: £17.8m) is also calculated using a market-consistent stochastic approach, similar to that described 
for calculating the cost of annuity guarantees.

With-profits deferred annuities in GAWPF have a guaranteed minimum cash value at their maturity date. A 
prospective basis has been used for deferred annuities.  Future cash flows are discounted at a risk-free rate of zero 
coupon swap rates plus 53bps less 6bps.  These future cash flows include the shareholders’ share of reversionary
bonus on with-profits deferred annuities that have been reinsured to the Non Profit Fund.  The equity component 
of the asset share has also been calculated and added to the with-profits benefit reserve.
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RAL's unit-linked policies in general have no guarantees of significance, although a small number of policies benefit
from a guaranteed minimum annuity rate at retirement.  The cost of this is calculated using a similar approach as 
for the with-profit policies. Non-profit policies have fixed guaranteed benefits, in the form either of a payment at or 
from a specified date in the future or a series of regular payments throughout life. OMWLA and Ark Life unit-linked 
policies have no material guarantees.

43. Management of Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to a number of financial risks through its issue of insurance and investment contracts. The 
most important components of this risk are market risk (including interest rate, equity risk and credit spread), credit 
risk (including credit default and migration risk) and liquidity risk. The management of these risks is discussed below.

a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk the risk of economic loss due to deterioration in the credit quality of an obligor or a default of 
an obligor on its financial obligations vis-à-vis third parties. In addition, it takes account of the increase in risk 
represented by any deterioration in credit ratings of those counterparties.  

The Group’s credit risk arises primarily from investment activities on shareholder assets, as well as from exposures 
via reinsurance or risk transfer agreements. The Group is therefore exposed to and models two classes of credit risk: 
credit default risk and migration risk. The Group is also exposed to widening of credit spreads, however, this is 
considered a market risk and so this element of credit risk is incorporated into the Financial Market risk category, 
and managed at an aggregate level. 

The table below sets out ReAssure’s exposure to different credit assets for those counterparties that are rated by an 
External Credit Assessment Institution (ECAI). Credit assets and their issuers are rated by ECAI’s based on their credit 
worthiness. The Group aims to mainly invest in Investment Grade assets which are those assets in the range of AAA 
to BBB. Any asset with a rating lower than BBB is considered sub-investment grade. 
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AAA AA A BBB Sub 
investment 

grade & 
 not rated 

Total 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 
As at 31 December 2019: 
Government and government 
related debt 605.9 5,190.7 42.2 52.3 1.0 5,892.1 

Corporate and asset backed 
securities debt 629.3 1,695.0 6,493.6 4,838.3 69.4 13,725.6 

Loans - 191.5 309.8 589.7 31.3 1,122.3 
Accrued Interest on fixed income 
securities 21.8 57.0 78.6 85.7 1.4 244.5 

Derivative assets - - 0.4 - 52.7 53.1 
Cash and cash Equivalents 1,127.5 222.0 586.1 8.7 32.6 1,976.9 
Total 2,384.5 7,356.2 7,510.7 5,574.7 188.4 23,014.5 

As at 31 December 2018: 
Government and government 
related debt 

574.3 6,042.7 39.6 45.3 1.1 6,703.0 

Corporate and asset backed 
securities debt 

559.4 1,581.1 5,268.1 5,876.9 0.7 13,286.2 

Loans  -   -   238.3 353.3 140.6 732.2 
Accrued Interest on fixed income 
securities 

22.5 63.9 73.0 117.6 0.7 277.7 

Derivative assets  -   -    -   -   13.7 13.7 
Cash and cash Equivalents 508.4 444.2 371.4 13.4 10.5 1,347.9 
Total 1,664.6 8,131.9 5,990.4 6,406.5 167.3 22,360.7 

There were no losses incurred as a result of defaults during the year (2018: no losses) and at 31 December 2019 
there were no assets in default (2018: no defaults). 

To achieve better diversification of credit risk and enhance returns, the Group invests in Private Debt assets which 
are more illiquid than standard corporate bonds. Due to the small issue size and illiquidity of these investments, the 
assets are generally not rated by an ECAI. The credit rating of these investments is initially assessed by the 
Investment Manager who the Group outsources the rating of the assets to. The Group has an additional control on 
the investment managers’ ratings by performing credit assessments of unrated assets internally. 

The Group controls its concentration of credit risk via the specific risk limits set out in its risk appetite framework. 
These limits ensure that there is no accumulation of exposure to individual counterparties or sectors. Furthermore, 
private debt assets are subject to further limits given the differing risk profile of these assets. The risk limits are then 
documented within the mandates via the investment guidelines that have specific limits on: 

x Approved securities;
x Trading controls;
x Concentration limits; and
x Counterparty controls.
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Credit risk is measured by considering the exposure of the Group's companies to each counterparty.  The board 
determines the risk appetite for the business.  The risk is controlled by setting appropriate limits for counterparty 
exposures and communicating them to those who are responsible for complying with them.  The principal financial 
instruments that give rise to an exposure to credit risk are fixed-interest securities, cash deposits or money market 
funds.

The Group has additional credit exposures from the following: cash balances held with credit institutions,
derivatives, reinsurance, outsourcers and investment managers. Exposure to these credit risks is monitored via
counterparty limits or measured via the firm’s internal capital model.

i) Money market deposits and UCITS money market funds

The Group holds money-market deposits with approved counterparties and sets limits on counterparty exposure on 
an individual and aggregate counterparty basis. Credit risk is determined and monitored on a daily basis using short-
term credit agency ratings. The credit ratings of these are included within Cash and cash equivalents above. 

ii) Reinsurance

The Group has a number of reinsurance treaties that expose it to the risk of default should the reinsurer be unable 
to service its obligations under the contract. The group monitors its total reinsurance exposure against set limits and 
this assesses if there are any large concentrations of reinsurance exposure. 

The Group’s largest reinsurance exposure is to Swiss Re (2018: Swiss Re) via a number of longevity swaps. Swiss Re 
is AA rated by Standard & Poor’s (ϮϬϭϴ: AA). 

iii) Collateral

Investments pledged as collateral for derivative liabilities totalled £123.4m (2018: £98.8m). Cash pledged as 
collateral for derivative liabilities totalled £2.6m (2018: £0.8m). 

Investments received as collateral for derivative assets totalled £9.8m (2018: £3.8m). The Group did not have the 
right to sell or re-pledge these types of investments. These investments were in the form of government and 
supranational bonds. Cash received as collateral for derivative assets totalled £106.9m (2018: £nil). 

Investments received as collateral for reassured annuity business within the NPF of RAL totalled £720.9m (2018: 
£778.4m). The Group did not have the right to sell or re-pledge these types of investments. These investments were 
in the form of gilts, fixed income securities guaranteed by sovereign states or supra-nationals and corporate bonds 
with a credit rating of BBB or higher. 

RAL is party to a longevity swap with Reinsurance Group of America (“RGA”) in order to transfer mortality risk on 
certain annuities to RGA; the present value of the annuity claims reinsured at 31 December 2019 is £242m.  As part 
of this agreement, RAL is required to post collateral, which is assessed quarterly, to support the difference between 
the fixed payments to RGA and the variable payments from RGA.  At 31 December 2019, £56.4m of financial assets 
(principally corporate bonds) were posted as collateral (2018: £46.5m). These assets continue to be recognised on 
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  The title to these assets has been transferred to RGA although 
RAL can swap assets provided the total market value of the assets supports the overall collateral required to be 
posted. 
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The following table provides information on derivative financial instruments and reinsurance assets that are subject
to master netting agreements and illustrates the potential effect of netting offset arrangements after taking into 
account these agreements.

Related amounts not set off in the Consolidated Statement of 
Financial Position 

Gross amounts 
recognised 

Enforceable  
master netting 
arrangements 

Collateral Net exposure 

£m £m £m £m 
Year ended 31 December 2019: 
Derivative financial assets 47.2 (8.9) (38.3) - 
Reinsurance assets 713.4 - (720.9) (7.5) 
Total 760.6 (8.9) (759.2) (7.5) 
Derivative financial liabilities (38.2) 8.9 29.3 - 
Total (38.2) 8.9 29.3 - 

Year ended 31 December 2018: 
Derivative financial assets  12.8 (10.2) (2.6) - 
Reinsurance assets 757.2 - (778.4) (21.2) 
Total 770.0 (10.2) (781.0) (21.2) 
Derivative financial liabilities (12.5) 10.2 2.3 - 
Total (12.5) 10.2 2.3 - 

Financial assets and financial liabilities that do not meet the offsetting criteria under IAS 32 Financial instruments 
are reported gross in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. 

b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet both the expected and unexpected future cash flow 
and collateral needs without affecting either daily operations or the financial condition of the Group or its 
constituent companies. 

Liquidity is monitored at the Group level for each liquidity pool. The Group operates its own Group Funding Liquidity 
Risk Management Framework. This establishes the requirement to maintain a Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”) above 
100%. The LCR is the available sources of liquidity divided by liquidity requirements in a 1-in-200 stress. The 
framework gives details on how the stressed liquidity requirement is calculated, and which assets and sources of 
income can be used to provide liquidity in the stressed situation. 

Additional liquidity requirements are present in the Matching Adjustment Funds. These are detailed in the 
applications to use Matching Adjustment submitted to the PRA for each of these funds. 

The LCR in the non-profit funds is monitored on a monthly basis. In the event that the LCR falls below tolerance, 
management action would be taken. Actions to improve liquidity would include selling potentially less liquid assets 
for cash, seeking a capital injection from Swiss Re Group or seeking external funding. 

The cash position within Ark Life is monitored continuously to ensure that there is sufficient liquidity to fund its 
operations. A substantial proportion of the investments backing Ark Life's non-linked liabilities are Euro 
denominated government bonds which are considered to be liquid assets, the value of which can normally be 
realised quickly. 
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Amounts under unit linked contracts are generally repayable on demand and the Group is responsible for ensuring 
there is sufficient liquidity within the asset portfolio to enable liabilities to unit linked policyholders to be met as 
they fall due.  However, the terms of funds investing in less liquid assets permit the deferral of redemptions for 
predefined periods in circumstances where there are not sufficient liquid assets within the fund to meet the level of 
requested redemptions. The least liquid investment held by the Group within the unit-linked funds is commercial 
property. To manage this risk the Group has the ability under the terms of the relevant policy documents for its 
linked business to defer for a period the encashment of units invested partly or entirely in property, should it be 
necessary to protect the interests of the remaining investors. 

Repayment risk on the debt is managed by ensuring the borrowings have a spread of maturity dates to avoid 
significant outlays at a single duration. The Treasury Function monitor and report the expected maturity profile of 
the borrowings alongside repayment plans to ensure the repayment risk is managed. 

The table below shows the cash flows arising from the financial assets of the Group. As noted above the fixed income 
portfolio is held mainly to cover the liabilities arising from the annuity business and is matched by mean duration to 
the liabilities that arise from that business. All amounts disclosed represent undiscounted cash flows. 

Financial assets 

No 
contractual  

maturity 
date 

< 1Year Between 1 
year and 5 

years 

> 5 Years Total cash
flows 

Carrying  
value 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 
As at 31 December 2019: 
Shares and other variable yield 
securities and units in unit trusts 

28,343.2 - - - 28,343.2 28,342.7 

Debt securities and other fixed-income 
securities 

- 2,073.0 5,015.2 16,929.1 24,017.3 19,617.7 

Secured and unsecured loans 3.8 51.8 695.8 1,306.6 2,058.0 1,122.3 
Other financial assets 278.6 - - 225.4 504.0 504.0 
Other assets 95.3 - - - 95.3 95.3 
Cash at bank and in hand 404.2 1,572.7 - - 1,976.9 1,976.9 
Total 29,125.1 3,697.5 5,711.0 18,461.1 56,994.7 51,658.9 

As at 31 December 2018: 
Shares and other variable yield 
securities and units in unit trusts 

17,819.1 - - - 17,819.1 17,819.1 

Debt securities and other fixed-income 
securities 

- 1,114.8 5,957.8 18,859.3 25,931.9 19,989.2 

Secured and unsecured loans 4.5 54.6 498.8 359.0 916.9 732.2 
Other financial assets 314.0 - - 91.3 405.3 405.3 
Other assets 104.7 - - - 104.7 104.7 
Cash at bank and in hand 179.3 1,168.6 - - 1,347.9 1,347.9 
Total 18,421.6 2,338.0 6,456.6 19,309.6 46,525.8 40,398.4 
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The following tables show the financial liabilities of the Group relating to investment contracts. The Group's 
investment contracts are predominantly unit-linked contracts. The Group does not bear the investment risk on 
unit-linked contracts but is required to be able to return the unit value to the policyholder or other provider on 
demand.  As a result the Group generally holds assets that are readily liquid in order that they are able to meet 
liabilities as they arise.  This analysis of investment contracts is based on the projected settlement date. A maturity 
analysis based on the earliest contractual repayment date would present all such liabilities as due within one year 
because, as described above, the contractual terms provide for surrender by policyholders on demand. 

Financial liabilities 

No 
contractual  

maturity 
date 

< 1Year Between 1 
year and 5 

years 

> 5 Years Total Carrying  
value 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 
As at 31 December 2019: 
Investment contracts without DPF: 

Financial liabilities under unit-linked  
investment contracts (note 27) 

4,356.5 3,200.7 4,171.9 15,878.7 27,607.8 27,607.8 

Financial liabilities under non-profit 
investment contracts (note 27) 

- 23.1 - - 23.1 23.1 

Claims outstanding 345.2 - - - 345.2 345.2 
Deposits received from reinsurers - 8.8 31.3 70.0 110.1 99.9 
Borrowings (note 28) - 53.8 458.0 897.0 1,408.8 974.6 
Other financial liabilities 259.9 1.5 3.2 143.9 408.5 407.8 
Other liabilities 49.6 - - - 49.6 49.6 

5,011.2 3,287.9 4,664.4 16,989.6 29,953.1 29,508.0 

As at 31 December 2018: 
Investment contracts without DPF: 

Financial liabilities under unit-linked  
investment contracts (note 27) 

- 2,058.2 3,233.7 12,069.4 17,361.3 17,361.3 

Financial liabilities under non-profit 
investment contracts (note 27) 

- 23.0 - - 23.0 23.0 

Claims outstanding 254.9 - - - 254.9 254.9 
Deposits received from reinsurers - 9.1 32.7 78.7 120.5 103.9 
Borrowings (note 28) - - - - - - 
Other financial liabilities 216.7 1.8 3.9 81.4 303.8 302.3 
Other liabilities 13.6 - - - 13.6 13.6 

485.2 2,092.1 3,270.3 12,229.5 18,077.1 18,058.9 

The policyholder reserves relating to investment contracts with and without DPF have a similar profile of cash 
outflows to the financial instruments.  The expected timing of the cash outflows is set out below, although many 
contracts may be surrendered at an earlier date: 
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2019 2018 
£m £m 

No contractual  maturity date 4,356.5 - 
Due in 1 year or less 3,380.7 2,228.7 
Due after 1 year but less than 5 years 4,768.0 3,774.5 
Due after 5 years but less than 10 years 7,742.2 5,265.4 
Due after 10 years 8,101.6 7,232.2  
Due after 20 years 1,589.4 1,051.9 

29,938.4 19,552.7 

The above total of £29,938.4m (2018: 19,552.7m) does not include claims outstanding of £345.2m (2018: £254.9m), 
deposits received from reinsurers of £99.9m (2018: £103.9m) and other financial liabilities of £407.8m (2018: 
£302.3m). 

c) Market risk

The Group is exposed to the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of its financial instruments will fluctuate 
because of changes in market conditions. Market risk affects both assets and liabilities of the Group. The Group’s 
exposure and management of markets risk is outlined below. 

i) Market risk - equity securities

Non-profit/ 
shareholder 

With-profit Unit-linked Total 

£m £m £m £m 
As at 31 December 2019: 
United Kingdom - 291.0 7,354.9 7,645.9 
USA - 134.4 3,480.0 3,614.4 
Europe - 35.9 1,827.2 1,863.1 
Japan - 16.3 972.2 988.5 
Asia Pacific - 7.8 384.2 392.0 
Other - 0.3 74.1 74.4 
Listed equities - 485.7 14,092.6 14,578.3 
Unlisted equities - - - - 
Collective investment schemes - 1,117.0 12,647.4 13,764.4 
Total - 1,602.7 26,740.0 28,342.7 

As at 31 December 2018: 
United Kingdom - 321.7 6,408.6 6,730.3 
USA - 48.6 3,251.6 3,300.2 
Europe - 40.3 1,888.2 1,928.5 
Japan - - 702.6 702.6 
Asia Pacific - - 528.7 528.7 
Other - - 1.4 1.4 
Listed equities - 410.6 12,781.1 13,191.7 
Unlisted equities - - 4.1 4.1 
Collective investment schemes - 999.9 3,623.4 4,623.3 
Total - 1,410.5 16,408.6 17,819.1 
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ii) Market risk - debt securities

Non-profit/ 
shareholder 

With-profit Unit-linked Total 

£m £m £m £m 
As at 31 December 2019 
United Kingdom 9,819.8 1,394.4 1,573.1 12,787.3 
USA 2,037.3 218.2 59.9 2,315.4 
Netherlands 438.8 69.7 33.4 541.9 
France 1,123.6 109.2 99.1 1,331.9 
Germany 725.3 43.4 43.7 812.4 
Ireland 67.3 3.8 8.2 79.3 
Italy 119.9 3.0 53.0 175.9 
Portugal - - 5.1 5.1 
Spain 56.3 2.8 38.7 97.8 
Rest of Europe 682.0 160.8 85.0 927.8 
Rest of world 684.1 74.4 30.4 788.9 
Total 15,754.4 2,079.7 2,029.6 19,863.7 
Debt securities 15,552.3 2,052.1 2,013.3 19,617.7 
Accrued interest 202.1 27.6 16.3 246.0 
Total 15,754.4 2,079.7 2,029.6 19,863.7 

Non-profit/ 
shareholder 

With-profit Unit-linked Total 

£m £m £m £m 
As at 31 December 2018: 
United Kingdom 10,296.4 1,470.4 2,006.2 13,773.0 
USA 1,872.9 217.6 22.4 2,112.9 
Netherlands 446.2 66.7 26.5 539.4 
France 971.0 101.4 76.2 1,148.6 
Germany 578.9 48.9 42.6 670.4 
Ireland 64.6 7.6 7.6 79.8 
Italy 158.7 1.7 44.2 204.6 
Portugal - - 4.7 4.7 
Spain 49.6 - 33.3 82.9 
Rest of Europe 832.1 165.2 61.0 1,058.3 
Rest of world 512.4 68.2 11.5 592.1 
Total 15,782.8 2,147.7 2,336.2 20,266.7 
Debt securities 15,553.7 2,116.8 2,318.7 19,989.2 
Accrued interest 229.1 30.9 17.5 277.5 
Total 15,782.8 2,147.7 2,336.2 20,266.7 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is defined as losses arising from the impact of movement in interest rates on the Group's assets, 
liabilities and capital requirements. Interest rate risk arises on holdings of fixed interest securities and non-profit 
insurance policies with fixed benefit payments. Due to the long duration of the Group’s liabilities, interest rate risk 
is managed by investing in assets that match the duration of the liabilities. 



148 

ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019 

43. Management of Financial Risk (continued)

The Group’s interest rate management strategy is to invest in an asset portfolio that matches the duration of the
Group’s Solvency II Technical Provisions. Any mismatch between assets and liabilities will expose the Group to 
potential losses from changes in the level of interest rates.

The Group monitors interest rate risk by calculating the mean duration of the investment portfolio and the 
associated liabilities. The mean duration is an indicator of the sensitivity of the assets and liabilities to changes in
interest rates. The gap between the mean duration of the assets and that of the liabilities is subject to limits set by 
the Investment Committee.

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk in the participating funds through guaranteed benefits under the 
policy which are fixed and therefore exposed to interest rate risk.

d) Equity price risk

Equity risk is defined as losses arising from changes in the value of holdings of equity investments. The majority of 
the Group’s exposure arises via the equity holdings in its unit-linked funds. Although policyholders bear the majority 
of the investment risk, the Group is exposed via the value of charges it receives where these are linked to the unit 
value. The Defined Benefit Pension Scheme and with-profits funds have direct equity investments that also give rise 
to equity risk. 

ReAssure manages equity risk on the unit-linked business to defined tolerances set out in the risk appetite via the 
use of derivatives and unit linked matching. 

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in the NMWPF and WLWPF through its holdings in equity investments to 
the extent that they are not matched by liabilities to policyholders. Exposures to individual companies and to equity 
shares in aggregate are monitored by the Investment Committee in order to ensure compliance with the relevant 
regulatory limits for solvency purposes. Equities listed and traded in the UK are benchmarked against the All Share 
Index. Those listed overseas are benchmarked against appropriate overseas indices. 

e) Credit spread risk

Credit spread risk is defined as losses arising from changes in the value of credit assets not attributable to wider 
interest rate movements. Credit spread risk affects the value of credit assets the Group holds. The Group is exposed 
to the widening of credit spreads in their fixed interest security holdings. The loss in asset values due to spread 
widening is partly mitigated by the corresponding increase in the matching adjustment which would reduce the 
technical provisions of annuities within the matching adjustment portfolio. 

Credit spread is the Group's largest single market risk. The Group's credit spread exposure almost all arises from the 
non-linked funds with the unit linked funds and Pension Scheme not being material contributors to the overall 
exposure. The Group's exposure is monitored via Investment Limits and controlled by use of the Solvency II Matching 
and volatility adjustment. 

f) Foreign exchange risk

The Group is exposed to the risk of loss from the movement of foreign exchange rates where it holds investments 
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group is not materially exposed to foreign exchange risk on unit-linked 
products as this risk primarily resides with policyholders (though the Group retains some residual exposure via AMC 
income on unit-linked funds). 
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Given Ark Life is domiciled in Ireland and transacts its business for the most part in Euros, the Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk generally as a result of Ark Life's business operations.  This risk is controlled via currency
derivatives.

Outside the unit-linked funds the Group has foreign currency denominated investments as follows, and as a result it 
is not exposed to any significant risk in this area.

g) Reinvestment risk

Due to the long-term nature of its liabilities there is a risk that the Group may not hold assets with a sufficiently long 
maturity profile to match the expected duration of its liabilities.  If so, then it will have to reinvest the proceeds of 
maturing investments in the future. In such circumstances, it faces the risk that it will be unable to purchase 
appropriate investments at a reasonable cost when required. The risk is mitigated to some extent because maturities 
take place over an extended time span, reducing the likelihood of a large reinvestment requirement occurring at a 
particular point in time. 

h) Climate change risk

After considering the TFCD recommendations, the Group has looked to actively monitor and implement policies to 
address climate change risks. The Group currently operates under a Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) 
investment policy and is developing further policies on ESG and the financial risks from climate change. The primary 
Climate Risk related responsibilities of the Boards and Committees of the Group are contained in their respective 
Terms of Reference and the Group’s Governance framework. The Group Board is ultimately responsible for 
approving the Climate Risk limits, and for monitoring compliance against those limits. The board is advised by the 
ESG advisory group who are responsible for monitoring and evaluating the performance and improvements of Asset 
Management’s implementation of the ESG investment policy, with the risks being overseen and assessed by the 
emerging risk panel. The CRO is responsible for ensuring that Financial Risks from climate change are accounted for 
in risk oversight activities and for monitoring exposures. 

The Group’s approach to the management of financial risks from climate change are set out in the risk policy. The 
ESG investment policy covers the principles for responsible investments, the purpose and scope of the policy and 
how assets/investment partners should be selected when dealing with environmental (which encompasses with 
climate change issues), social and corporate governance. 

Broadly speaking, the group recognises two primary sources of climate change financial risks i.e. physical and 
transition risks. 

Physical risks arise from the increased frequency and severity of climate and weather related events that damage 
property and disrupt trade. 

Transition risks result from the adjustment towards a lower-carbon economy. Changes in policies, technologies and 
physical risks will prompt a reassessment of the value of a large range of assets as costs and opportunities become 
apparent. The longer a meaningful adjustment is delayed, the more transition risks will rise. 
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In April 2019 the PRA released a consultation paper on approaches to managing the financial risk from climate 
change. The paper proposes that firms should:

x Embed the consideration of the financial risks from climate change in their governance arrangements;
x Incorporate the financial risks from climate change into existing risk management practice;
x Use (long-term) scenario analysis to inform strategy setting and risk assessment and identification; and
x Develop an approach to disclosure on the financial risks from climate change.

The group has considered six climate change scenarios comprising two from the Bank of England (BoE) 2019 Stress 
Testing Exercise and four from the Dutch National Bank (DNB) Climate Stress Testing Exercise. It has concluded that 
the shareholder fixed income portfolio is not significantly exposed to climate change transition risks because: 

x It does not invest in industries with material exposures to coal; and
x Its investments in renewable energy sources have a positive exposure to transition risk and therefore their 

value increases in the scenario.

The bulk of the Group’s sovereign investments are in Gilts and the UK as a country is considered less exposed to 
transition risks. 

A firm’s performance across the ESG categories is linked to its ability to manage and withstand disruption from 
emerging risks such as climate change. The Group supplements its use of ESG ratings with stress and scenario testing 
(SST). In the SST, the Group will consider how orderly and disorderly transitions to a low carbon economy based on 
limiting global temperature rises relative to the pre-industrial period to 2 degrees Celsius could affect the value of 
the securities that we invest in. 

i) Sensitivity analysis

The impact on the Consolidated Income Statement and shareholder equity from changes to interest rates, credit risk 
under corporate bonds, expenses and annuitant mortality is set out in the table below.  Five scenarios are 
considered: (i) a uniform rise of 1.00% (2018: 1.00%) in fixed-interest yields; (ii) a uniform fall of 1.00% (2018: 1.00%) 
in fixed-interest yields; (iii) a uniform rise of 1.00% (2018: 1.00%) in credit spreads; (iv) a 10.00% increase in expenses 
(2018: 10.00%); and (v) a reduction of 5.00% (2018: 5.00%) in the base mortality rate used to value annuities-in-
payment. 

Interest 
rate rise 

Interest 
rate fall 

Credit 
spreads rise 

Increase of 
10.00% in 
expenses 

Reduction 
of 5.00% in 

mortality 
(annuities) 

(i) (ii) (iii) (iv) (v) 
£m  £m £m  £m £m 

Year ended 31 December 2019: 
Change in shareholder equity (128.8) 132.0 (125.4) (100.8) (263.5) 

Year ended 31 December 2018: 
Change in shareholder equity 58.4 (96.8) (115.0) (87.3) (221.4) 

The impact on the Consolidated Income Statement and shareholder equity from changes to equity prices, inflation, 
property prices and currency is set out in the table below.  Five scenarios are considered: (i) a uniform rise of 20.00% 
(2018: 20.00%) in worldwide equity prices; (ii) a uniform fall of 20.00% (2018: 20.00%) in worldwide equity prices; 
(iii) a rise in inflation of 0.50% (2018: 0.50%); (iv) a reduction of 20.00% (2018: 20.00%) in property prices; and (v) a 
20.00% fall in sterling relative to other foreign currencies (2018: 20.00%).
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Equity rise 
+20.00%

Equity fall -
20.00% 

Inflation 
+0.50%

Property 
-20.00%

GBP 
-20.00%

(i) (ii) (iii) (iv) (v) 
£m £m £m  £m £m 

Year ended 31 December 2019: 
Change in shareholder equity (67.3) 67.3 (54.0) 0.8 (6.7) 

Year ended 31 December 2018: 
Change in shareholder equity (15.3) 15.3 (43.4) (0.9) (11.3) 

The capital position of the NMWPF is generally insensitive to each scenario because any surplus in the fund is added 
back to the policy liabilities. Fluctuations in this surplus are therefore met by offsetting fluctuations in the policy 
liabilities, leaving the net position unaltered. The capital position of the WLWPF weakens slightly on an equity fall or 
interest rate rise because the loss in asset values dominates over any reduction in regulatory liabilities, and weakens 
on lightening mortality due to the exposure to annuities-in-payment. The capital position of the NPF in contrast 
weakens on a rise in the allowance for credit risk or on a lightening in mortality. This reflects its relatively high 
exposure to annuities-in-payment that are backed by corporate bonds. It is less affected by movements in equity 
markets or in fixed-interest yields, as the assets and liabilities move largely in tandem. 

The assumptions provide an indication of the impact of the scenarios that could reasonably occur. The estimates are 
calculated on a portfolio basis, stressing the assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2019. Actual experience may 
differ due to changes in the investment portfolio mix and to management actions. The market price sensitivities 
shown cover both investment and insurance contracts as the exposure is monitored on an aggregate basis. 

44. Capital Management
45. 

46.

The Group is subject to a number of regulatory capital tests. In reporting financial strength, capital is measured and
solvency is assessed using rules described by EIOPA and adopted by the Prudential Regulation Authority ("PRA"). 
These regulatory capital tests require that the Group maintains a prudent level of regulatory capital. The Group 
covered its regulatory capital resources requirement at all times during the year.

A reconciliation between shareholder equity and capital resources under the Solvency II regime is shown in the
table below.

2019 2018 
£m £m 

TŽƚal ƐhaƌehŽldeƌƐ͛ fƵŶdƐ ƵŶdeƌ IFRS 2,224.0         2,496.7  
Replace IFRS reserves with SII Technical Provisions 3,221.8 2,772.4 
Unallocated divisible surplus 160.6 146.6  
Changes in deferred tax under SII (251.3) (203.9) 
Intangible asset with nil value under SII (1,072.1) (1,019.4) 
Debt valuation (30.3) - 
IFRS prior year adjustment - (40.9)
Other - 0.1

Solvency II excess assets 4,252.7 4,151.6 

Subordinated debt available to support SCR 1,002.2 - 
Restriction to Own Funds (430.5) (466.0) 
Own funds under Solvency II 4,824.4 3,685.6 
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The regulatory capital has been calculated using a Solvency II (“SII”) Partial Internal Model approach prescribed in 
the EU directive. Under this, the SII Basic Own Funds in the Group must be sufficient to cover the SII SCR, which is 
defined as Value-at-Risk subject to a confidence level of 99.5% over a one-year period. The capital of the Group must 
also be sufficient to cover the capital management buffer. The Group maintains a capital management buffer of the
greater of 45% (2018: 20%) of the SCR. This has been assessed by the Board as an appropriate level of capital required
in order to maintain an investment grade credit rating from Fitch, having regard to the capitalisation levels of peer 
group companies and is consistent with the Board’s solvency risk appetite.

The Group’s subsidiary companies are each required to be capitalised such that they can maintain a ϭϬϬй solvency
coverage ratio after a 1-in-20 year adverse event. Should a subsidiary fall below its capital management policy, the 
Group will provide support to the subsididary before making any shareholder distributions.

The Capital Management Policy is reviewed following significant changes to the risk profile of the business.

The Solvency ratio on a regulatory basis, as at 31 December 2019, was 152% (2018: 129%). The excess regulatory 
capital is quantified in the following table:

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Capital resources available 4,824.4 3,685.6 
Capital resources required (3,175.4) (2,851.4) 
Excess regulatory capital 1,649.0 834.2 

45. Related Parties

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. Transactions between the Group and its associates
are disclosed below.

a) Immediate and ultimate parent undertaking

The immediate parent company is Swiss Re ReAssure Midco Limited, incorporated in Jersey. 

Swiss Re Limited is the ultimate and controlling parent undertaking of the Company. The Consolidated Financial 
Statements   of Swiss Re Limited may be obtained on www.swissre.com or from its registered office at Mythenquai 
50/60, PO Box 8022, Zurich, Switzerland. 

During the year there were no transactions between the Group and the ultimate parent company (2018: none) and 
therefore no balances either payable or receivable between the Group and the ultimate parent company (2018: 
none).  

During the year there were transactions between the Group and the immediate parent company. At year-end there 
is a receivable between the Group and the immediate parent company of £26.6m (2018: £26.6m). 
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b) Services received from related parties

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Other subsidiary undertakings of Swiss Re Limited 4.1 15.0 

c) Year-end balances with related parties (including loans)

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Other subsidiary undertakings of Swiss Re Limited 27.0 32.9 

d) Intra-group retrocession arrangements

2019 2018 
£m £m 

All with other subsidiary undertakings of Swiss Re Limited 
Premiums ceded to reinsurers 349.6 359.8 
Claims recovered from reinsurers (288.7) (305.0) 
Change in reinsurers' share of insurance contract liabilities 4.2 (0.7) 

65.1 54.1 
At 31 December: 
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabilities (101.2) 239.3 
Reinsurance payables (20.6) (16.6) 

(121.8) 222.7 

e) Remuneration of key management personnel

Key management includes the Directors of the Company and members of the Group's management committee. 
The aggregate emoluments of 25 members of key management (2018: 15) are shown in the table below. All 
members of key management were remunerated by RUKSL or by other Swiss Re Group undertakings. 

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 8.5 3.0 
8.5 3.0 

None of the directors (2018: none) are part of the Group's defined benefit pension scheme. There are 4 key 
management personnel (2018: 3) who are accruing benefits under the defined contribution pension scheme. In 
addition, the highest-paid director had an amount payable of £Ϭ.Ϯm under the Group’s long-term incentive plan. 

None of the directors are part of money purchase schemes. 

There were no other transactions such as advances, credits, guarantees, share options or dividend payments to 
Directors during either the current or prior year. 
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Remuneration of the highest paid director is shown in the table below.

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1.4 0.5 
1.4 0.5 

46. Leases
47.
48.a) Right-of-use assets

The following right-of-use assets are included within Property, plant and equipment (note 18). 

Land and 
Buildings 

Computer 
equipment 

Total 

£m £m £m 
Cost or valuation 
At 1 January 2019 6.0 3.1 9.1 
Additions - - - 
Acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth 1.0 - 1.0 
Disposals - - - 
At 31 December 2019 7.0 3.1 10.1 

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2019 2.8 1.3 4.1 
Charge for the Year 0.5 0.8 1.3 
Disposals - - - 
At 31 December 2019 3.3 2.1 5.4 

Carrying amounts 
At 31 December 2019 3.7 1.0 4.7 
At 31 December 2018 3.2 1.8 5.0 

Cost or valuation 
At 1 January 2018 7.6 3.7 11.3 
Additions 0.1 - 0.1 
Disposals (1.7) (0.6) (2.3) 
At 31 December 2018 6.0 3.1 9.1 

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2018 3.3 0.8 4.1 
Charge for the Year 0.6 0.9 1.5 
Disposals (1.1) (0.4) (1.5) 
At 31 December 2018 2.8 1.3 4.1 

Carrying amounts 
At 31 December 2018 3.2 1.8 5.0 
At 31 December 2017 4.3 2.9 7.2 
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b) Lease liability

The interest expense on lease liabilities charged to the Consolidated Income Statement for the year was £0.3m 
(2018: £0.5m). 

The lease expense charged to the Consolidated Income Statement for short-term leases for the year was nil (2018: 
£0.1m). 

The total cash outflow for leases for the year was £1.7m (2018: £2.1m). 

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities in the statement of consolidated 
financial position was 6.00% (2018: 6.00%). 

c) The Group as lessor

Future minimum lease rental receivables in respect of non-cancellable operating leases on investment properties 
were as follows: 

2019 2018 
£m £m 

Not later than 1 year 30.7 27.8 
Between 1 and 5 years 103.9 91.6 
Later than 5 years 102.9 103.2 

d) Managing risk

To manage the risk associated with leasing out investment properties, tenancy contracts include clauses for 
maintaining and insuring the condition of the property as well as clauses that provide the Group with rights of 
recourse in the event of non-payment. 

47. Post Balance Sheet Events

On 11 March 2020, COVID-19 was declared as a pandemic due to the rising rate and scale of infection observed.�
COVID-19 has caused disruption to businesses and economic activity which has been reflected in recent�
fluctuations in UK and global financial markets. These market fluctuations have had a minimal impact on the�
Group’s Solvency II coverage ratio.  The Group considers the incidence and spread of COVID-19 to be a non-
adjusting post balance sheet event. The Group continues to monitor the market movements and their impact on�
the Group and remains focused on supporting its customers, employees and business partners. Given the�
inherent uncertainties, it is not practicable to determine the impact of COVID-ϭϵ on the Group’s financial�
performance or to provide any detailed quantitative estimate of the impact. At this point the Group , however,�
continues to maintain stable solvency and liquidity positions and ĞǆƉĞĐƚƐ�ƚŽ�continue to meet its capital 
requirements.

The Directors are not aware of any other significant post balance sheet events that require disclosure within�
these financial statements.
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PARENT COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT 
For the period ended December 2019 

Note 

Period 

1 Oct 2018 to 
31 Dec 2019 

£m 

Net investment income 3 1.4 
Net income 1.4 

Administrative expenses 4 (68.0) 
Impairment of subsidiary undertaking 9 (17.8) 
Total expense (85.8) 

Loss before finance costs and tax (84.4) 
Finance costs 5 (33.2) 
Loss before tax (117.6) 

Tax on loss for the period 8 17.7 
Loss for the period (99.9) 

The Company has no recognised gains or losses other than those included in the results above, and therefore no separate 
Statement of Comprehensive Income has been presented. 

All results derive from continuing operations. 
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
For the period ended 31 December 2019 

Note    2019 
£m 

Assets 
Investment in subsidiaries 9 2,979.5 
Financial investments: 
Debt securities 11 114.7 
Derivative assets 10 12.3 
Other financial assets 12 30.2 
Current income tax receivable 8 17.6 
Cash and cash equivalents 13 139.1 
Total assets 3,293.4 

Liabilities 
Borrowings 14 1,264.6 
Derivative liabilities 10 0.7 
Other financial liabilities 15 37.7 
Other liabilities 16 58.3 
Total liabilities 1,361.3 

Equity 
Share capital 17 100.0 
Merger reserve 18 (1,809.0) 
Retained earnings 19 3,641.1 
Total equity 1,932.1 

Total liabilities and equity 3,293.4 
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the period ended 31 December 2019 

Attributable to owners of the Company 

Share capital Merger 
reserves 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total equity 

£m £m £m £m 

Loss for the period - - (99.9) (99.9) 
Total comprehensive expense for the period - - (99.9) (99.9) 

Capital reorganisation 100.0 (1,809.0) 4,260.0 2,551.0 
Dividends paid during the period - - (519.0) (519.0) 
At 31 December 2019 100.0 (1,809.0) 3,641.1 1,932.1 
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PARENT COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
For the period ended 31 December 2019 

Note    2019 
£m 

Net cash used in operating activities 20 5.1 

Cash flows used in investing activities 
Net purchase of financial assets (108.4) 
Net purchase of derivatives (23.7) 
Acquisition of subsidiary (446.3) 
Net cash flows used in investing activities (578.4) 

Net cash flows generated by financing activities 
Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders (519.0) 
New borrowings drawn down 1,570.0 
Repayment of borrowings (310.0) 
Interest paid on borrowings (28.6) 
Net cash flows generated by financing activities 712.4 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 139.1 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 139.1 

The financial statements of ReAssure Group plc (registered number 11597179) were approved by the Board of Directors 
and authorised for issue on 25 March 2020 and signed on its behalf by: 

Ian Patrick 
Director 
25 March 2020 

Mobile User
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NOTES TO THE  PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 

1. Accounting Policies

1.1  Basis of Preparation 

The Company was incorporated on 1 October 2018 and is a public company that is limited by shares and domiciled 
in the United Kingdom.  

The Company is registered in England and Wales and its Company Registration number is 11597179. The 
Company’s registered address is Windsor House, Telford Centre, Telford, Shropshire, England, TF3 4NB.  

The financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as endorsed by the European Union (EU), and those parts of the Companies 
Act 2006 applicable to those reporting under IFRS. The financial statements  also comply with interpretations by 
the IFRS Interpretations Committee as issued by the IASB and as adopted by the European Union. The financial 
statements  have been prepared under the historic cost convention, as modified for certain financial assets and 
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value and impaired non-financial assets that are measured at the 
higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical 
cost is generally based on the fair value of consideration given in exchange for goods and services. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company 
takes into account those characteristics of the asset or liability that market participants would take into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.   

Where applicable, the accounting policies in the parent company financial statements are the same as those 
presented in the consolidated financial statements on pages 49 to 73, with the exception of the policies detailed 
in notes 1.3 to 2.1 below. 

1.2  Going concern 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. In assessing whether the Company is a 
going concern the directors have taken into account the guidance issued by the Financial Reporting Council in April 
2016. The directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the 
Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. 

 The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. 

1.3  New standards, amendments and policies 

For the 15 months since incorporation the following standards and interpretations were endorsed by the EU, 
and became effective on 1 January 2019 and have been adopted by the Company but have not had a material 
impact to the Company’s accounting policies: 

x IFRS ϭϲ ‘Leases’; and
x IFRIC Ϯϯ ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’.
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1.3  New standards, amendments and policies (continued) 

The Company has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective and in some cases have not yet been adopted by the EU. 

x IFRS ϭϳ ‘Insurance Contracts’;
x IFRS ϭϬ and IAS Ϯϴ (amendments) ‘Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate

or Joint Venture’;
x Amendments to IFRS ϯ ‘Definition of a business’;
x Amendments to IAS ϭ and IAS ϴ ‘Definition of material’;
x Conceptual Framework ‘Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards’.

None of the changes above are expected to have a material impact on the financial statements of the Company. 

1.4  Foreign Currencies 

1.4.1  Functional and presentational currency 

Items included in the financial statements  of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Company operates (the “functional currency”). The financial statements  are 
presented in millions of £ sterling, which is the Company’s presentation and functional currency. 

1.4.2  Foreign currency transactions 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Company at the exchange 
rates at the date of the transactions.  

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency using 
the closing rate. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at 
fair value are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate when the fair value was determined. 

1.5  Investments in subsidiary undertakings 

Investments in subsidiary undertakings on the Company balance sheet are stated at cost less impairment.  

The carrying amounts of investments in subsidiary undertakings are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any evidence of impairment. If any indication of impairment exists, the asset's recoverable 
amount is estimated.      

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less the costs of disposal. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.   

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
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1.6  Financial Investments 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the trade date when the Company becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument and are classified for accounting purposes depending on the 
characteristics of the instruments and the purpose for which they were purchased. 

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in 
the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 
incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as 
fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through 
profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance 
(ECL) is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost, which results in an accounting loss being 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Measurement methods 

Amortised cost and effective interest rate 
The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of 
any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through 
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its 
amortised cost before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation 
does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points 
paid or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees. When the Company revises 
the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial liability is 
adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes are 
recognised in profit or loss. 

1.6.1 Financial assets 

a) Classification

The Company classifies its financial assets according to the following measurement categories:

x Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL);
x Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCl); or
x Amortised cost.

The classification requirements for debt instruments are described below: 

Debt instruments 
Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer's 
perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in 
factoring arrangements without recourse. 
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.6 Financial Investments (continued) 

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on: 

(i) The Company's business model for managing the asset; and
(ii) The cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Company classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement 
categories: 

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest ('SPPI'), and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortised 
cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and 
measured as described in note 2.2. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 'Finance income' using 
the effective interest rate method. 

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual 
cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains 
or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument's amortised cost which are 
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'Net Investment income'. Interest 
income from these financial assets would be included in 'Interest income' using the effective interest rate method. 

Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured 
at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and 
presented in the profit or loss statement within ‘Fair value gains/losses on financial instruments’, Interest Income 
from these financial assets is included in 'Finance income' using the effective interest rate method. 

Business model: the business model reflects how the Company manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. 
That is, whether the Company's objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to 
collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable 
(e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of 'other' business 
model and measured at FVTPL. 
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.6 Financial Investments (continued) 

Factors considered by the Company in determining the business model for a group of assets include past 
experience on how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset's performance is evaluated and 
reported to key management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are 
compensated. For example, the Company's business model for the Government bonds is to hold to collect 
contractual cash flows. 

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash 
flows and sell, the Company assesses whether the financial instruments' cash flows represent solely payments of 
principal and interest (the 'SPPI test'). In making this assessment, the Company considers whether the contractual 
cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time 
value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a 
basic fending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. 

The Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets 
changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. Such 
changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the period. 

The Company holds debt instruments which are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value 
basis. These instruments are therefore measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

At 31 December 2019 all financial assets held by the Company were held at FVTPL. 

b) Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income
and foreign exchange gains and losses, are recognised in profit or loss.

c) Impairment

IFRS 9 introduces a new impairment model based on expected credit losses (ECL) that are estimated by considering
current conditions and available forward-looking information. IFRS 9 sets out a general approach to impairment,
however, for simple, short-term financial assets this general approach is overly complicated and so a simplified
approach was also introduced.

The Company has chosen to adopt the simplified approach for short-term receivables measured at amortised cost.
Note 21 provides more detail of how the expected credit loss is measured.

1.6.2 Financial Liabilities ʹ classification and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest expenses and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on de-
recognition is also recognised in profit or loss. 

1.6.3 Offsetting Financial Assets and Liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset in the Statement of Financial Position when the Company has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and has the intention and ability to settle the asset and liability on a net basis or 
simultaneously. 
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.6.4   Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the asset’s cash flows expire, or it 
transfers the asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or when the Company has transferred 
the asset without transfer of substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, provided the other party can sell 
or pledge the asset. 

1.7   Borrowings 

The Company classifies its interest bearing borrowings as financial liabilities carried at amortised cost and these 
are recognised initially at fair value less any attributable transaction costs. Directly attributable transactions costs 
are amortised over the life of the borrowings. The difference between initial cost and the redemption value is 
amortised through the Income Statement over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest method. 

1.8   Provisions and contingent liabilities or assets 

A provision is recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will materialise and the amount of the obligation can be 
reliably measured. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where 
appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  

If the event resulting in a future obligation is less than probable but greater than remote, or the amount cannot 
be reliably estimated, a contingency is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements .       

Provisions are recognised for onerous contracts in which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under 
the contracts exceed the future economic benefits expected to be received. The unavoidable costs reflect the net 
cost of exiting the contracts, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling the contracts and any compensation or 
penalties arising from failure to fulfil the contracts. 

Contingent assets are disclosed in the notes if the inflow of economic benefits is probable, but not virtually certain. 
When the inflow of economic benefits becomes virtually certain, the asset is no longer contingent and its 
recognition is appropriate.   

1.9   Dividends 

Interim dividends are recognised when paid. Final dividends payable are recognised as a liability on the day 
declared by the Board of Directors and approved by the Company’s shareholders. 

1.10  Exceptional items 

Exceptional items are those items that, in the Directors’ view, are required to be separately disclosed by virtue of 
their nature, size or incidence to enable a full understanding of the Company’s financial performance. 

1.11  Events after the balance sheet date 

The financial statements  are adjusted to reflect events that occurred provided they give evidence of conditions 
that existed at the balance sheet date.       

Events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the balance sheet date are disclosed where significant, but 
do not result in an adjustment of the financial statements  themselves. 
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2. Critical Accounting estimates and judgements

In the application of the Company's accounting policies, the Directors are required to make estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources
and to make judgements that may have an impact on the amounts recognised. These estimates and judgements
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses and therefore, may have a material
impact on the financial statements . Estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and
underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision only affects that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The Company discloses those judgements
and estimates which are considered to potentially have the most material impact on the financial statements .

The main sources of estimation uncertainty for the Company relate to the assessment of evidence of impairment
in relation to its investment in its subsidiaries.

2.1   Investment in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are reviewed on an annual basis for any indicators of impairment. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Investment in 
subsidiaries are valued at cost less impairment per IAS/IFRS requirements. The carrying value of the Company's 
investment in ReAssure MidCo Limited and OMWLA has been assessed for impairment with reference to the 
Solvency II valuation of the underlying businesses. The non profit fund capital value, excluding transitional 
measures, has been used in the impairment review on the investment. 

3. Investment Income

Period 
1 Oct 2018 to 

31 Dec 2019 
£m 

Income from investments  7.3 
Net unrealised gains on investments  12.2 
Net losses on the realisation of investments (18.1) 

1.4 

4. Administrative Expenses

Period 
1 Oct 2018 to 

31 Dec 2019 
£m 

Legal costs 6.4 
Contractors and consultancy 2.8 
Investment management expenses 0.2 
Other 58.6 

68.0 
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5. Finance Costs

Period 
1 Oct 2018 to 

31 Dec 2019 
£m 

Interest costs on borrowings 33.2 
33.2 

6. AƵdiƚŽƌƐ͛ ReŵƵŶeƌaƚiŽŶ

The total remuneration payable by the Company to its auditors is shown below:

Period 
1 Oct 2018 to 

31 Dec 2019 
£m 

Audit services: 
Fees payable for the audit of the Company’s annual financial statements 0.5 

Non-audit services: 
Audit related assurance services 0.1 
Other assurance services 0.2 
Total non-audit fees 0.3 

Total fees 0.8 

Audit related assurance services relate to the expenses review and the other assurance services relate to Solvency 
II. All fees are borne by RUKSL, a Group undertaking.

7. Staff costs

The Company does not directly employ any staff. Staff are employed by RUKSL, ReAssure Companies Services
Limited, ReAssure FSH UK Limited or Ark Life Assurance Company DAC (Ireland). Staff costs are included in the
financial statements  of RUKSL and no separate presentation of staff costs is included in these financial statements.
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8. Tax on Loss for the period

a) Analysis of credit in the period
Period 

1 Oct 2018 to 
31 Dec 2019 

£m 
Current taxation: 
UK corporation tax (17.7) 
Total current tax credit for the period (17.7) 

Tax on loss on ordinary activities (17.7) 

b) Reconciliation of tax credit on profit attributable to shareholders

The tax assessed for the period is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19%. The differences 
are explained below: 

Period 
1 Oct 2018 to 

31 Dec 2019 
£m 

Loss on ordinary activities before taxation (117.6) 

Tax on loss on ordinary activities at 19.00% (22.3) 

Effects of: 
Disallowable expenses 4.6 

Total tax credit for the year (17.7) 

c) Factors affecting the current and future tax charge

A reduction to the corporation tax rate (reducing the rate to 17%) for the year commencing 1 April 2020, was 
enacted in 2016.  

9. Investments in subsidiaries

The Companies Act ϮϬϬϲ requires disclosure of certain information about the Company’s related undertakings,
which are defined as subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates and other significant holdings. The requisite disclosures
are set out in this note.

Subsidiaries are those entities (including special purpose entities, mutual funds and unit trusts) over which the
Company directly or indirectly has the power to govern the operating and financial policies in order to gain
economic benefits.
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9. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

On ϵ May ϮϬϭϵ, the Company acquired the entire share capital of ReAssure Midco Limited (“RML”) from Swiss Re
ReAssure Midco Limited (“SRRML”), the Company's immediate parent company, settled by the issuance of share
capital. The Company has applied IAS 27 to account for the acquisition of RML and has recorded its cost of
investment as the net asset value of RML at acquisition, rather than its fair value or the carrying value in the books
of the vendor. The excess of the value of the shares issued over the net asset value of RML (£2,551.0m) at
acquisition has been taken to the merger reserve, within Shareholders' equity (see note 18).

On 31 December 2019 the Company acquired Old Mutual Wealth Life Assurance Limited and its subsidiary Old
Mutual Wealth Pension Trustees Limited (collectively referred to as Old Mutual Wealth). The investment in
subsidiary below represents the net consideration for the acquisition. The net assets acquired and impact on
goodwill is disclosed in The Consolidated Financial Statements   for the Group.

a) Subsidiary undertakings
2019 

£m 
Cost 
At 1 October 2018 - 
Capital reorganisation 2,551.0 
Acquisition of Old Mutual Wealth 446.3 
At 31 December 2019 2,997.3 

Provision for impairment 
At 1 October 2018 - 
Impairment charge for the year 17.8 
At 31 December 2019 17.8 

Net book value 2,979.5 

The impairment charge relates to OMWLA and has arisen due to the variance between the recoverable amount of 
OMWLA as at 31 December 2019 and the consideration paid. 
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9. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

The interest held by the Company in the ordinary share capital of its subsidiary undertakings is as follows:-

Company Principal activity Holding 

Direct subsidiaries 
ReAssure MidCo Limited Intermediate holding company 100.00% 

Old Mutual Wealth Life Assurance Limited Long-term insurance 100.00% 

Indirect subsidiaries 
Ark Life Assurance Company DAC (Ireland) Long-term insurance 100.00% 
BL Telford Limited Non-trading 100.00% 
ERIP General Partner Limited Management service company 80.00% 
ERIP Limited Partnership Management of real estate 99.50% 
G Assurance & Pension Services Limited Non-trading 100.00% 
G Financial Services Limited Dormant 100.00% 

G Life H Limited  Intermediate holding company 100.00% 

G Trustees Limited Dormant 100.00% 
Namulas Pension Trustees Limited Dormant 100.00% 
NM Life Trustees Limited Non-trading 100.00% 

NM Pensions Limited  Non-trading 100.00% 
Old Mutual Wealth Pensions Trustee Limited Dormant 100.00% 
ReAssure Companies Services Limited Management service company 100.00% 

ReAssure FS Limited Dormant 100.00% 

ReAssure FSH UK Limited Management service company 100.00% 
Reassure Life Limited Non-trading 100.00% 
ReAssure Limited Long-term insurance 100.00% 
ReAssure Linked Life Limited Non-trading 100.00% 

ReAssure Nominees Limited Dormant 100.00% 
ReAssure Pensions Management Limited Non-trading 100.00% 

ReAssure Pension Trustees Limited Dormant 100.00% 

ReAssure Trustees Limited Dormant 100.00% 
Reassure UK Life Assurance Limited Non-trading 100.00% 
ReAssure UK Services Limited Management service company 100.00% 
Quilter Investors Limited Diversified Portfolio 
(Acc A and Acc R) 

Collective investment scheme          93.00% 

All subsidiaries are registered in England and Wales, unless otherwise stated. The registered office of these 
subsidiaries is Windsor House, Telford Centre, Telford, Shropshire, TF3 4NB. 

The registered office of Ark Life Assurance Company DAC is 3rd Floor, College Park House, Nassau Street, Dublin 
2, Ireland. The registered office of Old Mutual Wealth Life Assurance Limited and Old Mutual Wealth Pensions 
Trustee Limited is Old Mutual House, Portland Terrace, Southampton, SO14 7EJ. 
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10. Derivative Assets and Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments are classified as held for trading financial assets. Changes in fair value of such
financial instruments are recognised in the Income Statement. The below table shows the fair values of the
derivative financial instrument assets and liabilities categorised by their type. The notional value is the total value
of the position that the Company controls, or an agreed upon amount in a contract.

a) Held at year end
Contract/ 
Notional 
Amount 

Assets Liabilities 

£m £m £m 
Year ended 31 December 2019: 
Non-profit/shareholder derivatives 
Interest rate contracts 350.0 - - 
Forward foreign currency contracts 223.4 12.3 (0.7) 

573.4 12.3 (0.7) 

The Company does not have any derivatives that are designated as hedging instruments. 

b) Maturity analysis - gross undiscounted cash flows

The tables below show the cash flows arising from the derivative assets and liabilities of the Company. All amounts 
disclosed represent undiscounted cash flows. 

Within 1 
Year 

1-5 Years Over 5 
Years 

Total 

As at 31 December 2019 £m £m £m £m 

Cash inflows: 
Non-profit/shareholder derivatives 
Derivative assets 377.0 - - 377.0 
Derivative liabilities 0.6 1.2 - 1.8

Cash outflows 
Non-profit/shareholder derivatives 
Derivative liabilities 366.0 1.2 - 367.2

Net non-profit/shareholder 11.6 - - 11.6 

11. Financial Assets

2019 
£m 

Debt securities at fair value through profit or loss 114.7 
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11. Financial Assets (continued)

a) Determination of fair values and fair value hierarchy

Valuation models 

The Company measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that 
instrument whenever one is available. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Company measures assets 
and long positions at the bid price and liabilities and short positions at the ask price. 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Company uses valuation techniques that maximise the use 
of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique 
incorporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a transaction. 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the transaction price  
i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Company determines that the fair value on initial
recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active
market for an identical asset or liability nor based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable
markets, then the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between
its fair value and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is recognised in profit or loss on an
appropriate basis over the life of the instrument, but no later than when the valuation is wholly supported by
observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

As at 31 December 2019, the aggregate difference yet to be recognised in profit or loss in relation to the above 
was £nil (2018: £nil). 

The Company uses widely recognised valuation models to determine the fair value of common and simple financial 
instruments e.g. interest rate and currency swaps. That use only observable market data and require little 
management judgment and estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are usually available in the market for 
listed debt and equity securities. The availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need 
for management judgment and estimation, and reduces the uncertainty associated with determining fair value. 
The availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and markets, and is prone 
to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets. 

Fair value estimates obtained from models are adjusted for any other factors e.g. liquidity risk or model 
uncertainties, to the extent that the Company believes that a third party market participant would take them into 
account in pricing a transaction. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include adjustments to take 
account of the credit risks of the Company entity and the counterparty, where appropriate. 

Model inputs and values are calibrated against historical data and published forecasts and, where possible, against 
current or recent observed transactions in different instruments and against broker quotes. This calibration process 
is inherently subjective and it yields ranges of possible inputs and estimates of fair value, and management uses 
judgment to select the most appropriate point in the range. 

Financial instruments measured at fair value 

Fair value hierarchy 
The following table analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the reporting date by the level of the 
fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised. The fair values include any deferred 
differences between the transaction price and the fair value on initial recognition when the fair value is based on 
a valuation technique that uses unobservable inputs. 
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11. Financial Assets (continued)

Financial instruments held at fair value in the balance sheet are analysed against the fair value measurement
hierarchy, as follows:

x Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company
has the ability to access. Level 1 inputs are the most persuasive evidence of fair value and are to be
used whenever possible.

x Level 2 inputs are market-based inputs that are directly or indirectly observable but not considered
Level 1 quoted prices. Level 2 inputs consist of (i) quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active
markets; (ii) quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in non-active markets (e.g. markets which
have few transactions and prices that are not current or price quotations vary substantially); (iii) inputs
other than quoted prices that are observable (e.g. interest rates, yield curves, volatilities, prepayment
speeds, credit risk and default rates); and (iv) inputs that are derived from or corroborated by
observable market data.

x Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs. These inputs reflect the Company's own assumptions about
market pricing using the best internal and external information available.

Transfers occur between the different levels within the fair value hierarchy when management determines that 
the valuation methodology meets the definition above. 

The following tables present the Company's assets measured at fair value at 31 December 2019. 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Carrying 
value 

£m £m £m £m 
As at 31 December 2019: 
Financial assets at fair value through profit  and 
loss: 
Debt securities - 114.7 - 114.7
Derivatives - 12.3 - 12.3

- 127.0 - 127.0

Financial assets designated at FVTPL 
Debt securities have been designated as at FVTPL in order to more closely match the accounting for any related 
liabilities. At 31 December 2019, the maximum exposure to credit risk of these financial assets was their carrying 
amount of £114.7m. The credit risk of these financial assets has not been hedged by the use of credit derivatives 
or similar instruments. 

No changes in fair value relating to the credit risk have been recognised for these investments. 

12. Other Financial Assets

2019 
£m 

Collateral receivables 29.4 
Accrued investment income 0.8 

30.2 



174 

ReAssure Group plc Annual Report & Accounts 2019 

13. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2019 
£m 

Cash 109.4 
Cash equivalents 29.7 

139.1 

Cash comprises cash at bank and cash in hand.  Cash equivalents comprise bank deposits and highly liquid short-
term investments. There are no amounts included in the cash and cash equivalents balances that are not readily 
available. 

14. Borrowings

The Company classifies its interest bearing borrowings (comprised of the loan amount and interest accrued on that
amount) as financial liabilities carried at amortised cost and these are recognised initially at fair value less any
attributable transaction costs. Directly attributable transaction costs are amortised over the life of the borrowings.
The difference between initial cost and the redemption value is amortised through the Income Statement over the
period of the borrowing using the effective interest method.

a) Analysis of borrowings
2019 

£m 
Subordinated debt 
£500m 5.87% Tier 2 capital markets bond 487.3 
£250m 5.77% Tier 2 capital markets bond 243.7 
£250m 4.02% Tier 3 capital markets bond 243.6 

Loans from subsidiary undertakings 290.0 
Total borrowings 1,264.6 

(i) Subordinated debt

On 13 June 2019 the Company issued £500.0m Tier 2 10 year subordinated notes, £250.0m Fixed Rate Reset 
Callable Tier 2 10 year subordinated notes (first optional call date in year 5) and £250.0m Tier 3 7 year subordinated 
notes to Swiss Re ReAssure Limited (SRRL), a Swiss Re Group company. 

The £ϮϱϬ.Ϭm Fixed Rate Reset Callable Tier Ϯ ϭϬ year subordinated notes are callable in full at the Company’s 
option. The first call date is 13 June 2024. In the event the Company does not call the notes the interest rate will 
reset to 5.17% plus a margin equivalent to the yield of a UK Treasury Bill of similar term.   

In response to the postponed IPO the three tranches were privately placed and listed on the London Stock Exchange 
Professional Securities Market where they can be publicly traded. 

Fees associated with these notes of £30.0m were deferred and are being amortised over the life of the notes. 
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14. Borrowings (continued)

(ii) Loans from subsidiary undertakings

On 31 December 2019, the Company received a loan from the subsidiary undertaking, Old Mutual Wealth Life 
Assurance Limited fat £290.0m. Interest is payable quarterly at LIBOR plus a margin of 0.50%. The loan from 
OMWLA matures on 30 June 2024. 

On 4 June 2019 the Company received a loan of £70.0m from RML. On 2 August 2019 the Company received a 
further £90.0m from RML and £150.0m from RAL. The applicable interest rate on each loan was LIBOR plus 0.50%. 
Each loan was repaid in full on 31 December 2019. 

(iii) Senior revolving credit facility

On 6 June 2019 the Company entered into an agreement for a syndicated back-up liquidity facility for general 
corporate purposes. The initial tenor of the facility is for three years with an option for the lender to extend by one 
year at the end of the first or second year. Drawn down amounts accrue interest at LIBOR plus 0.50%, a 
commitment fee of 0.17% is applicable on the undrawn amount. The facility is undrawn as at 31 December 2019. 

All borrowings are unsecured. Subordinated notes issued by the Company rank below the senior revolving credit 
facility and ahead of its ordinary share capital. 

b) Movement during the year
Cash 

Movements 

Non Cash 
Movements 

£m £m 
As at 31 December 2019 

Subordinated debt 
£500m 5.87% Tier 2 capital markets bond 470.3 17.0 
£250m 5.77% Tier 2 capital markets bond 235.3 8.4 
£250m 4.02% Tier 3 capital markets bond 237.5 6.1 

943.1 31.5 

15. Other Financial Liabilities

2019 
£m 

Other creditors excluding tax 37.7 
37.7 

Within other creditors excluding tax there is £29.4m relating to collateral receivables, which is the variation margin 
used for covering equity futures. 

These balances are payable within one year from the reporting date. 
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16. Other Liabilities

2019 
£m 

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 58.3 
58.3 

The payables to related parties are repayable on demand and bear no interest. 

17. Share Capital

2019 
Authorised £m 
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.10 each 100.0 
Issued and fully paid 
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of £0.10 each 100.0 

On 9 May 2019, the Company's share capital of 1 ordinary share of £1.00 was subdivided into 10 ordinary shares 
of £0.10 each. The Company is a public company and is limited by shares. 

On 9 May 2019, the Company issued 999,999,990 ordinary shares of £0.10 to Swiss Re ReAssure Midco Limited, 
the Company's immediate parent company, in consideration for the acquisition of ReAssure Midco Limited at a 
premium of £4.26 each. 

18. Merger Reserves

2019 
£m 

Balance brought forward at 1 October 2018 - 
Capital reorganisation (1,809.0) 
Balance at 31 December 2019 (1,809.0) 

On 9 May 2019, the Company acquired the entire share capital of RML from SRRML, the Company's immediate 
parent company, settled by the issuance of share capital. The Company has applied IAS 27 to account for the 
acquisition of RML in its standalone financial statements  and has recorded its cost of investment as the net asset 
value of RML at acquisition, rather than its fair value or the carrying value in the books of the vendor. The excess 
of the value of the shares issued over the net asset value of RML at acquisition has been taken to the merger 
reserve, within shareholders' equity. 
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19. Retained Earnings

2019 
£m 

Balance brought forward at 1 October 2018 - 
Capital reorganisation 4,260.0 
Dividends paid in the period (see note 21) (519.0) 
Net loss for the period (99.9) 
Balance at 31 December 2019 3,641.1 

Following the issuance of 999,999,999 ordinary shares to Swiss Re ReAssure Midco Limited the premium of £4.26 
each was recorded in the share premium reserve. On 16 May 2019 the Company undertook a capital reduction 
whereby the share premium was reduced to nil. The reduction has been treated as a realised profit, thereby 
increasing distributable reserves. 

20. Cash Flows used in Operating Activities

2019 
£m 

Loss for the period before tax (117.6) 

Adjustments for: 
Fair value gains on financial assets (6.2) 
Fair value losses on derivatives 12.1 
Fair value losses on investment in subsidiaries 17.8 
Amortisation of subordinated debt 1.8 
Net decrease in working capital 97.2 

Net cash used in operating activities 5.1 

21. Management of Financial Risk

The Company’s activities are limited to the holding of investments in Group companies and borrowings in the form
of subordinated notes and a loan from one of its subsidiary undertakings. The Company is therefore exposed to
liquidity risk, credit risk and interest rate risk.  The risk management approach of the Company is to seek to
minimise the potential adverse impact of these risks on the financial performance.

The following section discusses the Company's risk management policies. The measurement of ECL under IFRS 9
uses the information and approaches that the Company uses to manage credit risk, though certain adjustments
are made in order to comply with the requirements of IFRS 9.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that the Company will suffer loss from the failure of a third party to discharge its obligations
to the Company. In addition, the solvency of the Company may be impacted by a widening in credit spreads or by
credit downgrades under its portfolio of fixed-interest securities and money-market deposits.

The Board determines the risk appetite for the business.  The risk is controlled by setting appropriate limits for
counterparty exposures and communicating them to those who are responsible for complying with them.
The Company is most exposed to credit risk on debt securities and money market investments, and cash and cash
equivalents. Debt securities and money market investments mainly comprise government bonds and short term
bank deposits.
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21. Management of Financial Risk (continued)

a) Credit risk measurement

The Company applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which 
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for short-term receivables which are receivable on demand 
with no significant financing component. In accordance with paragraph 5.5.15 of IFRS 9, the loss allowance for such 
receivables is always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

To measure the ECLs, receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics. For each group, historical 
loss rates are considered and applied using forward-looking information.  

At 31 December 2019 the Company did not hold any assets which were subject to the above impairment review. 

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Company in addressing the requirements of the standard are 
discussed below. 

 Definition of default and change in the risk of default 
The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when: 

x The borrower is unlikely to pay its debt obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the
Company to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

x The financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

In assessing whether a borrower is in default, the Company considers indicators that are: 

x Qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenant and other indicators of financial distress;
x Quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment of another obligation of the same issuer to the

Company; and
x Based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time 
to reflect changes in circumstances. 

 Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques 
The Company determines the ECLs by using a provision matrix, estimated based on historical credit loss experience 
based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates 
of future economic conditions. Accordingly, the credit risk profile of these assets is presented based on their past 
due status in terms of the provision matrix. 

Loss allowance 
The loss allowance recognised in the period could be impacted by a variety of factors, as described below: 

x Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases
for financial instruments de-recognised in the period;

x Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in historical loss rates and forward-looking
estimates;

x Foreign exchange translations for assets denominated in foreign currencies and other movements; and
x Financial assets derecognised during the period and write-offs of allowances related to assets that were

written off during the period.
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21. Management of Financial Risk (continued)

Fixed interest securities

The Company manages the credit risk arising from fixed-interest securities by placing limits on the exposure to a
single counterparty and to any particular industry or geographical segment. These limits are set out in the ReAssure
Group Investment Guidelines. All assets must have a credit rating assigned to them. Where an asset is rated by one
or more External Credit Assessment Institutions, the lowest rating is used. For bonds that do not carry an external
rating the investment manager provides an internal rating.

There were no losses incurred as a result of defaults during the year (2018: no losses).

Money market deposits

The Company holds money-market deposits with approved counterparties and sets limits on counterparty
exposure on an individual and aggregate counterparty basis. Credit risk is determined and monitored on a daily
basis using short-term credit agency ratings.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that cash may not be available to pay obligations. The Company monitors cash flow and
performs variance analysis against actual cash held. The Company manages its liquidity risk by only paying out
dividends and making capital repayments once income from its investments has been received and once all
expenses have been covered.  If there are timing differences between cash inflows and cash outflows then surplus
cash is placed only with approved counter-parties or invested in high quality government or corporate bonds.

With-profits contracts can be surrendered before maturity for a cash surrender value. ReAssure Limited manages
this risk by investing in liquid assets such as gilts and equities. Furthermore, assets such as corporate bonds provide
additional liquidity. Subject to regulatory limits, a Market Value Adjustment can be applied to policy values on
surrender to help manage liquidity however these would only be used in the most severe liquidity stresses.

Additionally as the Company participates in a defined benefit pension scheme, there is a risk that the cash
contributions required to fund this scheme increase or decrease due to changes in factors such as investment
performance, the rates used to discount liabilities and mortality changes. Any increase in deficit contributions will
reduce the Company’s cash flow.  Decisions on pension scheme funding, asset allocation and benefit promises are
taken by management in consultation with the pension scheme trustees and suitably qualified advisors. The board
participates in major decisions on the funding and design of the pension schemes.

The table below shows the cash flows arising from the financial assets of the Company. As noted above the fixed
income portfolio is held mainly to cover the liabilities arising from the annuity business and is matched by mean
duration to the liabilities that arise from that business. All amounts disclosed represent undiscounted cash flows.
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21. Management of Financial Risk (continued)

Financial Assets

No 
contractual  

maturity 
date 

< 1Year Between 1 
year and 5 

years 

> 5 Years Total cash  
flows 

Carrying  
value 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 
As at 31 December 2019: 
Debt securities and other 
fixed-income securities 

- 2.1 10.6 143.8 156.5 114.7 

Cash at bank and in hand 109.3 29.8 - - 139.1 139.1 
Total 109.3 31.9 10.6 143.8 295.6 253.8 

22. Contingent Liabilities

Liabilities may arise in respect of claims that are contingent on factors such as the interpretation of contracts,
regulatory action or Ombudsman rulings. It is not possible to predict the incidence, timing or financial impact of
these events with any certainty, but the Company is not aware of any significant liabilities in this regard.

23. Related Parties

Transactions with related parties include all transactions with Swiss Re Limited and its direct and indirect subsidiary
undertakings.

a) Immediate and ultimate parent undertaking

The Company is incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales. The Company’s registered address is Windsor 
House, Telford Centre, Telford, Shropshire, England, TF3 4NB. The immediate parent company is Swiss Re ReAssure 
Midco Limited, incorporated in Jersey. 

Swiss Re Limited is the ultimate and controlling parent undertaking of the Company. The Consolidated Financial 
Statements of Swiss Re Limited may be obtained on www.swissre.com or from its registered office at Mythenquai 
50/60, PO Box 8022, Zurich, Switzerland. 

b) Services received from related parties
2019 

£m 
Subsidiary undertakings of the Company 55.4 

c) Year end balances with related parties (excluding loans)
2019 

£m 
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings of the Company 3.0 
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23. Related Parties (continued)

d) Loans with related parties
2019 

£m 
Loans with subsidiary undertakings 290.0 

2019 
Loan from Old Mutual Wealth Life Assurance Limited £m 
At 1 October 2018 - 
New loan 290.0 
At 31 December 2019 290.0 

2019 
£m 

Loan from ReAssure Limited 
At 1 October 2018 - 
New loan 150.0 
Interest charged 0.8 
Repayment (150.8) 
At 31 December 2019 - 

2019 
£m 

Loan from ReAssure Midco Limited 
At 1 October 2018 - 
New loan 160.0 
Interest charged 0.9 
Repayment (160.9) 
At 31 December 2019 - 

On 4 June 2019 the company received a loan of £70.0m from RML. On 2 August 2019 the company received a 
further £90.0m from RML and £150.0m from RAL. The applicable interest rate on each loan was LIBOR plus 0.50%. 
Each loan was repaid in full on 31 December 2019. 
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23. Related Parties (continued)

e) Remuneration of key management personnel

Key management includes the Directors of the Company and members of the Company's management committee. 
The aggregate emoluments of 25 members of key management are shown in the table below. All members of key 
management were remunerated by RUKSL or by other Swiss Re Group undertakings. 

2019 
£m 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 8.5 
8.5 

One of the directors (2018: none) is part of the Group's defined benefit pension scheme. There are 4 key 
management personnel (2018: 3) who are accruing benefits under the defined contribution pension scheme. 

None of the directors are part of money purchase schemes. 

None of the directors receive any additional benefits. 

There were no other transactions such as advances, credits, guarantees or dividend payments to Directors during 
the period. 

2019 
£m 

Highest paid Director 1.4 
1.4 

24. Post Balance Sheet Events
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